



Education in Latvia's Transition: The Challenge of Management

REPORT ON EDUCATION IN LATVIA 2001/2002

Riga 2003





The Centre for Public Policy "Providus" has taken over the tradition of the Soros Foundation-Latvia (SFL) and is offering readers a new annual report on education in Latvia. The report discusses the changes in the Latvian education system over the last twelve years. Latvia has accumulated great experience in educational reform. Since January 2003 the Centre for Public Policy "Providus" has taken on education policy work while the Soros Foundation-Latvia is continuing the implementation of its bilingual education program "Open School" and the social studies program "Man in Society". This annual report on education is the result of joint efforts by the Centre for Public Policy "Providus" and the Soros Foundation-Latvia.

The individual articles reflect the views of individual authors and may not coincide with the views of "Providus" and the SFL. The respective contributors bear responsibility for the content of their articles.

Education in Latvia's Transition: The Challenge of Management

REPORT ON EDUCATION IN LATVIA 2001/2002

Editors:

Indra Dedze, Centre for Public Policy "Providus" *Stephen Heyneman,* Vanderbildt University, Tennessee, USA *Guntars Catlaks,* Civitas International, Brussels

Created and printed by PUBLISHING HOUSE @AGB* ISBN 9984-663-98-1

CONTENTS

Introduction
Chapter 1. Management of Information
The Measurement of Education Quality 10 Jānis Eglītis (Association of School Leaders of Latvia)
Centralized and Standardized Examinations
Non-Graded Assessments in Primary Education
Chapter 2. Educational Administration
The Educational Dimension of Regional Education Reform46Inese Didže (Education and Youth Service, Dobele City Council)and Brigita Tivča (Adult Education and Information Centre of Dobele City)
The Social Correction System 58 Rita Nīkrence, Liene Übele, Ņina Lobanovska, Reform School "Strautiņi"
Chapter 3. Teacher Training
Pre-Service Training in Higher Education
Aspects of Teacher Professional Development System
Chapter 4. Higher Education
Student Loans and Access to Higher Education in Latvia
Labor Market Experience of Graduates from Daugavpils University
The Ethnic and Gender Dimension of University Costs and Benefits

 Higher Education Taxes and Property
 140

 Jānis Dzenis, Ivars Lācis and Jānis Stonis (University of Latvia)

Ilze Berga and Mārtiņš Bērziņš (Stockholm School of Economics in Riga)



Introduction

The Centre for Public Policy "Providus" has taken over the tradition of the Soros Foundation-Latvia (SFL) and is offering readers a new annual report on education in Latvia. The report discusses the changes in the Latvian education system over the last twelve years. Latvia has accumulated great experience in reforming the education system. In the beginning the reform entailed the changes in the education content and the devising of new text-books. Today's challenge is to ensure sustainability of the positive developments and equal access to education for all citizens. the Soros Foundation-Latvia has taken an active role in facilitating changes in education. Over recent years the focus has been on education policy-making processes, issues related to decision-taking and citizen involvement in finding solutions to educational problems

Since January 2003 the Centre for Public Policy "Providus" is dealing with the analysis of educational policy, while the Soros Foundation-Latvia is continuing the implementation of its bilingual education program "Open School" and the social studies program "Man in the Society". This annual report on education is the result of joint efforts by the Centre for Public Policy "Providus" and the Soros Foundation-Latvia.

This collection of articles discusses issues such as assessment of education, teacher training, financing of higher education and educational management. The report presents the perspective of the CPP "Providus" and the SFL on educational problems and their solutions in Latvia. The respective contributors bear responsibility for the content of their articles.

At first the report focuses on measuring the quality of education. In what ways could the Latvian education system be compared with that of the OECD and other countries? Do the government and society have sufficient information to be able to assess objectively the performance of schools? What should be required to enable adequate and accurate description of the actual quality of education offered by a school? These issues are closely related with the implementation of a centralized examination system in Latvia. Such a system has been successfully implemented in several countries, for example, Sweden, Denmark and Lithuania. However, during the implementation process Latvia has faced problems well known in other countries, as the higher education institutions are very different - some are private, others are state-owned, some implement just one study program, while others offer tens of programs. The higher education institutions offer education in specific study areas and fields of specialization for which the most appropriate students cannot be selected by means of centralized examinations. The prestige of study programs is very different - in some cases ten candidates compete for one study place, while in others, especially in technical disciplines, it is very difficult to attract students. The higher education institutions have identified the centralized examinations whose results they will take into account when selecting new students in 2004. In the majority of cases they would consider student scores in mathematics, foreign language and Latvian. It must be remembered that school graduation exams serve different objectives than entry exams in tertiary institutions: the former certify graduation from a secondary school, while the latter serve the purpose of selecting the best candidates and testing their ability to meet various requirements of higher education institutions in different areas. One should be aware that it is difficult to devise an examination system that would meet both objectives.

Several European countries have a long experience of non-graded assessment system at the primary school level. In Latvia the non-graded assessment system, which has been implemented in lower primary school, has experienced serious problems. Analysis reveals that the cause of the problems is the lack of clear assessment criteria, failure of parents to understand the descriptive assessment of student achievements, and the fact that assessment is separated from the teaching/learning process. The establishment of a well-considered and criterion-referenced assessment might prevent these problems.

At present, while the local government administrative territorial reform is underway, the issue of provision of high quality education to every child and young person is gaining importance. Traditionally Latvia has had a large number of small rural schools where one teacher has on average 10 students. This presents difficulties for the local governments, which have to maintain these schools, because due to the declining birth-rates in some rural schools, the number of students has dropped to a critical level where the existence of these schools is threatened. There has been hardly any public discussion on the impact of the territorial reform on the school network and the management of resources allocated for education.

Following the regaining of independence, Latvia has been developing a democratic society, which also means more freedom for individuals. However, the new opportunities have created major economic and social problems. The tendency of stratification can be observed in the society. A large number of people suffer from poverty and unemployment, and the number of students who do not attend school is increasing. At present 10% of convicts are juvenile offenders. The most common types of crime are theft and robbery. Minors released from social correction institutions often fall back to criminal practices. The report analyzes the Latvian social correction infrastructure and concludes that it has not changed since the Soviet period and does not help to solve the problems of minors. It has been suggested that the modern social correction system in Latvia should provide access to education to minors released from corrective institutions, since they require particular attention to enable their social integration.

The collection of articles emphasizes that the issues related to teacher training and further education have not lost their importance. Annually a large number of young teachers receive their diplomas, and this supply could meet the demand of schools in Latvia. However, a great proportion of the graduates do not seek employment in their field of specialization. Schools are still experiencing the lack of English, informatics and natural sciences teachers, mostly in places outside Riga and other major cities. This indicates ineffectiveness of public expenditure. One of the reasons might be the fact that Latvian teachers are educated for narrowly defined areas of specialization based on outdated Soviet tradition. Due to the small number of university graduates entering schools, the implementation of the new content and teaching approaches is placed on the shoulders of teachers who have acquired their education some time ago and can learn new approaches only at teacher-training events. There are also several external factors, which hinder the development of an effective further education system and limit equal access to education for teachers. As a result, students are deprived of the right of equal access to education guaranteed by the Education Law.

Another important issue is the state-established financial support system for students. Due to the increasing number of students and the development of tuition-based education both in the public and private tertiary institutions, the government had to devise a student loan system. Students who study at statefinanced study slots receive scholarship and partial reimbursement of travel costs. Students at stateaccredited tertiary institutions may apply for a stateguaranteed study loan from the resources of credit institutions to finance their tuition fee and living costs. Up to a limited amount and based on individual agreements, commercial banks also issue loans to students, and this service area is developing. In addition, open public foundations, legal entities and private individuals also offer loans and scholarships to students. Still, the situation prevails that not all young persons can receive financial resources within the state-established student loan system. The report analyses the existing student support system and concludes that state support to students is not granted based on their financial situation. Therefore, the persons who need it most do not get it. In addition to the existing criterion of academic achievement, also the criterion of financial situation of the student should be considered when deciding on granting financial support from the state. It can be predicted that failure to resolve this issue promptly will cause further social problems.

The government should identify the position of the university graduates in the labor market and the contribution of higher education in the development of national economy. Also, students are interested in finding an interesting and well-paid job after graduation. The report makes an attempt to determine whether the jobs the university graduates have taken a couple of months following graduation correspond with their qualifications and whether the acquired education has had a positive economic return both for the graduates themselves, as well as the society at large. It turns out that the return on investment in education in Latvia is positive and rather high compared to other countries. However, the analysis of labor-market participants who have acquired university education reveals that the transition to market economy has made an impact on employment trends in Latvia. Following the regaining of independence the demand for highly qualified professionals has grown, while in non-priority sectors, such as heavy industry, manufacturing and collective farming, it has decreased. At the same time the work experience in economics or public administration obtained during the Soviet period became irrelevant for the new labor market. It has been observed that young persons graduating from universities are more competitive in the labor market, because in addition to the knowledge about the selected field of specialization they have also acquired IT skills.

One of the most important issues to be resolved in Latvia is the ownership of property and taxation of tertiary institutions. The real estate used by state-founded universities still belongs to the state. Over the last ten years the number of students in Latvia has doubled, while public funding for education in terms of ratio of the GDP has remained very much the same. This contributes to a lack of infrastructure and human resources in provision of quality higher education. Unfortunately, the state has no financial resources available to implement structural changes in this area. Another option to ensure considerable improvements in higher education is indirect state involvement by way of defining the ownership rights and special taxation policy for tertiary institutions.

So far the education reforms implemented in Latvia have been fast and focused on abandoning of Soviet traditions and development of democratic society. Now the education system has to ensure competitiveness of graduates in the global market, but the resources to meet this objective are limited. To deal with the new challenges successfully and to ensure high quality of education, it is necessary to set up an effective and creative educational management system. We hope that this report will encourage the exchange of ideas among citizens, educational policymakers and analysts to develop in Latvia an education system meeting modern requirements. We invite our readers to continue the discussion on issues covered by the report in the public policy portal www.politika.lv. Riga, April 7, 2003

CHAPTER 1. MANAGEMENT OF INFORMATION

The Measurement of Education Quality

Jānis Eglītis (Association of School Leaders of Latvia)

Summary

It is possible to develop a total quality assurance system in Latvia which would enable the assessment of the quality of general education at all levels without any additional financing, by means of IT. To accomplish this task, the public administration system should be improved and structured and databases should be developed which would allow to identify the achievements of graduates in further education and the labor market.

Problem

During our everyday life we hear various judgments about the quality of the public education system in general and the quality of a particular school. Parents and students who have to choose a school often face a dilemma. The range of choices is rather wide – elitist schools, prestigious schools, schools with high requirements and strict assessments, schools with good results, and schools with low requirements and high grades for students. To what extent are these evaluations unbiased and justified? Do the state and society have sufficient information to assess the work of schools objectively? Do the ratings communicated through the media reflect the actual situation? What is necessary to characterize the actual quality of the education offered by a school adequately and accurately?

This report concludes that there is no uniform education quality assessment in Latvia which

would enable objective evaluation of the effectiveness of the education system and its components or a comparison with the school systems in other countries. As a result, parents are confused about which school to choose for their children. Elected authorities and society at large are not sure what they receive in return for their tax payments for education, and educational policymakers have no clear ideas about the ways to improve the education system. This article includes a series of recommendations on possible solutions to each of these problems and the planning of the required reforms.

Introduction

Since the 1980ies such concepts as quality, quality assurance and total quality management have been frequently used in various institutions and organizations in Europe. The industrial world was the first to acknowledge that the success of the Japanese economy is largely attributed to the continuous attention paid to quality assurance and improvement. Gradually the quality concept also penetrated other sectors of the economy – service provision and education. Certainly, education has been focused on quality also in the past. However, its interpretation mostly was narrowly specific and limited itself to recording issued diplomas or certificates and the grades received on exams. Modern analysis of education policy is characterized by a systematic, scientific and comprehensive evaluation of results. Measurement and evaluation are inherent elements of planning, reforms and school work, which enable the achievement of the maximum result. Measurement and evaluation should also be considered in the global economic context, as the results of education have a direct impact on the economic indicators, and the education system has to ensure that its product meets the expectations of the economy.

The concept of "quality" is manifold and often subjective, therefore it cannot be unambiguously and briefly defined. Several interpretations of this concept can be singled out:

- Description of the characteristics or the essence (descriptive, qualitative);
- Level of excellence or relative value (normative, quantitative);
- 3. Good or excellent (normative, quantitative);
- 4. Non-quantifiable characteristics or judgments, for example, compliance with the requirements of the customer (descriptive or normative).

Can a business model be applied in education? This is a common practice in institutions of higher education. However, a school, especially a secondary school, can also be analyzed as an enterprise, since the achievements of the school may also be assessed from an economic perspective. The purpose of this article is to find out to what extent such a system could be applied to the general education system in Latvia. To this purpose, at first the quality of education should be defined.

The concept of education quality is not only manifold, but also dynamic. The demographical, technological social changes and globalization taking place in the world set new requirements for educational administrators and managers. Essential changes have taken place in the area of evaluation of education, since the "producers" (professional administrators, managers and educators) are not the only valuators any more; in the new paradigm an essential factor in the improvement of the educational system is the



Figure 1. Quality assessment. Source: ISAP, 2002

opinion of "consumers" – students, parents, businessmen and the society (Kallen, 1996). Both valuations cohabit *de facto*.

The quality of education is also characterized by the ability of educational institutions to respond effectively to the new requirements of the "consumers" of education and to apply the most effective teaching methods, as well as the ability of the supervising institutions to ensure adequate quality assessment on a systematic and sufficient basis and the readiness of the "consumers" of education to co-operate (IRDAC, 1994).

This does not mean that the old quality aspects of education are to be abandoned. It is just that they are supplemented with new ones. This idea is summarized in Figure 1.

Successful analysis, planning and setting of new goals are not possible if there are no comparable quantitative indicators available corresponding to the level of performance. The results of the work performed by a teacher, a principal and a school should be comparable with the results of the work performed by other teachers, principals and schools over a longer period of time. "It is a pointless waste of time to require the schools to set any goals before they have adequate information of the current situation." (Fitz-Gibbon, 2000.)

The initial participant in the education process

In the quality assessment process the concept of "added educational value" is very important and has been much discussed, i.e., how the student's knowledge, skills and attitude have changed at school or at the respective level of education. This is a very important and controversial issue, because, if there is no definite point of reference, the results can be described only in absolute numbers, which gives only a relative description of the quality of education. In the initial assessment highly important are also certain specific conditions, for example - available financing that cannot be changed by the school but that can influence the end product. There are also methodological problems, for example, to what extent the attitudes or social skills of the first grade student can be defined and used as a point of reference? Notwithstanding all the contradictions, the added value can be identified by way of application of advanced mathematical statistics methods. In this respect successful development can be observed in the education system of France, where a system of national tests has been implemented from the first grade to the final grade of secondary school. A similar method is used also in the USA (Heck, 2000). Unfortunately, the current system of national tests in Latvia does not enable a comprehensive assessment of the effectiveness of each stage of school education and that of a particular school, as well as the growth of the individual in general.

Output

The quality of the output of the education system can be assessed from various aspects. Today it is not enough to look at the examination grades and cost. In the *a posteriori* or output assessment (Broadfoot, 1996), the link between the education and economy is very important. Therefore, the output evaluation process makes an increasing use of market economy terminology, although the direct task of the education system (in this case – general education) is not to prepare an adequately trained labor force. Of course, this approach is not unambiguous. It has some opponents declaring that the relation between the education and economy is not straightforward (Klees, 1989).

Often there is a contradiction between the requirements of the global economy (ability to learn fast, ability to perform untraditional manipulations, ability to work in a team, ability to work without any supervision) and the existing evaluation system that is mainly focused on teaching a certain study area. However, the following question arises: is it possible and necessary to measure various abilities and skills? Perhaps we should step back and use a smaller number of completely different, indirect indicators?

In literature the term "successful transition" can be found. In the context of life-long learning this means social, economic and cultural integration and not only the commencement of employment or further education, which is a static indicator. Stability in the area of further education is one of the indicators for successful transition from general education to the next level recommended by the OECD (OECD, 2000). Methodological problems arise in defining the starting point and the end of this transition. Such indicators are used in a few countries, but they are not generally recognized internationally and in most cases are attributed to the macro or national level.

In summary, taking into consideration the rapid development of technology, highly qualified workers are needed, and there formal education plays an essential role. However, social and interpersonal skills are also gaining importance.

Let us address several indicators that characterize the above aspects.

Entering the next-level educational institution (short-term result)

The percentage of students who continue their studies at the next level of education is a comparatively common indicator that can also be applied to the micro or school level. In the case of secondary education, the next level is entry to higher education institutions. In the international context this indicator cannot be assessed unambiguously, since the higher education systems differ from country to country (public – private, based on a tuition fee – state financed), different conditions of access to higher education are applied and there is a difference in the breakdown of students between general secondary education and secondary vocational training. In the context of Latvia, the results are affected by regional differences and the low level of career counseling that finds its expression in the comparatively high dropout rate of students.

Completion of the next level of education (long-term result)

This indicator could provide more impartial information on the quality of education. However, for how long is the educational institution responsible for its student? Should the employment of the person after graduating an institution of higher education still be attributed to the results of the work of the secondary school or should it be considered the output of the institution of higher education only? Should an unemployed university graduate be regarded as a failure also of the respective secondary school? One of the possible periods of "responsibility" of the secondary school could be two to three years following the commencement of studies at the next level of education, i.e., the percentage of secondary school graduates who have successfully completed two full academic years at an institution of higher education.

Employment (long-term result) (OECD, 1999)

This indicator (used also in the OECD, 2000) is not so important in the secondary education, since its main task is the preparation of a student for studies in an institution of higher education. This indicator can also be easily analyzed on an international basis, as it draws on general statistics. Several factors could affect this indicator:

- 1. The social and economic situation in the country and its regions.
- 2. Further education and life-long learning have become more important during the recent years, as the demand for qualified labor is growing more rapidly (OECD, 2000a: 103).

3. Staff turnover that indicates both the effectiveness of the company in the area of personnel selection and the quality of staff.

To assess the above factors, specific research should be carried out.

Pay level

The fact that pay level and education are closely related concepts is confirmed by several studies (Rumberger, 1994). This interrelation becomes especially operative in a situation of rapidly developing technologies. The human capital theory, as well as experience, indicate that the result of higher education manifests itself not only directly - in a higher salary but also indirectly - in the ability to keep a job, in various non-monetary bonuses, better working conditions, and opportunities for further education. Moreover, the state and municipalities receive larger tax revenues that, in their turn, enable the improvement of living standards. Therefore, the link between education and pay level is much more complicated. Of course, market specifics in the given country also play an important role. Although this indicator is used in international studies (Temple, 2000; Levin & Kelly, 1999), it is not accurate in the context of Latvia, both due to the inadequate remuneration system (for example, the salaries of physicians), as well as the factors related to the shadow economy. Furthermore, such analysis of the results of the work performed by specific schools would be rather complicated and expensive.

Client satisfaction (Pring, 1990; Kristofersena et al., 1998)

This indicator is more theoretical, as "satisfaction" is a subjective notion. The client could be a school graduate, as well as an employer or society. The author failed to find any reference in literature to any studies performed in this area. However, such studies can be organized on a similar basis as in the OECD (Clark, 1998). In this case different methods of sampling should be used, as it is not possible to establish a nation-wide comprehensive system for defining this indicator. Also at the regional or school level this could

be done only on a sample basis. Graduate satisfaction can be influenced by various factors, for example, the aims of the student. Some may be satisfied with the high requirements set by the school and the introduction of new teaching methods, others may give priority to higher grades or a social shelter as near to their place of residence as possible, somebody else might believe that the main task is to receive a secondary school certificate. It is possible that the expectations and aims of the "direct clients" – students – differ from those of their parents and society.

In Latvia there is statistical information available on the commencement of further education. However, this information might not be objective, since a part of the data are mostly gathered from the information provided by the graduates themselves or their relatives and may not reflect the actual situation at the moment of summarizing and publishing of the information. The summary of objective information on the graduates of institutions of higher education can be obtained by contacting the respective institution of higher education. No studies have been performed in Latvia on the relationship between pay and the level of education, although in several international studies in which Latvia has taken part, such information has been identified.

Prior to World War II there was little empirical information available on education, and it was often limited to the number of students to be taught and diplomas issued. The first purposeful reference to the system of indicators could go back to the establishment of OECD. However, the systems of indicators in the modern sense of the term emerged only after the introduction of computers in the 1960's in the USA (NAEP – National Assessment of Educational Progress and EEOS – Equality of Educational Opportunity Survey). There is no such system in Latvia, and it is crucial to integrate the existing information in a coordinated structure.

Quality assurance is a complex two-dimensional concept that comprises the following:

1. Evaluation: policy, algorithms and institutions publicly acknowledging the education quality level in the respective school. The evaluation may have a twofold function: control and development.

2. Provision of the resources required to meet the quality requirements set for the school. This is usually the competence of the founder of the school.

Evaluation is any process that leads to conclusions or recommendations concerning the quality of the school. Quality assurance has an internal dimension (self-evaluation) and an external dimension (executed by external experts or inspectors). To improve the quality, an external opinion by a group of competent experts should assist the schools in carrying out selfassessment fairly and critically. Moreover, the presence of external experts often brings new opportunities and ways for quality improvement which could have been left unnoticed from within (Kristofersena et al., 1998). The external dimension of evaluation becomes especially important in the context of publicity, as it makes the evaluation more important in the eyes of the society by way of providing external verification to the self-evaluation carried out by the school.

Quality in the general secondary education system

The concept of the quality of general secondary education is very broad. Besides the traditional functions of the secondary education, a growing number



Figure 2. From teaching to learning and learning by action. Source: OECD, 2001c

Components of secondary education	How to measure?	Where to measure?
Acquisition of knowledge	Examinations, tests	At school
Application of knowledge in problem solving and ability to develop new knowledge	Examinations, tests	At school
	Follow – up studies	In the Labor market and fur- ther education
Personal skills (attitude, values, self- respect, communication, co-operation, leadership skills) and social skills (atten- dance, behavior in school and outside it, extra-curriculum activities, social activities)	Non-cognitive tests	At school
	Follow – up studies, tracer studies	In the Labor market and further education
Capacity for commitment	Follow – up studies	
	tracer studies	In the Labor market and further education
Psychomotoric energy	Specialized tests	At school

Table 1. Measuring the components of the quality of secondary education. Source: Eglitis, 1994

of new functions emerge which correspond to the paradigm of the society.

"The society as an aggregate of individuals who interact within a system of free individual choice, competition and efficiency. The philosophy of the market economy and liberalism now is applicable also to education" (Kallen, 1996).

Although the emphasis is still on the cognitive aspect of education, the civic knowledge, democratic and personal skills which are not assessed in school have also become topical. According to the survey of employers (OECD, 2001a: 101), in staff selection the main focus is on the attitude and communication skills of the candidates, if their formal qualifications are similar. The studies performed in the United Kingdom show that from the viewpoint of employers the following skills are preferred to technical, IT or mathematical ones: social skills, ability to learn, ability to solve problems, skills to work in a team and workplace competencies. Other surveys reveal that employers highly value capacity for commitment and initiative, because newly recruited staff with such skills more quickly acquire the necessary specific skills. However, in professions requiring high qualification, high quality specialists are preferred. The labor market no longer means only the specific occupation or position, because the philosophy of life-long learning has become a part of the secondary education policy.

The General Education Standard of Latvia states the key aims of the general secondary education programs:

- To provide the student with knowledge and skills enabling the student to prepare for the continuation of education;
- To facilitate the development of the student as a mentally and physically developed personality, to raise the awareness of one's health as a precondition of the quality of life;
- To facilitate a positively critical and socially active attitude of the student and develop the understanding of the rights and obligations of a citizen of Latvia;
- 4. To develop the student's skills to learn independently, to motivate the student for life-long learning and career.

These aims can be translated into the following components of education:

- acquisition and application (use in problem solving) of knowledge that can be evaluated by traditional methods, namely, tests and examinations,
- personal and social skills (Goulmens, 2001) that are not directly assessed in school,
- motivation which manifests itself in the life following graduation from school (Broadfoot, 1996).

Complex indicator	Expression
Successful school (Eglītis)	Achievements of graduates in the labor market and further education
Educationally effective (Birnbaum, Cuttance 1993) school	Increase in knowledge, skills and abilities, "added educational value"
Financially efficient school	Reasonable price in monetary terms
Psychologically effective school	Reasonable consumption of students psychomotoric energy
Sustainable school	Stability of the above factors for at least 3-5 years

Table 2. Complex (summarizing) indicators of the quality of secondary education

The components mentioned in the latest OECD studies are similar: basic skills, ability to work together with others, ability to digest events, ability to work at various levels in various sectors, communication skills, problem solving.

A rational use of a student's psychomotoric energy which mainly depends on the teacher and/or class teacher, is another important indicator of the quality of the education process (Kalodinskis, 1995). Often the students do not to succeed in further education or the labor market due to too extensive consumption or irrational use of this energy. Here it is necessary to understand the subtle distinction between the following:

- 1. High results (good grades) can be achieved over a short period of time by overspending (on account of the future) the resources of the student's natural psychomotoric energy.
- 2. An irrational environment (overstated behavioral requirements, stress, extreme behavior of the teacher, unfavorable microclimate) consumes resources ineffectively and/or does not enable the expression of the true abilities of the student and prevent all potential opportunities for the student to gain success.

Of course, at each level of education the ratio of the above components is different. Speaking of secondary education, some of these components may be measured while at school, the others indirectly, after graduation. As mentioned above, examination grades are no more a sufficient way to evaluate the quality of education.

The creative potential of the students and their ability to generate ideas, operate in non-standard situations, and act independently are all important issues. However, at present these issues are not given priority. Figure 2 shows the dimensions of the above aspect.

The quality of secondary education could be characterized by a summary of the quantitative measurements of all above components.

In the analysis of the quality of education the above components should be assessed differently at the international, "macro" or national, regional, local or school levels. This article does not discuss the assessment of an individual, although the opinion on the quality of education at a given school certainly is formed on the basis of the results of individual students

Quality school

To what extent does the school affect the results of an individual and to what extent do these results depend on the individual him/herself? Studies (Cuttance, 1998) show that schools contribute 8-19% of the final result, and the teaching/learning process in the classroom - up to 55% of the final result. Therefore, about 60% of the final result depends on the school and about 40% - on the individual.

In the context of a high-quality school two more factors should be emphasized.

The financial aspect, because the efficiency and quality of education must be linked to the costs

Is a school that costs a lot and achieves good results better than a school in which the costs are lower, but so are the results? Should a school with a



the final grade, the school exam and external exams external exams only

Figure 3. Assessment of secondary school students at the end of secondary schooling in 1997. Source: Key data on education in Europe, 1999

tuition fee or which receives more funds from its founder be evaluated according to the same criteria as a school which does not receive any additional financing?

Time or sustainability dimension

Although sustainability usually is mentioned in relation to the environment or society, this concept, in a slightly different context, may also be used in education. For example, the sustainability indicator is a percentage of the secondary school graduates who return to work in the respective municipality after graduating an institution of higher education. (Hart, 1999). We can speak about sustainability both in terms of time (stable or upward-going results) and space (in respect of the number of indicators) (Bell, 1999: 13).

The following questions remain unanswered: What indicators characterize the quality of education within a school context? How many components out of the

five mentioned in the table and at what level should they be present in a school in order for the school to be considered of good quality? Are any other indicators necessary? Is a school worse than other schools if it is able to demonstrate excellent results in one year, but in other years its results are lower than the average? Which indicators should be used to characterize the quality of a school? Should a school be considered a good school if according to a specific indicator it is excellent, but according to other indicators merely average? All these ideas are summarized in Table 2.

Table 2 highlights the following two aspects: personal development of students and the effectiveness of the institution. Therefore we can speak about the quality of education if the school is comparatively better in terms of all indicators mentioned in Table 2. A similar definition of excellence in education has been proposed by Fantini (1986: 44):

excellence = quality + equality + effectiveness (educational and financial) + accessibility (involvement).

However, the following question has not been answered: are other indicators also important, for example, the quality of documentation if a school meets the highest criteria stated in Table 2? This is an important question, because the current system of inspections pays little attention to the complex quality indicators in particular.

Quality assurance in general secondary education in Latvia

Following the restoration of independence in Latvia, quality assurance system had to be established completely anew, as the principles that had been applied in the former USSR were not applicable in the independent Latvia anymore. In Latvia there is a functioning quality assurance system which has several components covering all levels. Therefore, politicians and educational planners have the necessary information on quality of education. Is it sufficient? It should be admitted that the state ensures mainly one aspect of quality of education, namely, compliance with standards. What has been accomplished and what are the short-term objectives in this area?

State (state delegated) elements of quality assurance in education

After the restoration of independence the state has accomplished the following tasks:

- 1. National standards have been implemented in all subject areas.
- 2. The State Education Inspectorate has been established.

The work of the State Education Inspectorate is regulated by Cabinet Regulation No. 419 On the State Education Inspectorate, of 21 December 1999. The State Education Inspectorate is a public institution operating under the supervision of the Ministry of Education and Science, and it controls compliance with the Education Law, the Law on General Education, the Law on Vocational Training, the Law on Higher Education and other legislation related to education in all education institutions irrespectively of their founder. The Inspectorate also organizes certification and accreditation processes.

3. The programming principle has been introduced in general education.

As of 1997, the programming principle of schooling has been implemented in the public general education system. After the restoration of independence, the system of free choice of subjects was first introduced in secondary schools, which was not quite adequate to the level of the understanding of democratic traditions and standards in the society. As the return to the centralized model of the Soviet period was not acceptable, the only alternative was the programming principle in education; moreover, the latter was in line with the trends in EU member states.

4. The accreditation of the education programs and institutions has been carried out.

The process of accreditation is regulated by Cabinet Regulation No. 400 On Procedure of the Accreditation of General and Professional Education Programs and Education Institutions, of 12 July 1999.

5. The national education standards have been introduced.



Figure 4. Total quality management system in education (national level)

The General Secondary Education Standard has been approved and is regulated by Cabinet Regulation No. 463 On the General Secondary Education Standard, of 5 December 2000.

6. Certification of managers of institutions of general education and vocational training has been carried out.

The certification concerns managers of education institutions and is regulated by Cabinet Regulation No. 105 On Procedure of the Certification of Managers of Institutions of General Primary Education and General Secondary Education, of 15 March 2002.

During the accreditation the professional qualifications and qualifications for the respective position of manager of an institution of general primary education or general secondary education (hereinafter – the principal) is evaluated and the grade of professional qualification of the principal is determined (Item 2 above). However, it should be admitted that although certification is regulated, it is subjective both from the regional as well as the personal aspect.

7. Participation in international research.

Since 1991 Latvia has been taking part in comparative studies by the International Educational Achievement Association (IEA) and the OECD which in our country are successfully organized by the University of Latvia. Of course, it is a bold venture to participate in studies together with the most developed countries of the world. However, this is a way to arrive at an assessment of the actual advantages and shortcomings of our educational system and to introduce the necessary adjustments.

8. The system of centralized examinations and national tests has been established.

Centralized examinations are an essential element of the assessment of the quality of general education. The examination procedure is regulated in Paragraph 3 of Section 46 of the Law on Higher Education: "The content and procedure of the centralized examinations shall be developed by the Ministry of Education and Science, agreed to with the Council of Higher Education and approved by the Cabinet of the Republic of Latvia". The Cabinet Regulation No. 104 On Content and Procedure of Centralized Examinations, of 12 March 1999 states the following:

- For the purpose of this Regulation a centralized examination (hereinafter – examination) is a national-level test upon the completion of the secondary education level, developed according to a special methodology (Point 2).
- The aim of the examination is to test the knowledge and skills of students in accordance with the requirements of the national secondary education standard and the respective subject standard (Item 3 above).
- The examination comprises testing of the knowledge, skills and creativity of the students, and is structured into several parts depending on the specifics of the respective subject (Item 5 above).

The system of centralized examinations allows to obtain objective and reliable data on the knowledge, skills and abilities of students. Currently the centralized examinations are taken only by graduates of institutions of secondary education and part of the graduates of vocational schools.

The above Cabinet Regulation provides the opportunity to take exams for all interested individuals: the graduates from the institutions of secondary education in the respective academic year, other individuals that have not taken the centralized examinations, external students, individuals involved in secondary vocational training programs, individuals who would like to improve their results, and individuals that have taken the centralized examinations more than five years ago.

It should be noted that in the majority of European countries the graduation exams of general secondary education are organized similarly to those in Latvia (see Figure 3). The differences lie in the details of the issuance of the Certificate of Secondary Education (qualification), as there are countries in which this certificate is not issued if the student has not successfully passed the graduation exams.

Other elements of quality assurance in education

1. Evaluation of academic competitions in different subject areas

The system of academic competitions has been functioning in the country already for many years and is maintained by the Ministry of Education and Science. However, this is only the third year when, thanks to the efforts of J. Endele, the Principal of the Cēsis "Friendly Appeal" State Gymnasium, the results of these competitions have been summarized and published in the form of statistically justified and understandable criteria. This summary could be applied to the aspect of "quality as excellence". However, the issue concerning the ranking of schools based on the above results is rather disputable.

2. Micro-level initiatives

All the above indicators may be used in the assessment of the quality of school education and

certainly this is done both at the level of municipalities, as well as individual schools. However, such assessment mainly depends on the competence and capability of the respective principal. The system of self-evaluation of an education institution developed by the World Bank is an excellent aid for the principal of the respective institution (ECAC, 2002). However, this relates to the micro level, which is not discussed in this article.

Solutions

The majority of the existing quality control mechanisms either provide statistical information at the national level that often is not comparable internationally, or more qualitative but often subjective information at a school level. In both cases it is important to carry out a comparable quantitative analysis of the work of the school. What measures should be taken in this area?

The Saeima (the Latvian Parliament) has approved Educational Development Concept for years 2002-2005. One of the goals stated in the Concept is "to increase the quality of education at all levels and of all types of education in accordance with the needs of social and economic development". The Concept stipulates the development of an integrated system for the assessment of quality of education, the key element of which is the development of the methodology of self-evaluation and external evaluation of education institutions. This complies with the statements of the OECD experts' report on the analysis of the education policy in Latvia. To assess the effectiveness of the education system in Latvia, it is compared with the education systems of other countries. Therefore, Latvia should become fully involved in the analysis of the data gathered by the OECD, thus receiving the measurements of education indicators obtained by way of application of internationally accepted methodology.

However, as mentioned above, these measures are related to only two aspects of the quality of education, and also, these data will fail to provide any opportunity for a comprehensive analysis of the quality of education.



Figure 5. Total quality management system in education (school level)

Development of a nation-wide system of quality assessment

The existing data should be integrated into a stateadministered system and new data should be added, thus enabling the assessment of all aspects of the education system. Such a system is described in Figure 4.

International comparisons

To assess the effectiveness of the education system in Latvia, it should be compared with the effectiveness of the education systems of other countries on a regular basis. The work of public institutions should be improved to ensure the involvement of Latvia in the framework of the OECD as soon as possible, thus receiving the measurements of education indicators obtained according to internationally accepted methodology. The participation in international research should be continued, thus enabling the comparison of more specific aspects of the education system.

Process evaluation

Currently, the methodology of self-evaluation and external evaluation of the education institutions is being developed within the framework of a project of the Ministry of Education and Science financed by the World Bank. In 2004, the accreditation of educational institutions and attestation of principals of educational institutions could be commenced in accordance with the new regulations.

A system of national tests is being developed covering all stages of general education. This system should be developed so as to enable assessment of the added educational value demonstrated by students, given their initial level at the commencement of schooling at the respective level of education. Thus, the issue of identifying the added educational value (effective school) would be solved both at the micro and the macro level.

Evaluation of results

Tasks related to the improvement of the centralized examination system (compliance with standards)

The Centre for Curriculum Development and Examinations (hereinafter – CCDE) subordinated to the Ministry of Education and Science, should continue the introduction of centralized examinations in all subject areas of interest to institutions of higher education. This means gradual development of standards also in the subject areas taught 1–2 lessons per week (for example, politology, psychology). Commendable is the initiative of the CCDE to abolish the current system of two types of examinations – one for the basic course and the other for the profile course.

Expected benefits

The improvement of the centralized examination system in Latvia will:

- facilitate Latvia's integration into Europe, as this would provide students with an opportunity to receive an objective and internationally comparable assessment of their knowledge, skills and abilities, which would enable them to compete with candidates for the next level of education not only in Latvia, but also in the EU member states,
- provide objective information on the achievements of students and teachers, an opportunity to assess the effectiveness of both the education system in general and individual educational institutions in particular,
- facilitate the development of the gymnasium network,
- facilitate fair competition and the development of the education system, as this would stimulate the introduction of new teaching methods and techniques in schools.

Expected problems

- It should be assessed whether reform of the standards of the subject areas taught at secondary school level is necessary the way it has been planned by the Ministry of Education and Science, namely, the abolishment of profile courses, instead allowing the schools to select freely subject areas for in-depth studies.
- It should be assessed whether a pupil at an institution of secondary education should be considered graduated regardless of the grades on the certificate, based on the results of the centralized examinations. Aren't the concepts of "quality" and "qualifications" ignored today when secondary school graduates may take final examinations regardless of the grades received during the year and receive the diploma and certificate of the centralized examinations only for taking part in the centralized examinations (unfortunately, it is a common practice nowadays)?

Uniform examination

Enrolment in institutions of higher education, based on the results of centralized examinations (uniform examination) could also be an element of the educational quality assurance system. The uniform examination is regulated in Paragraph 3 of Section 46 of the Law on Higher Education: "Enrolment in the study program shall take place in accordance with the competition procedure, based on the results of the centralized examinations." This provision will come into force as of 2004.

The following two implementation models are possible:

Spontaneous candidate applications to the study programs of the institutions of higher education.

This is what is happening at present. The mechanism is simple – following the appeals period, candidates come to the institutions of higher education with their ECEC certificates, and the further process is within the competence of the institutions of higher education. This system raises many objections.

Management of the centralized uniform examination.

An institution should be established which would ensure student application for the uniform examination, carry out the selection process based on a competition, inform the candidates on the qualifying in the chosen study program, as well as inform the institutions of higher education on the results of the competition. This is a radical and untraditional scenario, although not so innovative anymore, as a similar system already operates in European countries (Denmark, Norway). In this case, the results of the centralized examinations will be the only selection criterion, and the choice of examinations in schools will be more purposeful and justified. Therefore, the results of the examinations also will be more objective.

In Denmark, the central enrolment system has been operating since 1986 and ensures annual enrolment in institutions of higher education to about 55 thousand candidates, rejecting about five thousand. Certainly there are several essential differences that make the functioning of this system in Denmark more optimal in comparison with Latvia. In Denmark the higher education is financed by the state; the sector of private higher education is very small. In Denmark there is a rather small number of overlapping higher education study programs and a very small number of additional tests set by the institutions of higher education, and the requirements of the institutions of higher education are available to the public and are relatively stable. In general, this makes the process of selection of the study programs easier and more purposeful for the students and simplifies the management of the central enrolment process. On the other hand, the advantage for Latvia could be a successful use of the results of the centralized examination as a selection criterion, as well as the fact that a comparatively large part of the candidates are secondary school graduates of the same year.

The uniform examination system, in one way or another, operates in many countries, for example, Norway, Lithuania, and Estonia.

Development of the information system on secondary school graduates – students of institutions of higher education

In Latvia, this type of statistics is not compiled at the school level due to two reasons: this issue is not topical on the national level and the databases of the institutions of higher education do not meet the technical and ideological criteria. Given the IT potential and the work already performed by institutions of higher education in the sphere of development of databases and computerization, this is a feasible task. Certainly, issues concerning personal data protection should be considered. The system would summarize data and provide all secondary schools with information on the enrolment, dropout and graduation of their former students. The summary without any specific personal data could be sent both to the founders of the respective institutions and municipal officials.

Information system on secondary school graduates – the unemployed

The activity algorithm is similar as in the case of institutions of higher education, the difference being that the data could be aggregated by the State Employment Service. These data will also be used in the assessment of the work of the institutions of primary education.

Development of a quality assessment system at the school level

When a nationwide system of quality assessment is developed as discussed above, it will not be difficult to provide also the micro or school level with information that would enable the assessment of the quality of the work of school from various aspects. In this case the reference point or the student's results at the previous level of education is very important.

The public ranking of schools according to the above factors is a controversial issue, although the results can be objectively justified and interpreted if there is a reliable point of reference. A general scheme of quality assurance at the school level is provided in Figure 5. There can be the following indicators of the impact of the school:

- The satisfaction of people and institutions that are not direct clients of the school. This concerns the activities of the school that are not related to the primary process but to those that could be oriented to a wider social context (the accessibitily of resources and knowledge).
- 2. The share of school leavers in the development of a region:
 - the number of school leavers that return to the region after completing next stage of education,
 - the number of work places created by school leavers.

These indicators are especially important for the sustainability and social cohesion of the region.

References

Bell, S., Morse, S. (1999). *Sustainability indicators: measuring the immeasurable*? London: Earthscan.

Broadfoot, P. M. (1996). *Education, assessment and society: a sociological analysis*. Buckingham: Open University Press.

Clark, A. E. (1998). *Measures of job satisfaction: what makes a good job?: Evidence from OECD countries.* OECD, Directorate for Education, Employment, Labor and Social Affairs, Employment, Labor and Social Affairs Committee.

Cuttance, P. (1998). Quality Assurance Reviews as a Catalyst for School Improvement in Australia. In: A. Hargreaves (Ed.). *International handbook of educational change*. Dordrecht: Kluwer, pp. 1135–1162.

Eglitis, J. (1994). Measurement and Improvement of the Quality of Secondary Education in Latvia. Paris: UNESCO.

Fantini, M. D. (1986). *Regaining excellence in education*. Columbus, London: Merrill.

Fitz-Gibbon, C., Kochan, S. (2000). School Effectiveness and Education Indicators. In: C. Teddlie and D. Reynolds (Eds.) *The international handbook of school effectiveness research*. London: Falmer, pp. 257–282.

Goulmens D. (2001). *Tava emocionālā inteliģence*. Rīga: Jumava.

Hart, M. (1999). *Guide to sustainable community indicators.* 2nd ed. North Andover: Hart Environmental Data.

Heck, R. H. (2000). Examining the Impact of School Quality on School Outcomes and Improvement: A Value-Added Approach. *Educational Administration Quarterly.* Vol. 36, No. 4.

IRDAC (1994). *Quality and Relevance*. Industrial Research and Development Advisory Committee of the European Commission, Bruxelles.

ISAP (2002). Izglītības sistēmas attīstības projekts. Skolu vērtēšanas un attīstības plānošanas rokasgrāmata. Rīga: IZM.

Kallen, D. (1996). New Educational Paradigms and New Evaluation Policies. In: *Evaluating and reforming education systems.* Paris: OECD, pp. 7–23.

Kalodinskis A. (1995). Latvijas bērnu psihofizioloģisko īpatnību izpēte. Privātais pētniecības centrs AVK.

Kristofersena D., Sursoka A., Vesterheidens D. (1998). *Kvali-tātes rokasgrāmata: procedūras un prakse*. ES/Phare/ETF.

Levin, H. M., Kelley, C. (1999). Can Education Do It Alone. In: A. H. Halsey (Ed.) *Education: culture, economy, and society*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 240–251.

OECD (1999). Preparing youth for the 21st century: the transition from education to the labor market: proceedings of the Washington D. C. conference 23–24 February 1999. Paris: OECD.

OECD (2000). From Initial Education to Working Life. Paris: OECD.

OECD (2001a). Education policy analysis 2001. Paris: OECD.

OECD (2001b). New school management approaches. Paris: OECD.

OECD (2001c). What schools for the future? Centre for educational research and innovation. Paris: OECD.

Rumberger, R. W. (1994). Labor Market Outcomes as Indicators of Educational Performance. In: *Making education count: developing and using international indicators*. Centre for Educational Research and Innovation. Paris: OECD, pp. 265–286.

Temple, J. (2000). Growth effects of education and social capital in the OECD countries. Paris: OECD.

Centralized and Standardized Examinations

Ilvija Vule, Līga Krastiņa and Brigita Zepa (Baltic Institute of Social Sciences)

Problem

In Latvia the number of students has increased during recent years. In comparison to other countries, there are also many schoolchildren who study in secondary schools. To advance fair and adequate comparable assessment in education, the introduction of centralized examinations was launched in the mid-90ies. However, during the process of introducing centralized examinations, experts in Latvia have faced similar problems which other countries have experienced: can one test serve two important functions of overall assessment of secondary education and at the same time be a selection criterion for admission to higher education institutions? How can a new system of centralized and standardized examinations be effectively implemented? And how can the agency, which designs and administers the examinations, be effectively financed and managed?

Background

Introduction of centralized examinations¹ started in the mid-90ies. The first centralized examination was developed to test English as one of the secondary school core courses tested. In the late 90ies, higher education institutions started to use the results of centralized examinations as the basis for admission of students. According to the amendments in the Law on Higher Education Institutions adopted in the year 2000, the system of centralized examinations should be introduced in the country. The new regulations will apply to both public and private higher education institutions and to academic and professional study programs (Augstskolu likums, 1995, 46.3) as of the year 2004. Currently there are eleven centralized examinations available, and by the year 2005 a total of fifteen centralized examinations are planned to be available.

To qualify for graduation from secondary education, in Latvia, schoolchildren should take final examinations. Some of the final examinations are not run as centralized examinations. This refers to both general secondary schools and vocational schools. To graduate from secondary school², schoolchildren should take five examinations: two examinations specified by the Ministry of Education, an examination specified by the school, and two examinations chosen by the student. This year, schoolchildren graduating from voca-

¹ A centralized examination is a centralized test for all schoolchildren in the country, and it is graded according to fixed uniform assessment criteria.

² In this paper, secondary schools are defined as general education institutions that are either under the authority of local governments, or state gymnasiums that are under the authority of the Ministry of Education and Science.



Centralized examinations are developed and administered by the Centre for Curriculum Development and Examination (CCDE) which is a public institution subordinated to the Ministry of Education and Science. The Centre is financed from the state budget. Centralized examinations take place at the end of studies in Grade 12 in June. Test results are announced on July 15 when the CCDE issues certificates on centralized examinations. The test results are classified according to six performance levels³.

Higher education institutions have determined which examination results will be considered for admission in year 2004, in most cases mathematics, foreign languages and the Latvian language. According to the Law on Higher Education Institutions, a higher education institution has the right to define additional requirements for applicants, which are in line with the specific study program. At present, the Latvian Academy of Arts, the Latvian Police Academy and the Banking Institution of Higher Education (AIP, 2002) have approved special entrance requirements.

International experience

Centralized examinations upon graduating from secondary school and the use of centralized examination results in further education are a regular practice in many countries. However, in most countries (such as the United Kingdom, the USA, Australia, Canada and Sweden) the centralized tests for graduation are separated from the tests designed to determine entry into post-secondary education. Latvia has applied much of the experience from Scotland. Certain similarities can be drawn with centralized examinations in Slovenia that serves as a successful example for the countries in Eastern Europe (Bakker & Wolf, 2001). In some aspects the systems of centralized examinations in Latvia and Lithuania can also be compared.

Scotland

In relation to the introduction of centralized examinations in Latvia, it is often pointed out that much of the experience from Scotland has been applied: the theoretical approach developed at Lancaster University and the practice at the Scottish Qualification Authority (BSZI, 2002). However, there are several essential differences:

- First, the Scottish Qualification Authority is a nongovernmental and independent organization (Times, 2001), with 80% of income from payment for the service provided. In Latvia the Centre for Curriculum Development and Examination (CCDE) is a public institution subordinated to the Ministry of Education and Science, and the Centre is nearly fully financed from the state budget (ISEC, 2002a).
- Second, in Latvia all candidates who take tests receive certificates, but in Scotland it is also possible to fail the test (BSZI, 2002).
- Third, in Scotland schoolchildren study not more than six subjects in the secondary school, and they take centralized tests in all subjects; in Latvia schoolchildren study many more subjects in the secondary school, and they have to take at least five final tests (Eurydice, 2001).
- Fourth, the scope of activity of the Scottish Qualification Authority involves only testing, while the CCDE has two more functions: curriculum development and professional development of teachers.
- Fifth, the socio-economic indicators in Latvia and Scotland differ: in Scotland, there are twice as many inhabitants and the GDP per capita is approximately six times higher⁴ (CSP, 2002).

Slovenia

Slovenia is an appropriate comparison to Latvia. Centralized examinations were introduced in the mid-90ies in both countries. The number of schoolchildren

³ "A", "B", "C", "D", "E", "F", where "A" shows the best result, but "F" - the worst result.

⁴ See the cost estimate of centralized examinations in Latvia in the tables.

in secondary schools is similar: approximately fifteen thousand. In both countries there are five mandatory final tests, all managed from a central location and standardized. In both countries, assessment is based on normative criteria⁵. Both in Slovenia and Latvia centralized examinations take place in the beginning of June, and the test results are announced on July 15. In both countries higher education institutions can specify additional entry requirements.

However, there are also a number of differences:

- First, in Slovenia centralized examinations are taken by schoolchildren graduating from general secondary schools, and schoolchildren graduating from vocational schools have an option not to take centralized examinations.
- Second, the National Examination Centre in Slovenia – like in Scotland – is an independent institution, and schoolchildren pay fees for taking centralized examinations.
- Third, centralized examination results are mandatory admissions requirements only at academic higher education institutions, but professional higher education institutions do not have such admission requirements.
- Fourth, in Slovenia applicants to higher education apply to a centralized institution, but in Latvia applicants apply directly to higher education institutions. It is worth mentioning that in Slovenia, universities proposed introduction of centralized examinations (Gabrszek, 2001), whereas in Latvia, according to the

representatives of CCDE, a certain resignation from higher education institutions was observed.

Lithuania

In Lithuania and Latvia there are more differences than similarities as to final examinations in secondary schools. In the neighboring country, there are two types of final tests, and only centralized examinations qualify as admissions criteria. Schoolchildren can choose which type of final tests they prefer to take. Centralized tests are run in May and June in regional centres that, as a rule, are placed on university premises. If schoolchildren do not pass the centralized tests, they have an opportunity to take the second type of tests, which are semi-centralized and easier. Though these tests are developed by the National Examination Centre, grading of tests takes place at school. Unlike centralized examinations, these final tests are graded on a ten-point scale, and, therefore, the test results of two types of examinations are not comparable.

In Latvia and Lithuania schoolchildren graduating from the secondary school take five final tests, however, in Lithuania only one subject – the Lithuanian language – is mandatory for all schoolchildren, and they are free to choose the other final tests (NEC, 2002).

Government regulations

The introduction of centralized examinations in Latvia is controlled by a number of government regulations: the Education Law, the Law On Higher Education Institutions, a number of Cabinet Regulations, Ministry of Education and Science Regulations and decisions made by the Council of Higher Education.

Admission to study programs in higher education institutions is regulated by Section 46 in the Law on Higher Education Institutions, where it is stated that as of the year 2004, admission to study programs will be based on the results of centralized examinations "which are developed and administered by the Ministry of Education and Science." In the same Section it is stated that "in agreement with the Council of Higher Education, a higher education institution has the right to define additional requirements for applicants regarding specific background education, suitability and training or other requirements."

The most controversial is the provision in Section 46 of the Law on Higher Education Institutions stating that admission and registration in higher education

⁵ According to the normative criteria approach, assessment is compared to other test takers, as opposed to the criterion referenced approach in which each test taker's result is compared with an externally validated criterion. Most tests of certification (including those for graduation from secondary school) are based on criterion-referenced examinations.

institutions should begin **no later** than two weeks after the end of the academic year at secondary schools (Augstskolu likums, 1995). There are several obstacles causing problems:

- First, centralized examinations take place in June when the academic year is over.
- Second, as of the year 2004, in order to apply to higher education institutions, the applicants should know their centralized examination results.
- Third, by the year 2004 the work load of the CCDE will increase, and it is already the case now that the CCDE can hardly manage to process all centralized examinations in the end of June and the beginning of July.

Higher education institutions prefer to start the admissions process as early as possible to attract the best candidates. It contradicts the Ministry of Education and Science Regulation on Admission to Higher Education Institutions, where it is stated that "higher education institutions can begin the admission process no earlier than one month after the academic year in Grade 12 is over" (IZM, 1997). According to an expert, currently higher education institutions are not able to administer a legally correct admission process.

The Regulation on the Content and Process of Centralized Examinations has also been adopted and will enter into force as of September 1, 2003. According to the Regulation, examinations shall be organized by the CCDE and "education boards of local governments in cooperation with education institutions"; it is also stated that schools should send in applications to the CCDE for centralized examinations by December 15. The Regulation also states that "examinations shall be organized in core subjects in line with the general education standard." (MK 104, 2002.)

Objective assessment: the goal of national education policy

One of the objectives of centralized examinations is to promote objective assessment. It involves several aspects: first, identical tests in all schools, second, comparable and transparent admission criteria at higher education institutions, and third, all tests graded according to the same criteria. Schools differ in terms of the resources available and the level of quality provided. Up until recently it had been a common practice to have very different evaluations of similar levels of achievement of students in different schools. These differences have been due to the fact that the methods of assessing students have been neither standardized, nor centralized. With the new tests, the chance of having varying assessments of similar performance is reduced for three reasons:

- First, all schoolchildren take centralized examinations under identical conditions: simultaneously all schoolchildren take tests independently without external assistance.
- Second, the content of centralized tests is identical for all schoolchildren graduating from secondary school, and the content is not known prior to the test session.
- Third, test assessment is standardized, and all tests are graded according to the same criteria.

In case schoolchildren have claims against grades received in centralized examinations, during the week after the CCDE certificate is received they can appeal to the CCDE by submitting an application (IZM, 2001a). There were a couple of cases when the result of the centralized test was changed.

According to government regulations (IZM, 1997), entrance examinations at higher education institutions should correspond to the level of secondary education. However, it is difficult to investigate. Currently, admission requirements at higher education institutions are generally regulated by the Senate decisions that define specific admission criteria. Admission requirements tend to vary: a few higher education institutions already now take into account the results of centralized examinations. However, in the majority of cases applicants should take entrance examinations developed by higher education institutions, and in some higher education institutions grade point average in the certificate on secondary education serves as the governing admissions criterion.

The admissions process based on centralized examination results will become more transparent; some higher education institutions have already announced which centralized test results will be considered in the year 2004. These requirements are published on the homepage of the Ministry of Education and Science (IZM, 2002b).

A transparent admission process is important as currently the registration deadlines for applicants at higher education institutions vary. For a few study programs the registration deadline is on March 1, and for other programs it lasts till September 20. In transition to centralized examinations, on the one hand, higher education institutions will have to take into account the time when applicants receive certificates on centralized test results; on the other hand, higher education institutions are interested in starting the admission process as early as possible in order to select the best students.

Within the new system, schoolchildren will have an advantage not to take the same examination twice – to graduate from the secondary school and to enter a higher education institution, which is a common practice now.

Centralized examinations are graded according to specific criteria, and the analysis of results shows that a small number of schoolchildren receive the highest (A) and the lowest (F) grade. The majority shows average achievement. Currently test results show the best achievement in those parts of examinations where knowledge and skills are tested and the lowest achievement for the parts where more sophisticated skills of synthesis and analysis are required. Generally, centralized test results on the national scale correspond to "the normal distribution" (ISEC, 2002b).

Final secondary school tests

One of the main objectives of centralized examinations is the assessment of knowledge acquired by a student and the certification that the knowledge is sufficient (i.e., that it meets certain minimum criteria) for a student to be considered a secondary school graduate. Therefore, it is important that the assessment criteria are specified in regulatory documents: Regulation on the State Standard of General Secondary Education, Regulation on the State Standard of Professional Education and Vocational Training, as well as standards for core subjects.

The standard of general education

According to the standard of secondary education, in Latvia four different programs of general education are provided: general education, humanities and social sciences, natural sciences and mathematics, and professional education. Each program consists of core mandatory courses⁶, which take approximately half of the study time, and the optional courses, which are also specified in the standard of each program. Schools can provide teaching in several programs simultaneously. The general education program and humanities and social sciences program are the most popular. Currently in Latvia there are 994 general education programs that have been licensed at the Department of General Education of the Ministry of Education and Science in the summer of 2002.

Less than a third of schoolchildren study in professional secondary education programs. For the present, the majority of vocational schools are not fully subordinated to the Ministry of Education and Science, because they are financed by line ministries. The curriculum of professional education consists of two parts: theoretical courses and practice. Theoretical courses are close to mandatory core courses in secondary schools. However, there are less hours planned than in general secondary education.

Standardized examinations managed centrally is an illustration of a more general shift in education policy from relying on input to measure quality to relying on output to measure quality. This year both the schoolchildren graduating from general and professional secondary schools have taken centralized examinations, and the level of preparation for final tests has differed. According to an expert for the CCDE, it is very difficult to develop a test to assess knowledge of schoolchild-

⁶ Mandatory courses include the Latvian language and literature, the first foreign language, the second foreign language, mathematics, history, physical education, basic economics and business, and applied IT. ren in both vocational schools and secondary schools (BSZI, 2002: 45). The results of the year 2002 centralized examination in mathematics illustrate the situation: schoolchildren from professional and evening schools have received the lowest assessment. Moreover, next year centralized tests for schoolchildren in vocational schools wishing to receive a certificate for secondary education will be mandatory. Schoolchildren in vocational schools will be disadvantaged, because they will have to take five final tests specified by the Ministry, tests designed for general and not for vocational education.

Standards for core subjects

The standard of general education specifies for which subjects (both mandatory and optional courses) centralized examinations⁷ should be introduced. According to an expert from the Ministry of Education and Science, a centralized examination can be introduced for a course with at least 105 teaching hours in half a year. Assessment criteria for centralized examinations are included in the standards of core subjects, which were developed in the beginning of the 90ies. The CCDE has developed new draft standards, which are currently being tested. It has been recognized that some of the developed subject standards are inefficient. Natural sciences course is one illustration – no higher education institution has yet assigned the results in natural sciences test as an admissions criterion. Many schoolchildren study natural sciences, but this year only 149 have taken an examination (not centralized). The standards for core courses are fairly short (four pages for the standard in history) and consist of goals and objectives, content, criteria to master the course, and forms of testing. The teacher is asked to apply the standard by developing the course program at each particular school.

Entrance examinations at higher education institutions

Currently higher education institutions provide 200 undergraduate study programs⁸ (IZM, 2002a) – the University of Latvia alone provides more than 40 undergraduate study programs. Similar to secondary education, the higher education study programs should be licensed by the Department of Higher Education of the Ministry of Education and Science. However, the procedure is rather formal. With the involvement of foreign experts, accreditation controls quality assurance in higher education in Latvia.

	Budgeted according to the law	Actual expenditure
Expenditure (total) ⁹ :	143,461	141,457
salaries	96,645	59,620
Business trips	1,776	1,517
Daily allowance	25,183	60,466
Capital investments	19,857	19,854

Table 1. The CCDE expenditure in the year 2001 covered by financing from the state budget¹⁰ (LVL, cost estimates are made before Teacher Training Centre was merged with the Centre for Curriculum Development and Examination (CCDE)). Source: ISEC, 2002a, pp. 16–18

⁷ By September 1, 2005 centralized examinations are planned in the Latvian language and literature, the Latvian language and literature (in minority schools), English, French, German, Russian, history, basic economics and business, geography, mathematics, physics, chemistry, biology, natural sciences and the history of culture.

⁸ As of the year 2004, admissions based on centralized examination results will apply to all undergraduate study programs: bachelor study programs, professional study programs that correspond to the bachelor education standard, professional higher education study programs, and college study programs.

⁹ This amount does not include 19,015 LVL that CCDE received as donations and gifts from private persons and gifts. These donations had been spent on purchasing equipment.

¹⁰ Actual expenditure of the Ministry of Education and Science in 2001 were **81,936,547 LVL**. Source: IZM, 2001b.

Every year the Senate of the higher education institution approves admission requirements, which specify selection criteria for each study program. A few higher education institutions have already set a uniform testing procedure. Currently all candidates applying to the University of Latvia are required to take a test in the Latvian language developed by the local faculty. Similarly, candidates applying to the Riga Technical University are required to take a test in mathematics.

However, overall uniform testing for admission at higher education institutions has not yet been introduced. In accordance with the Law on Higher Education Institutions, in the year 2004 admission to all undergraduate study programs in higher education institutions should be based on the results of a centralized examination. In the majority of study programs at large universities (Riga Technical University and the University of Latvia) student selection in the year 2003 will be based on centralized examination results (LU, 2002). In particular, for study programs of social sciences it is planned to compare the results the candidates shown in entrance examinations to the results of centralized examinations.

It is already commonly accepted that certain higher education institutions such as the Latvian Academy of Arts, the Latvian Music Academy and also the Stockholm School of Economics in Riga will have special entrance requirements. A few of them have already approved the admissions requirements at the Council of Higher Education. With reference to the Stockholm School of Economics in Riga, it has been noted that a special Section in the Law on Higher Education Institutions will be developed, because this school has external financing from abroad. It is one of the most prestigious higher education institutions, therefore the admission procedure has two major components: a written entrance test and individual interviews with top candidates.

To assist in preparation for entrance examinations a number of higher education institutions used to provide preparatory courses. It was also an additional source of income for higher education institutions. Currently the University of Latvia is ready to provide candidates with preparatory courses for taking centralized examinations (LU, 2002) in the year 2003. The preparatory courses will be especially useful for those who have finished secondary education earlier and thus do not have certificates of centralized examination results.

For the year 2004, overall for each study program a number of centralized examination results have been set as selection criteria. It means that, first, the status of centralized examinations will increase, second, schoolchildren will have to take more centralized tests, and third, it will restrict candidates from applying to very diverse study programs.

The centralized examination in history

History as one of the core courses serves as a good example of introducing centralized examinations. The following aspects have to be considered:

- A new education standard for the history course has been developed (adopted in 1998), while for other core courses documents on standardization are in progress.
- The Association of History Teachers (AHT) is very active, and the representatives of the AHT have participated in different international professional exchange programs. As a result, they have had an opportunity to acquire new knowledge and experience to apply the right methodology in developing the standard for the course and the centralized examination.
- In 2002 the Department of History and Philosophy at the University of Latvia organized admission to the undergraduate study program in history based on the centralized examination results. It should be noted that the weight of components in the total grade was changed, and, additionally, applicants were to take the Latvian language test as a regular University of Latvia entrance test.
- History experts from the University of Latvia have been constantly involved in developing the centralized examination; a few lecturers participate in fully developing one of the centralized test sections.

A successful outcome of the centralized test in history is also determined by the status of the history course, which is a mandatory course at general secondary schools.

However, there are also a few problems. According to an expert (BSZI, 2002: 53), it would be correct to formulate test questions with reference to each component in the standard, but in Latvia it is just the opposite: first, a test question is defined, and only then the relationship with the standard is considered. This approach generates more uniform tests, but it runs the risk of developing a test that is separated from the curriculum, i.e., a test with low validity.

The basic format and the structure of the centralized examination in history has remained unchanged for several years. It consists of three components: 40% for testing knowledge, 40% for testing skills, and 20% for essay writing. The weight of the third component of the centralized examination was increased for admission to the undergraduate study program in history.

Centre for Curriculum Development and Examination (CCDE)

The CCDE is a public institution subordinated to the Ministry of Education and Science. The main func-

tions of CCDE include curriculum development, education quality analysis and control as well as professional development for teachers. The centre is financed from the state budget.

The administrative routine on centralized examinations starts at the end of October and in the beginning of November, when the CCDE receives applications from schoolchildren for taking final tests. Next, lists with the number of test-takers are prepared and sent to schools for confirmation. Then, lists with names of test-takers are prepared and double-checked. The CCDE has an especially heavy workload in May, June and July. Certificates are given out on July 15, and three weeks prior there is a very intense period of grading tests with 1000 professionals involved. A comparatively large part of the centre's budget is spent on grading tests. In October, examination experts from education boards and the CCDE analyze the results of the previous year.

The development of each centralized examination (including the examination in history) takes nearly two years. First, the CCDE ask teachers to develop tasks, a test section or the complete test (it varies for different courses). The CCDE experts review the material, taking out redundancies. Next, at a few schools pilot tests are taken by schoolchildren who will not take the

Courses	Examination costs per student ¹¹	The number of test takers ¹²	Total expenses
English	2.80	14,022	39,261.60
German	3.05	2,977	9,079.85
State language	2.84	7,501	21,302.84
History	2.44	4,057	9,899.08
Mathematics	1.88	6,687	12,571.56
Biology	1.64	2,498	4,796.16
Geography	1.80	10,863	19,553.40
Physics	3.43	408	1,399.44
Chemistry	3.25	463	1,504.75
Total			119,368.68

Table 2. Secondary school expenditure for centralized examinations in the year 2000 (LVL)

¹¹ Cost estimates are made based on data provided by CCDE.

¹² Source: ISEC, 2002b.

given test a centralized examination, because this procedure has one year gap. For test approbation, schools are chosen carefully, and for financial reasons and confidentiality the CCDE has established close cooperation with schools in Riga. Then, based on pilot test results, the final version of the centralized examination is developed.

Some point out that the institution, which provides centralized examinations should be efficient, reliable, and autonomous (Heyneman & Ransom, 1990: 185). Currently the CCDE faces problems with autonomy, because it is fully financed from the state budget, and the Centre is subordinated to the Ministry of Education and Science. As a result, there is lack of flexibility in attracting financing, and, therefore, the budgeted and actual expenditures at the CCDE differ, and the Ministry can control centralized examinations. For example, two new centralized tests are planned for the next year (in the history of culture and basic economics). However, by mid-December it is not known whether financing will be provided for the new project. The current financing system with nearly all financial resources being provided from the state budget is too bureaucratic to secure efficient operation of such a flexible institution as the CCDE.

Conclusions

To qualify for secondary education centralized examinations are a common international testing practice. Since the mid-90ies, centralized examinations are being introduced also in Latvia. The importance of centralized examinations will increase in the year 2004, when the admissions to higher education study programs will be based on results of centralized tests. Centralized testing has two main objectives: first, the overall assessment of the level of knowledge students have acquired in secondary education, second, selection for admission to studies at higher education institutions.

International experience shows that across the country one final test cannot fully meet both objectives. In the case of **Slovenia** centralized examinations are mandatory only for graduating from general secondary schools and for admission to academic higher

education institutions, i.e., universities. Moreover, for certain study programs there is an option to set additional entrance examinations. In Scotland, like in Latvia, to qualify for graduation from secondary education schoolchildren take five centralized examinations. However, in both countries there are essential differences. In Latvia not all secondary education final tests are centralized as they are in Scotland. Second, for admissions purposes, higher education institutions in Scotland have a better range of centralized test results to choose from, because centralized examinations are taken in all courses. In Lithuania there are two schemes for schoolchildren to take final secondary school tests. Only centralized examinations qualify for admission to studies at higher education institutions. At the same time, schoolchildren who will not continue studies take easier final tests and receive positive achievement assessment.

In Latvia centralized examinations are analyzed, based on the distribution analysis and also according to specific criteria. The main function of the normative approach is to select schoolchildren who have the best knowledge of the subject, so that they can continue studies at higher education institutions. The goal of the criteria-based assessment is to reflect on the level of knowledge acquired in secondary education. There are several problem areas: first, a uniform examination may be taken by schoolchildren who may have studied according to different education standards (such as in the US), second, the norm referenced tests are influenced by results from different years. Average scores may be higher in some years than in other years.

International experience shows that admission to higher education institutions based on centralized examination results poses specific challenges due to the differentiated nature in the higher education sector, where some institutions require higher minimum scores and some emphasize skills and subject areas more than others. It is natural that the level of performance and the balance of performance subject by subject may differ between entrance to medical school, law school, sociology, music, and literature departments. Latvia faces the same problem: first, higher education institutions are very different: there are public and private institutions. Some institutions provide one study program and others provide forty study programs. Second, higher education institutions provide specific study programs that do not allow student selection based only on centralized examination results. Third, the publicity for study programs differs; in social sciences ten candidates compete for a study place, but in some engineering study programs it is hardly possible to select a full study group.

In agreement with an expert's opinion (Heyneman, 1987: 262), centralized examination has not only technical but also a number of political aspects; it is not only a form of knowledge testing, but it is also a tool for development of national education policy. A number of decisive factors are influential: whether centralized examinations are organized by a public or private institution, whether centralized examinations are provided for schoolchildren at all schools or part of schools, and whether the results of centralized tests are the only criterion or one of several admission criteria in higher education institution.

Recommendations

- Amendments should be made to Section 46 Paragraph 3 of the Law on Higher Education Institutions, stating that admission to higher education institutions should start no earlier than after the centralized examination results are received.
- Experts from higher education institutions should be involved in the methodology development for centralized examinations to keep options open in

case there is a need to change the weight of one of the test sections for the total examination grade when admission is based on centralized test results.

- Keep an option to run a preliminary selection based on centralized test results, and for the final selection allow higher education institutions to use additional tools of assessment.
- In due time, inform secondary school students on which centralized examination results will be required for admission to particular study programs.
- It should be specified that both in professional and general secondary education, the Ministry of Education and Science should set centralized examinations only in two courses, and other centralized examinations can be chosen by schoolchildren (or the school).
- Tests should run approbation at schools, which according to essential parameters (for example, the location) are similar to all schools in Latvia, ensuring a representative testing sample.
- The administration of centralized and standardized examinations for secondary school graduation should be partly financed from the local government budget. The financing should be proportional to the number of schoolchildren taking centralized tests in the education board of local government.
- Financing for admission examinations to post-secondary education should be based in part on the fees from those who wish to sit for the examinations.

References

AIP (2002). Augstākās izglītības padomes aktualitātes. http://www.aip.lv/aktual.htm (retrieved 10.11.2002).

Augstskolu likums (1995, 17.11.). Augstskolu likums. *Latvijas Vēstnesis*, Rīga.

Bakker, S., Wolf, A. (2001). Editorial: Examinations and entry to university: pressure and change in mass system. *Assessment in Education*. Vol. 8, 3, pp. 285–290.

CSP (2002). Latvijas tautsaimniecība: makroekonomiskais apskats nr. 4, 2002. LR Ekonomikas ministrija, LR Centrālā statistikas pārvalde, http://www.lem.gov.lv/files/Makroap skats_nr13.pdf (retrieved 5.11.2002).

Gabrszek, S. (2001). Access to Higher Education in Slovenia: assessment reform and the re-creation of national examinations. *Assessment in Education*. Vol. 8, 3, pp. 369–389.

Heyneman, S. P. (1987). Uses of examinations in developing countries: selection, research, and education sector management. *International Journal of Education Development*. Vol. 7, 4.

Heyneman, S. P., Ransom, A. W. (1990). Using examinations and testing to improve education quality. *Education Policy*. Vol. 4, 3.

ISEC (2002a). *ISEC 2001. gada publiskais pārskats*. Izglītības satura un eksaminācijas centrs, Rīga, http://isec.gov.lv/prese/ isecpubl/isecpubl.shtml (retrieved 1.11.2002).

ISEC (2002b). Valsts pārbaudes darbi (norises statistika un rezultātu raksturojums). ISEC, Rīga, http://isec.gov.lv/ eksameni/statistika.shtml (retrieved 6.11.2002).

IZM (1997). Izglītības un zinātnes ministrijas rīkojums nr. 428 "Par uzņemšanas noteikumiem Latvijas augstskolās". Rīga: Izglītības un zinātnes ministrija.

IZM (2001a). Izglītības un zinātnes ministrijas instrukcija nr. 4 "Valsts pārbaudījumu kārtība akreditētām pamatizglītības programmām un vispārējās vidējās izglītības programmām", 27.04.2001, http://isec.gov.lv/normdok/minstr4.htm (retrieved 25.10.2002). IZM (2001b). Latvijas Republikas Izglītības un zinātnes ministrijas 2001. gada publiskais pārskats. Rīga: Izglītības un zinātnes ministrija.

IZM (2002a). *Pārskats par Latvijas augstskolu darbību 2001. gadā*. IZM Augstākās izglītības un zinātnes departaments, http://www.izm.lv (retrieved 28.10.2002).

IZM (2002b). Centralizētie eksāmeni 2004. g., kurus augstskolas ieskaitīs kā iestājeksāmenus attiecīgās studiju programmās, saskaņā ar Augstskolu likuma 46. pantu un pārejas noteikumu 13. punktu, http://www.izm.lv (retrieved 4.11.2002).

LU (2002). *Centralizēto eksāmenu izmantošana LU 2003. gada uzņemšanā* Latvijas universitāte, Rīga, http:// www.lu.lv/jauna/iespejas/2003_central_eksameni.html (retrieved 8.11.2002).

MK 104 (2002). Ministru kabineta noteikumi nr. 104 "Noteikumi par centralizēto eksāmenu saturu un norises kārtību". Rīga: Ministru kabinets.

NEC (2002). National Examinations Centre, http://www.nec.lt/english/heril.htm (retrieved 11.11.2002).

ONS (2002). *Regional gross domestic product*. The Office for National Statistics, UK, http://www.statistics.gov.uk/pdfdir/rgdp0201.pdf (retrieved 5.11.2002).

Scotland (2001). *The Education System in the United Kingdom (Scotland),* http://www.eurydice.org/Eurybase/Application/frameset.asp?country=SC&language=VO (retrieved 16.10.2002).

BSZI (2002). *Centralizēto eksāmenu ieviešanas norise*. Pētījuma atskaite Sorosa fondam – Latvija. Rīga: Baltijas sociālo zinātņu institūts (unpublished).

Times (2001). *Scottish Qualifications Authority*. The Times. 2001.13.08, p. 4, http://www.scotland.gov.uk/government/publicbodies/more.asp?ID=62 (retrieved 01.12.2002.).

Centralized and Standardized Examinations



Non-Graded Assessments in Primary Education

Līga Liepiņa (Riga City School Board, Ziemeļi District Department), **Valentīna Sūniņa** (Association of Primary School Teachers of Latvia) and **Valda Reķe** (Riga Secondary School of Culture)

Summary

Since the restoration of independence in 1991, the educational policy in Latvia has encouraged radical changes in the curriculum that meet the new economic and social needs of the society. The Latvian policy reforms have also included a new system of student assessment for primary school students based on humanistic principles and the long-term experience in Europe and elsewhere.

However, as normal as the system of non-graded assessment may be in other parts of the world, the system in Latvia has experienced serious problems. The public has a very subjective view of it. Opinion polls and questionnaires of teachers and parents indicate dissatisfaction. In the opinion of many people, the new system does not facilitate student motivation. It is subjective and works formally and ineffectively, and, because its assessment criteria are not clear, it does not ensure a reliable and understandable picture of students' knowledge and skills. Even though the previous system of graded assessment pointed out only mistakes and therefore did not encourage student confidence, still 85% of the students - respondents would want to return to the system of grades. The change implementation process did not proceed effectively due to the contradiction between the goals

and objectives of the national educational policy and the inertia of teaching practice in schools, therefore a thorough analysis of the previous experience is required.

This research looks at the non-grading assessment system in primary school as an integral part of the modern educational system. It reveals the causes of several problems and offers recommendations for their improvement. The analysis indicates that the cause of the ineffective assessment system is not in the fact that grades are not used, but in the implementation of the system. There are no standardized assessment criteria and parents do not understand the reports on learning achievements. Moreover, the assessment is isolated from the study process. If the implementation of the current assessment system is not improved, these problems will persist.

This research analyses the factors that play an important role in providing the opportunity to ensure a high quality assessment system. This would meet today's demands: the assessment would be reliable and clear to the students, teachers and parents. The research also puts forward the criteria to be used to assess students' achievements and recommends solutions to ease the transition from Grade 4 to Grade 5.

Introduction

A non-grading assessment system was introduced in 1992 with two distinct advantages:

- it is based on the main principles of humanistic pedagogy. In a non-grading system the learning process is aimed at identifying and meeting students' individual abilities and needs and encouraging motivation and development of learning environment appropriate to student abilities, which has been proven by the long experience with this system in the USA, Sweden and Switzerland;
- it can better incorporate the complex variety of learning achievements necessary to understand performance in the early years, including knowledge, skills, attitudes, while taking into account student learning style, attitude and the dynamics of individual development.

Teachers who have acquired the methods and forms of humanistic pedagogy understand, support and implement a non-grading assessment system.¹ In a survey carried out during the conference of Riga city primary school teachers in the autumn of 2002, 25% of the respondents stated their satisfaction with the current assessment system. Teachers' opinions have also been reported in the mass media (Vilciņa, 2001; Čakāne, 2001; Limanoviča, 2001).

Inefficiency of the non-grading system in many schools can be explained by two reasons. The first is the lack of experience in communicating students' learning achievements to their parents. The second is the fact that in Latvia there are still no educational research institutions and the universities have not paid attention to assessment issues. This lack of research has made it difficult to pinpoint problems and to find the necessary solutions. However, already in 1996 the Ministry of Education and Science (MES) understood that the assessment system and methods in education need gradual but essential changes (OECD, 2000).

Thus, since the introduction of the non-grading assessment system, both financial resources and con-

siderable work have been invested in the following activities:

- ➤ awareness-raising seminars,
- conferences of primary school teachers of Latvia and the Baltic countries,
- teacher in-service training courses,
- raising of public awareness of the non-grading assessment system through the mass media,
- experience exchange and study tours for teachers within Latvia and to neighboring countries,
- pedagogical experiments/pilots in educational institutions,
- development of regulatory documents on the assessment system.

Definition and Description of Assessment

In the educational system, assessment is a procedure which helps to identify the compliance of the student's knowledge, skills and abilities with the level of content acquisition set by the curriculum, i.e., the requirements of the educational Standards. Assessment is an information-collection process by using observation, testing, interviewing, etc., in order to understand the strengths and weaknesses of students' learning.

The assessment result may be stated in the form of a mark/grade, level, criterion evaluation or in a descriptive form. The objective of the assessment is to obtain learning-related information from different works of students in different stages during the study process and in different ways. In order to reach the objective of students' assessment, the study process and assessment should be coherent. It means that the type of assessment should be agreed with both the student and the teacher.

"We should constantly remind ourselves that the final objective of assessment is to provide the learners with the opportunity to assess themselves." (Costa, 1989: 2.) There are considerable differences between the grading and descriptive assessment systems: the

¹ These include programs such as Step-by-Step, Reading and Writing for the Development of Critical Thinking.

descriptive assessment system is based on a humanistic approach and takes into account the student's way of learning and attitudes towards the learning process and the dynamics of learning, while the grading system reflects only the knowledge of a student (Hopkins, 1989: 303).

Assessment is a process that summarizes, interprets and synthesizes information to draw conclusions/judgments about the learners and provides feedback to the learners about their progress, strengths and weaknesses, to judge the effectiveness of teaching and to provide information for the needs of educational policy (Geidžs & Berliners, 1999: 502).

In Latvia, on the basis of this definition the information within is being collected by the assessment system, but there are certain problems encountered in relation to the forms of presentation of this information, because it is not simple, clear and reliable. Thus, the feedback to the students is incomplete, because it does not reveal students' strengths and weaknesses, which, in turn, makes it difficult to draw an objective, comprehensive opinion (Geidžs & Berliners, 1999: 502) on the effectiveness of learning. The internationally recognized criteria-based assessment system that measures individual's abilities against a certain standard or objective based on the content of learning and where the standards or criteria are set in advance by people who have a good knowledge of the respective area, is not complete in Latvia, because it provides incomplete information and does not identify individual's competence in relation to the specific content, knowledge or performance standards (Geidžs & Berliners, 1999: 508).

Problems with the current non-grading system

This research reveals five causes of the problems in the existing assessment system:

- in Grades 2, 3 and 4 the assessment criteria have not been clearly defined;
- the transition from a grading to non-grading system has not been adequately explained to students and their parents;

- in primary schools students do not receive grades, and this is why they do not accept the non-grading assessment system, because the assessment process is not clear to them;
- the discrepancy between the tests developed by the MES and the assessment of the daily study process in the classroom;
- most of the teachers are not prepared for the criteria-based assessment.

The student's role in a non-grading system

The non-grading system is not sufficiently simple, precise and reliable, and the students are not personally involved in the assessment of the learning process. The assessment ignores the opinion of the student as an active participant of both the learning and the assessment process. The lack of student participation is the reason why quite often in creative writing, students express the opinion of their teachers, although a student and a teacher should be considered as equal partners in the study process. The absence of precisely defined assessment criteria causes uncertainty among the teachers and the students.

The assessment methodology is one-sided, as it is based only on identifying the drawbacks of students' knowledge and skills, and no multiple assessment techniques are applied, such as observation, teacherand-learner-performed assessment, etc., that could increase the reliability and objectivity of assessment.

Teachers' opinion on the non-grading assessment system

In order to analyze the reasons for the ineffectiveness of the non-grading assessment system, during the period from 2000 till 2002, 450 primary school teachers were included in a survey and 85% of them expressed the opinion that the assessment criteria in the national tests/examinations do not match the criteria set for students' report cards (*liecības*), which complicates maintaining of mandatory documentation, as the assessment is isolated from the study process and aimed only at the end result, and this becomes the reason for non-objective assessment of students' papers. Difficulties for teachers are also caused by the following factors:

- the lack of a set of general tools for assessing student's cooperation, decision-making skills, attitudes, because these very essential skills are assessed by teachers individually, therefore the assessment is not objective and does not meet the fundamental principles of democracy;
- the information obtained from the assessment is not being analyzed and used to improve the students' learning achievements and skills, because the present assessment does not envisage setting of further objectives to encourage higher achievements.

Students in Grades 1 to 3 (partially also in Grade 4) do not receive grades or marks; the teachers prepare written or oral statements describing student's achievements. At the end of Grade 3, students have to take national tests in general knowledge, the language of instruction and – for students in ethnic minority schools – also in the Latvian language. The dissatisfaction of teachers emerges in relation to the ways of recording students' learning achievements in

the mandatory documents. At present, the entries describing the assessment criteria in the statements of performance do not match with those used in the class registers. The data from the survey carried out in November/December 2001 show the following:

- out of 129 teachers, 90% are not satisfied, because the assessment criteria of teachers' professionalism are often related only to the recording of students' knowledge, not taking into account the aspects of students' communicative skills, attitudes and abilities. School administrations do not have wellgrounded criteria for assessing teachers' performance within the non-grading assessment system;
- due to the lack of educational quality tools, the school administrations are not interested in analyzing the problems of the non-grading assessment system and to contribute to its improvement;
- the current assessment system does not respect all of the didactic principles. For instance, the systematic and pragmatic approach, unity of the educator and preceptor systems, which cannot be easily incorporated into an integrated assessment system.

Name of the country	Type of assessment	
United Kingdom	Descriptive – according to levels	
Austria	1–5 point scale (1 – the highest mark)	
Denmark	Non-grading from Grade 1 to Grade 7	
France	Descriptive – three levels	
Greece	Grade 1 and 2 – descriptive assessment, Grade 3 and 4 – additional assessment with grades	
Italy	Descriptive	
Iceland	Free choice: either descriptive or grading	
Ireland	Descriptive	
Luxemburg	System of scores	
the Netherlands	10 point scale	
Norway	Descriptive	
Portugal	Descriptive	
Finland	Descriptive	
Spain	Descriptive	
Germany	In Grades 1 and 2 – descriptive assessment, later – a defined grade system	
Sweden	Descriptive assessment from Grade 1 to Grade 7	

Table 1. Overview of types of assessment in European countries
Parents' opinion on the nongrading assessment system

Parents have not understood or have not accepted the current assessment system. Out of 500 parents included in the survey, only 24% were satisfied. The most serious problem for the parents is the lack of daily assessment of students' achievements. Although the assessment should serve the communication between the students, teachers and parents, it must be clear to all interested parties. At the moment, however, the assessment does not reflect all the factors of the learning process (attitudes, students' creativity, critical thinking, responsibility, etc.).

Parents wish to feel safe and sure about the level of knowledge and skills of their children. That is why the assessment criteria must be clear. Parents' dissatisfaction is caused by the fact that there is no continuity in criteria-setting from grade to grade, the specifics of each subject area are not respected in setting the criteria, and there is no uniform concept for identification of the dynamics of students' learning achievements.

Teachers' professionalism

The quality of the educational system is based on three cornerstones: the quality of input, the quality of process and students' achievements. Until now, courses have been organized on students' self-assessment, the development of test items, and organization of lessons within the non-grading assessment system, but the themes of these courses are not interrelated and do not create a common picture of the assessment from the national-policy perspective. Sometimes during workshops MES civil servants give contradictory information that contributes to the subjective approach of the teachers to students' assessment.

Oral reproduction of the content, tests, and examination assessment criteria are still based on factual knowledge, without taking into account the student's role in the study process. Teachers do not feel convinced that the non-grading system is better than the previous one, because no long-term research has been carried out which would prove the opposite. The results of several surveys indicate that teachers felt safe and confident within the previous assessment system, because the grade system was familiar to them, while the new one causes uncertainty, as it was approved in the absence of research data.

The methodology for curriculum development and student assessment should be included in the teacher education programs to ensure that all the new teachers have an advanced understanding about the curriculum and "assessment of education" in modern education (Weber, 1999: 33).

Experience of the European Union countries

In the majority of industrialized countries a nongrading assessment is used at the primary education level. This is the case, for instance, in the United Kingdom, Denmark, France, Italy, Norway, Ireland, Sweden and Spain. In Greece and Germany, in Grades 1 and 2 the assessment is given in descriptive form, but in Grades 3 and 4 a grading assessment is used in addition to the descriptive one. In Cyprus (Eurydice, 1999: 123) and Poland, at the end of each school year students receive a certificate of their learning achievements.

Slovakia, being a post-communist country, is quite similar to Latvia as in terms of development. In both countries the non-grading system was introduced almost at the same time – in Latvia in 1992, in Slovakia in 1988. In Latvia the non-grading system was introduced **simultaneously** in Grades 1 to 3, but in Slovakia the introduction process took place **gradually**: at first the system was strengthened at Grade 1 level and only after seven years of thorough testing and analysis it was generally recognized and introduced also in Grades 2, 3 and 4 (Eurydice, 1997: 139).

An overview of the types of assessment used in European countries is shown in Table 1.

Out of the 17 countries, only 17.6% have introduced the grading assessment system in the early stage of primary school: Austria, Luxemburg and the Netherlands, and a partial non-grading system operates in Greece, Iceland and Germany. Consequently, as follows from Table 1, a non-grading assessment is used in 64.8% of the countries listed in the table.

During the first independence period of Latvia, schools applied a grading system for assessment of students. In the 1920s and 1930s the former Riga Primary School No. 47 (at 45 Terbatas Street) followed the Vienna school methods, focused around the Individual Psychology Association of Vienna. This school advocated teaching and education methods, which treated students as unique individuals and required regular meetings with students' parents (Lapiņš, 1932: 269-274). Statements of student performance were not just small pieces of paper with grades, but thick books. Each book included a detailed overview of the student's achievements, pointing out success and listing objectives for further activities. The best pieces of student's works were attached - best drawings, essays, etc. When receiving the statement of performance, the parents could have a detailed insight to the development of their child, understand further actions and set specific tasks for the education of their child.

When Latvia was a part of the USSR, the assessment within the educational system was carried out according to a 5-grade scale like it was done before during the first period of independence of Latvia. However, adaptation to the quite authoritarian educational policy of the Soviet Union implied that no creative and progressive ideas concerning the assessment system were taken into account for fifty years.

Following the restoration of independence, a nongrading system was introduced in this country already in the beginning of the nineties, and since then the

Criteria	Grading assessment system	Non-grading assessment system		
Assessment taking into account the abilities of each student	Not respected	Yes		
Student's motivation for the learning process	Emphasis on the end result, students are not motivated	Emphasis on the process and self-education		
Assessment methods	Teacher-made assessment, little variation in the method	Self assessment, involvement of peers in the assessment, observation, research, diverse methods		
Nature of assessment	Emphasis on mistakes, assessment separated from the process	Emphasis on achievements, assessment is a part of teaching/learning process		
Psychological aspect	Fear, discomfort	Students feel emotionally safe and involved		
Systematic approach	Irregular	Often, regular, systematic		
Reliability	Subjective	Objective		
Information to parents	About the end result	About the progress of the study process, setting joint tasks		
Responsibility for evaluation	Teacher	Shared responsibility: teacher, student, parents		
Students' role in the assessment	Competition	Cooperation		
Objective of assessment	Knowledge	Knowledge, skills, attitudes		
Dynamics of student's individual development	Not respected	Yes		
Form of assessment	Simple but formal	Simple, precise, understandable, reliable		
Setting of assessment criteria	Subjective, different within one country	Unified, precise, defined criteria, appropriate to the age groups		
Integrity of assessment	egrity of assessment Knowledge about Cross-subject link, re separate subject areas the application of pra			

Table 2. Comparison between the grading and non-grading assessment systems

teachers have been looking for solutions as to how to motivate the students to learn on a daily basis, how to reflect their learning achievements and how to present the information to the parents. The survey data presented at the conference of primary school teachers "On Recording Students' Achievements in Documentation" in 2000/2001 indicate that 35% of parents appreciate that a student is not labeled a loser from the very first days at school, that there is no stress and competition during the study process and learning at school is a humane process (Vilciņa, 2001: 59).

Comparison between the grading and non-grading assessment systems

During the research, when studying and analyzing the effectiveness of non-grading assessment systems within the context of different European countries, various assessment indicators have been compared between an authoritarian and democratic school on the basis of the experience of these countries. Having summarized the experience, the work group compared several parameters of the grading and nongrading systems and arrived at the conclusion that the assessment parameters in the non-grading system are in compliance with the fundamental principles of humanistic pedagogy by way of helping the students to develop themselves, to participate in the learning process which is meaningful to them, encouraging self-initiative and increasing students' responsibility for achieving success.

The work group presents a table showing a comparison between the grading and non-grading assessment systems (see Table 2).

In practice, the mark becomes a source of either joy or sorrow for a child, and in the teacher's hands it becomes either a punishment or a reward, whereas in the non-grading system the assessment facilitates success, and for the teacher it is a meaningful part of improving the teaching-learning process.

Thus, the non-grading system ensures effectiveness of the study process; therefore, it should be retained and developed. In educating students in accordance with the requirements of the twenty-first century, which envisage that the student is an active partner in the education process, the state should provide an effective, safe, clear, simple and reliable student-achievement-assessment system, which would reflect students' knowledge, dynamics of development, attitudes, creativity, cooperation and problem-solving skills, and responsibility with a focus on student's self-assessment as an essential part of the assessment (Goodwin, 1997: 51).

Recommendations for the provision of effective assessment system in primary education:

- The Teacher In-service Training Division of the Curriculum and Examination Centre at the MES should plan and deliver state-funded teacher training courses that would help to achieve a common understanding of the non-grading system in the whole country.
- The requirements set in the Standards and the curricula should be differentiated for each grade and each subject area. These should be published in separate brochures, thus ensuring a unified countrywide assessment system and making easier the development of common assessment criteria.
- 3. Detailed criteria should be proposed to parents in the beginning of a school year. These criteria will help the parents:
 - to get information about the knowledge areas to be acquired in the respective grade;
 - 2) to understand the aspects of assessment;
 - 3) to become involved in the assessment process;
 - 4) to understand student's learning achievements.

Students should be involved in the assessment. When carrying out self-assessment, students will be given the opportunity to take responsibility and become involved in the assessment of their own learning achievements.

 Teachers should collect a portfolio of students' work, (tests, creative assignments, home assignments, etc.) that would give a clear picture of the dynamics of students' achievements.

- 5. The following assessment system should be developed:
 - Grade 1 to carry out diagnostic assessment; to emphasize the importance of studying student's personality in regular meetings with the parents; to find out their learning style, intellect, temperament, interests, abilities, general health condition, social circumstances, communication skills, social skills, preparedness for school, etc.;
 - Grades 2 and 3 the parents should be given brief descriptive information about each criterion of assessment in each area;
 - Grades 4 and 5 assessment of learning achievements would help to ensure the transition from non-grading assessment system to a system of grades where a brief evaluative comment by the teacher would accompany the assessment with grades.

Neither in these, nor other grades in the primary school, visual art, sports and music should be assessed with a scale of grades but rather according to established and briefly defined criteria, because these subject areas embrace creative selfexpression of students.

6. At the beginning of each school year parents should be informed about the national requirements and assessment criteria applicable to the respective grade by way of emphasizing the study areas. 7. During the school year:

- regular individual discussions should be held with parents during which the parents would be informed about students' achievements and problems and familiarize themselves with the students' portfolio and further learning objectives and tasks;
- monthly information should be provided to the parents about the dynamics of students' learning achievements in the form of making records in students' journals.
- 8. The Centre for Curriculum Development and Examination should devise tests that are relevant for the non-grading assessment system.
- 9. In-service training:
 - In each region teacher trainers should be trained on the issues of non-grading assessment system, targets of assessment, basic principles, and techniques, so that following the training they could provide systematic consultations for the teachers in their region;
 - The current primary school teacher in-service training program should be extended by way of including practical training on the non-grading assessment system;
 - Teachers should be provided with model assessments of students' learning achievements appropriate for each grade, while respecting the principles of systematic approach and continuity.

References

Bloom, B. S., Engelhart, M. D., Furst, E. J. (1956). *Taxonomy* of *Educational Objectives: the Classification of Education. Goals. Handbook 1.* New York: David McKay Co.

Catlaks, G., Dedze, I., Heinemans, S., Krēsliņš, K. (Eds.) (2001). A Passport to Social Cohesion and Prosperity. Report on Education in Latvia in 2000. Rīga: Sorosa fonds – Latvija.

Costa, A. L. (1989). Reassessing Assessment. In: *Educational Leadership*. Vol. 46 (7), 2.

Čakāne L. (2001). *Par vērtēšanu un...* (On assessment and...) // Skolotājs, 2, pp. 90–94.

EK (1998). Eiropas komisija. "Baltā grāmata par izglītību un apmācību." (European Commission White Paper on Education and Training), Lielvārds.

Eurydice (1997). Pētījums par Eiropas Savienības valstu izglītības un profesionālās izglītības sistēmu struktūru. (Research on the structure of education and vocational education and training in the European Union countries). Rīga: Eurydice, Eiropas izglītības informācijas tīkls.

Eurydice (1999). Supplement to the Study on the Structures of the Education and Initial Training Systems in the European Union. The Information Network on Education Europe, Eurydice.

Fulans M. (1999). Pārmaiņu spēki. Rīga: Zvaigzne ABC.

Geidžs N. L., Belingers D. C. (1999) *Pedagoģiskā psiholoģija*. Rīga: Zvaigzne ABC.

Goodwin, A.L. (Ed.) (1997). Assessment for Equity and Inclusion. NewYork: Routledge.

Harris, T. L. and Hodges, R. E. (Eds) (1995). *The Literacy Dictionary: The vocabulary of reading and writing*. Newark, DE: International Reading Association.

Hopkins, K. D. (1998). Educational and Psychological Measurement and Evaluation. USA: MA, Allyn and Bacon.

IZM (1999, 18.08.). Par skolēnu sasniegumu atspoguļošanu sākumskolā (On recording students' achievements in primary school). LR IZM Vispārējās Izglītības departaments. IZM ministres S. Goldes rīkojums nr. 04-647, Rīgā. Lapiņš R. (Ed.) (1932). Vīnes indivudālpsichologu darbs un individuālpsiholoģiskā mēģinājumu skola (The work of individual psychologists in Vienna and the school of individual psychology practice) // Mūsu nākotne. Paidagoģisks žurnāls. Latvijas Skolotāju savienība, pp. 269–271.

Limanoviča E. (2001). *Skolēnu darbības izvērtēšana humānās pedagoģijas kontekstā* (Assessment of students' activities within the context of humanistic pedagogy) // *Skolotājs*, 6, pp. 70–75.

Marzano, R. J. (2000). *Transforming Classroom Grading*. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development. Alexandria: Virginia.

OECD (2000). Nacionālo izglītības politiku analīze. Latvija. (Analysis of National Education Policies. Latvia). OECD, Profesionālā izglītība.

Popham, W. J. (1999). *Classroom Assessment*. 2nd ed. USA: MA, Allyn and Bacon.

Prets D. (2000). *Izglītības programmas pilnveide* (Curriculum improvement). Rīga: Zvaigzne ABC.

Rimma S. (2000). *Sekmīgas mācīšanās noslēpumi* (Secrets of successful learning). Rīga: Jumava.

Schmoker, M. (1996). *Results, the Key to Continuous School Improvement*. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development, Alexandria: Virginia.

Skujiņa V. (Ed.) (2000). *Pedagoģijas terminu skaidrojošā* vārdnīca (Dictionary of Pedagogic Terminology). Rīga: Zvaigzne ABC.

Standarts (1998). Valsts pamatizglītības standarts (National Compulsory Education Standard). IZM ISEC, Lielvārds.

Veidenfelds V., Vesels V. (2000). *Eiropa no A līdz Z* (Europe form A to Z). Rīga: Alberts XII.

Vilciņa I. (2001). Vērtēšana. Eksperimenti. Atziņas (Assessment. Experiments. Cognitions) // Skolotājs, 2, pp. 59–60.

Weber, E (1999). *Student Assessment That Works*. USA: MA, Allyn and Bacon.

Non-Graded Assessments in Primary Education

CHAPTER 2. EDUCATIONAL ADMINISTRATION

The Educational Dimension of Regional Education Reform

Inese Didže (Education and Youth Service, Dobele City Council) and **Brigita Tivča** (Adult Education and Information Centre of Dobele City)

Introduction

For more than 10 years Latvia has been in the process of developing a democratic society. Independence has provided an opportunity to become acquainted with the world's experience – achievements in democracy, history, education, culture, sports and other spheres. However, the uncertain situation of a large part of the Latvian population aggravates the effectiveness of this transition.

Among the many reforms under discussion are those at the local level. Their aim is to establish new administrative boundaries of local municipalities. But with these administrative changes, how is it possible to ensure a high quality education for every child and adolescent? It is important that Latvia as a candidate to the European Union (EU) achieve a level of knowledge and mastering of new information technologies that would correspond to the level of the European Union, as it is the development of human resources and technologies that could ensure the same living standards in Latvia as in the existing EU member states.

In the OECD countries it is the level of education that largely influenced the overall growth in the 1990ies, when rapid economic development took place due to the entrance of new technologies in the market and working places. This found its direct expression in the growth of productivity, lower costs, immediate response to the requirements of consumers and new products.

As stated by the Vice-President of the World Bank, Johannes Linn (Linn, 2002),

"Ireland and Finland offer a good example of how countries with an appropriate use of knowledge have been able to change their destiny. The emphasis on education and information technologies made by Ireland was decisive in the transformation of its former agrarian economy into the leading software exporter in Europe. Finland, in its turn, within ten years managed to transform itself from a laborious timber and paper export economy to a research-based economy the leading company of which is Nokia, one of the biggest mobile phone producers in the world. The application of knowledge in Ireland and Finland has played an important role in the destinies of these countries. Their experience provides a good lesson also for other Central European countries that at present are in the "waiting-room" for the EU. Many of them, including Latvia, "fall behind the member states in the aspects of significant parameters of education quality tertiary education, distribution of computer technologies, presence of internet home pages, resources available for research and development".

Problem

This article focuses on how rural schools and municipalities of small towns and civil parishes can realize their priorities of administrative territorial reform.

Demographic situation

Levels and types of education institutions are determined by the number of local residents in a municipality. Expected changes in the network of education institutions will be especially significant. The existing network of education institutions was created several decades ago under the system of socialism, within a superpower with apparently unlimited resources and for the needs, opportunities and ideology of the state. At present, this causes problems for municipalities that have to maintain the 552 preschools, 1,066 general schools, 121 vocational schools and 34 higher education institutions. Among the most problematic is the large number of small rural schools where the average student/teacher ratio is 8.4. On average there are 10 students per teacher's workload (calculated for the year 1994/1995). The number of these rural schools is on the decline. In 1930 there were 2,103 comprehensive schools in Latvia, in 1960 – 1,648 schools, and in 1997 – only 1,026.

More significant has been the fall in the number of students. The Central Statistics Office of Latvia (CSP) admits that due to the adverse demographic situation and negative migration balance, the population continues to decrease (BNS, 2002). Although the rate of decrease has slowed, in the period 1991 through 2001 the population has decreased by 321 thousand people due to natural movement and migration. At the beginning of 2002, 2.3 million people lived in Latvia, 12% less than 1989.

In the recently published Demographic Yearbook of Latvia 2002, it says that in 1991 the natural

Year	Births	Deaths	Natural increase of population	Natural increase of population in %
1980	35,534	32,100	3,434	1.3
1985	39,751	34,166	5,585	2.2
1990	37,918	34,812	3,106	1.2
1991	34,633	34,749	-116	-0.1
1992	31,569	35,420	-3,851	-1.5
1993	26,759	39,197	-12,438	-4.9
1994	24,256	41,757	-17,501	-6.9
1995	21,595	38,931	-17,336	-6.9
1996	19,782	34,320	-14,538	-5.9
1997	18,830	33,533	-14,703	-6.0
1998	18,410	34,200	-15,790	-6.5
1999	19,396	32,844	-13,448	-5.5

Table 1. Birth Rate, Death Rate and the Natural Increase of Population. Source: CSP, 2000

	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010
Grades 1–9	275,500	254,340	233,750	215,230	200,800	188,900	182,170	177,900
Grades 1–6	177,400	161,200	149,000	141,500	136,900			

Table 2. Estimated number of 1-9 graders at the beginning of the school year

increase of population turned negative and has remained such ever since. In 2001, the number of deaths exceeded the number of births by 13.3 thousand and the natural increase was minus 5.7. In 2001, the population in Latvia decreased by 0.8% (in 1995 – by 1.2%), including a decrease due to natural movement – by 0.6% and migration – by 0.2%.

Given the number of births, it is possible to estimate the number of students for the next six years by the time when those born in 2001 will start school. On assumption that during the next three years there will be approximately the same number of births as typical of the last three years, the forecast for the period up to 2010 could be as follows: if in the fall of 2002 approximately 196,500 students were 1–6 graders, in the year 2007 there will be only 136,900 students, i.e., by 30% less, and by the year 2010 the number of primary school students will fall by 40%.

Due to the declining demographic curve alone, out of 27 schools functioning in Dobele district, in the academic year 2001/2002 two schools will be closed by 2008 and approximately12 schools will be conducting combined classes. The reorganization and closing of schools is taking place all over Latvia. During the last three years, the number of institutions of general education has decreased by 29 and the number of students – by 9,440 (IZM, 2002b).

The question is: given the demographic and administrative changes, how can the quality of education be assured in rural areas?

Competition between rural and city/town schools

Parents and children have experienced the dramatic effects of this transformation. Due to the demographic decline, the consequences of the administrative territorial reform (amalgamation of municipalities), and a variety of new study programs

offered by advanced schools, young people are looking for contemporary study opportunities. As a result, while politicians are still discussing the required changes (education reform, amalgamation of municipalities and the establishment of regions), the parents and young people take action - they choose the best schools notwithstanding a longer and more expensive way to school, the urban environment alien to the children coming from the countryside and other inconveniences. The academic year 2002/2003 in the Dobele City Gymnasium (grades 7-12) began with 43% students from other municipalities. On average, in the town 35% of students come from 74 other municipalities. Similar processes can be observed also in other small towns. For example, in Tukums 22% of students are children from other municipalities. The Councils of cities which are district centres have to expand the practice of signing contracts for services provided by education institutions, and the situation leads to the conclusion that the vicinity of a school and the perception of it as the cultural centre of the respective municipality is not enough for the rural municipalities to motivate the parents to send their children to the local education institution.

It should be mentioned that Dobele municipality has not carried out any measures to attract children from other municipalities. There are no specially routed school buses or accommodation facilities. The Dobele City Council traditionally performs activities facilitating the enhancement of the professional qualification of educators and improvement of the physical and education environment of the education institutions. However, the road system of the district and the services of the public transport have not been significantly improved to ease getting to school for the children. On the contrary, in some places, the bus schedules and routes fail to provide the students with a daily opportunity to get from the outskirts of the dis-

	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002
In pre-school institutions	9.3%	8.0%	13.8%	18.0%	18.6%	22.4%
In comprehensive schools	24.5%	28.7%	33.0%	32.4%	32.2%	35.5%

Table 3. Students from Other Municipalities in the Institutions of Education in Dobele (% out of the total number of students of the respective level of education). Source: Information of the Dobele City Council

trict to the town, not to mention the discontinuation of the railway Riga – Liepaja. During the past years, employment in the town has not increased.

The increased number of children in Dobele at the pre-school age is related to the closing of institutions of pre-school education in the neighboring rural municipalities. The social conditions lead to a situation where the mothers want to return to work after maternity leave sooner than before - when the child is only 1 or 2 years old. Since the parents from rural municipalities find possibilities to take their children to and from a pre-school institution in the town every day already at an early age of their children, there is no hope that at the age of 6 or 7 these children will go to their local school. The majority of parents cannot be persuaded that in a small class (a class with a small number of students) a child could achieve better results than in a relatively bigger class in a town school. While not rejecting the effective methods of teaching in small groups and the significance of an individual approach to each student, educators at big schools generally admit that to facilitate high results in the education process, the optimal number of the students in a class should be 24-26. Furthermore, the material and technical situation, equipment and guality of teaching in schools also play their role. As Nagle suggests (Nagle, 2001),

"The competition for the most talented children from the most influential families was won by the schools of the biggest cities/towns. They teach the children the most essential things – to learn, to show oneself, to win! Moreover, the interviewed experts by common assent acknowledge a range of advantages characteristic to the schools of the biggest cities/towns of Latvia in respect of providing a higher quality of education. Analysis of the results of the International Civic Education Studies, in which Latvian adolescents also took part, explicitly demonstrate the significance of the family education level and urban environment. The bigger the town in which the parents of the students live and the higher the education level of the family members, the better the knowledge of the students. Even if a mother and father are not graduates of institutions of higher education, the museums, theatres, cinemas, libraries, internet cafes and wide range of friends and acquaintances is an advantage for children living in cities".

This is confirmed by Jānis Eglītis, Principal of Preiļi State Secondary School, in the study on the results of the centralized examinations for 2002.

Municipal education policy

General education will remain one of the priorities of both small and large municipalities. Pursuant to the order of the Secretariat to the Minister of Special Assignment for Public Reforms in June, 2002, *SKDS* carried out a survey among Latvian residents to find out their opinions on performance of municipalities and the administrative territorial reform (SKDS, 2002). Respondents were asked to evaluate to what extent they were satisfied with the work of the municipalities in education, social care, public information, and the working style of the municipal Councils.

More than a half of the respondents were not satisfied with the work of municipalities. However, the respondents expressed less critical comments when evaluating the quality of education. The authors noted that, as the level of education among respondents increased, they were more concerned about the ability of municipalities to provide education. Overall, people in cities and towns are were more demanding in

Field	Satisfied (all respondents)	Satisfied (in rural areas)
Education	40.7%	47.4%
Social care	29.4%	37.5%
Informing people about the work of municipalities	29.8%	39.3%
Working style of municipalities	24.2%	33.7%

Table 4. Performance of Municipalities. Source: SKDS, 2002

respect to the quality of services than people living in rural areas. According to regions, people in Kurzeme were most dissatisfied with the quality of education.

"Would you like your children to stay and work in the territory of your local municipality after graduation?" The answers to this question outline the current trends and point to the necessity to speed up reform. The respondents who had school-age children in their families answered this question. Only 16% of the people living in rural areas answered positively and 47% expressed their willingness not to move away if they had an appropriate job. However, 28% clearly stated: "No, they have no future if they remain there..." In Latgale the survey results were more dramatic, as only 6.5% of the respondents wanted their children to stay in the countryside, but 31.9% of respondents hoped for their children to leave their native place.

The main conclusions from the *SKDS* survey are as follows:

- The work of local municipalities received quite a negative evaluation; very few people were satisfied with the work of local municipalities in the areas of education and social care. Only every fifth respondent was satisfied with how effectively local municipalities had used allocated budget resources.
- There is a real threat that the population in rural areas will decline to the point of being dysfunctional. Only 16% of the respondents from the countryside were confident that their children would remain in the local municipality. Twice as many respondents had a clear-cut opinion that

their children should leave the local municipality, because they would have no future perspective, if they remained there. If adding those respondents who could not give definite answers, ²/₃ of all respondents were aware that their children might move away.

The outcome of the survey show that speeding up or delaying reform is closely linked to the existence or non-existence of the Latvian countryside.

"Despite the fact that the opportunities of many rural schools to provide competitive education are very questionable, in many places they are kept alive at any cost. Only last year [in 2000 – author], out of 504 primary schools in Latvia, in 161 the number of students was less than 100. According to A. Tabuns, the explanation is very simple — in small communities the persons employed in schools are almost the only tax payers and therefore their work forms the basis for the financial existence of the municipal Council." (Nagle, 2001.)

Financing of education

Despite the fact that education was announced as one of the state priorities and financing for education is gradually increasing, more than half of the people in Latvia are not satisfied with the quality of general and vocational education. In 1999, 15.1% out of all the state consolidated total budget expenditures (1,732,637 thousand LVL) were spent on education. It was the second largest share of financing following the financing for social insurance and security (35.9%) (ISAP, 2002). The World Bank experts admit

	Number of population (thousands)						Of total	numbe	r (%)	
	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999
Total unemployed persons	83.2	90.8	84.9	111.4	109.5	100	100	100	100	100
Of which with education:										
higher	4.9	5.5	5.2	7.6	7.8	5.9	6.0	6.1	6.8	7.1
secondary specialized	17.5	19.4	18.4	23.8	23.4	21.1	21.3	21.7	21.4	21.4
vocational	10.3	13.2	13.9	18.5	19.4	12.3	14.6	16.3	16.6	17.7
secondary general	28.4	30.3	25.6	34.8	33.8	34.1	33.4	30.2	31.3	30.9
primary and unfinished primary	22.1	22.4	21.8	26.6	25.1	26.6	24.7	25.7	23.9	22.9

Table 5. Unemployed Persons by Education Background (at end of the year). Source: CSP, 2000

that the poor quality of education is not directly the result of a lack of financing. The share of expenditures for education in the gross domestic product has been increasing from 4.0% in 1993 to 6.0% in 1998 (average in Western countries is 6%). In 1995, the expenditures for education from the state and local government budgets were 158.4 million LVL. 72% were used for salaries and social taxes, 26% were used for the maintenance of educational institutions: for communications, expenditures for regular and capital renovations, expenditures for heating, lighting, purchasing fuel, etc. Only 2% out of the total expenditures for education were used to improve the process of education. In Western countries the proportion between those three positions of expenditures is on the average 80, 10 and 10 per cent, respectively. If Latvia had a similar expenditure proportion, an additional 25.3 million LVL could be used for improving the quality of education annually. Therefore, by spending on education as much as in the European countries, the quality of education in Latvia would not increase but, contrary to the expected, dangerously fluctuate or even decrease.

The difference between the outcome of the education system and the labor market, which most probably is one of the main reasons of dissatisfaction with educational issues among the population, was discussed in the United Nations publication *Latvia: Human Development Report*, published in 1997 (UNDP, 1997: 95). Nevertheless, the "production" of the unemployed still continues in the institutions both of vocational and secondary education.

Good, popular schools provide not only an opportunity for the children to receive a sought-after education, but also a certain financial stability for the respective municipality. In 2002, the income of the Dobele municipality from the inter-municipality settlements on the services provided by education institutions is projected to amount to 137,000 LVL, about 5% of its total annual budget or 8.6% of the education expenditure. However, the amount of the inter-municipality settlements per student as stated by the Cabinet is smaller than the actual amount required for the maintenance and development of education institutions. Today it could be admitted that the teaching of the students from other municipalities is beneficial only if the maintenance costs of education institutions approximate the annual limit in the amount of 126 LVL for institutions of general education, 346 LVL for pre-school institutions, 105 LVL for evening and extramural education institutions (MK 250, 1999). These figures could be approximated mostly by schools that manage to use energy resources (heating, power, etc.) effectively and where no major investments should be made for capital repairs and remuneration of support staff. Moreover, the premises of these institutions should be sufficiently utilized (loaded). The application of these criteria will become more problematic for many rural schools - both the schools built in Soviet times with no consideration as to space efficiency and those located in castles and former estates.

The mayor of any municipality will admit that education is one of the priorities. However, it is not possible to allocate sufficient resources for the development of the education institutions if the roof leaks, the walls are crooked or the floor is rotten. Of course, the safety of students will be top priority and this will be at the expense of resources for new computers, Internet, laboratories, books, teacher education, etc., and, finally, there is no document that states what exactly the municipalities should provide for each student of the primary or secondary school for the above 126 LVL. The parents are still confused regarding the donations, support funds and similar measures requested by the teachers and facilitated by the municipalities, as the Education Law stipulates an education free of charge both in primary and secondary schools.

The municipalities finance the schools with bigger or smaller co-financing from the state budget. Already today the municipalities allocate 40–60% of their total budget to the municipal education institutions. However, most schools in Latvia cannot be considered modern education institutions in comparison with those in the developed countries. We cannot reasonably expect that in the nearest future the municipal expenditures for education could increase, therefore we should seek possibilities for more effective use of existing resources.

The World Bank experts refer to inefficient use of resources in education as regards uneconomical use of energy supply and control, as well as unproductive use of facilities and human resources. If compared to countries with highly developed education systems in Western Europe and North America, the average area in square meters per student at school is nearly twice

School	Students	LVL
1. Auce Secondary School	934	204.60
2. Augstkalne Secondary School	247	245.25
3. Bēne Secondary School	314	247.84
4. Dobele City Gymnasium I	506	222.30
5. Dobele Secondary School No. 1	1,038	181.07
6. Dobele Secondary School	453	212.63
7. Annenieki Primary School	144	300.33
8. Auri Primary School	97	327.08
9. A.Brigadere Primary School	303	216.67
10. Bēne Primary School	79	377.76
11. Bērze Primary School	119	375.49
12. Biksti Primary School	151	218.34
13. Bukaiši Primary School	158	253.73
14. Dobele Christian Primary School	228	199.60
15. Gardene Primary School	151	227.66
16. Île Primary School	90	298.44
17. Krimūna Primary School	151	283.24
18. Lejasstrazdi Primary School	121	402.13
19. Lielauce Primary School	98	347.32
20. Mežinieki Primary School	152	245.63
21. Naudīte Primary School	146	265.97
22. Penkule Primary School	147	261.60
23. Tērvete Primary School	202	210.50
24. Ukri Primary School	52	438.86
25. Zebrene Primary School	95	301.17
26. Dobele Lower Primary School	212	186.26
27. Evening Secondary School	295	160.64

 Table 6. Target Subsidies to the Schools of Dobele District in 2001 (per child). Source: Information of the Education Department of Dobele district

as big in Latvia. In Latvia the expenditures on heating and lighting are more than two times higher as in Western countries with a similar environment.

The state target subsidies for teacher salaries are also not allocated evenly. The situation is worth considering even within one district. In schools with a big number of students per class, there are less state funds used in teacher salaries for the education of one child. In Dobele Secondary School No. 1, where the average number of children per class is 26, the state financing for the teacher salaries in 2002 was 191.50 LVL and the municipal financing 40.30 LVL. In Dobele Gymnasium I (average number of students per class - 29), state financing is 219.50 LVL and the municipal financing 55.20 LVL (with special support for the payment for lessons). The comparison of the amount of the target subsidies per student allocated to the schools of the Dobele district in 2001 is provided in Table 6.

The above table vividly demonstrates that the schools with smaller number of students receive more state financing for teacher salaries. Of course, these figures might vary, but not as much as 2.4 times (between the Ukri Primary School and Dobele Secondary School No. 1). Are these comparatively high expenses for salaries together with the considerable municipal financing adequate for the significance of the small schools? Can we speak about an effective school in this respect? At the same time, what would the few teachers do in a municipality if they stayed without work, and what would become of the school building if there would be no school any more? Would some of the school-age children not remain without education at all if the nearby school is closed? To postpone the possibility of the closing of schools at least for some time, given that the number of newborn children in the municipality is decreasing and part of the children go to the city/town schools, the schools have started to form combined classes. Thereby the total number of state-financed lessons also decreases, along with the required number of teachers in such schools. The city/town schools offer jobs for those teachers from rural areas who are able to make their way to the respective school, or they provide these teachers better living conditions in the respective city/ town.

In the last five years, the number of teachers in the rural schools has been decreasing. Today, the Dobele district needs 10% less teachers than in 1996.

To receive a salary at least for one workload in the amount of 130 LVL (gross), the experienced teachers with higher education that have remained in rural schools often have to teach several subjects, which is normal in rural areas throughout the world. Unless it is a part of teacher training, it may mitigate the quality of teacher effectiveness. The situation becomes more complicated if combined classes are to be taught. The preparation for such lessons is more time-consuming, it requires special teaching methods, and not all teachers would willingly agree to such terms. The combined classes are a relatively new phenomenon in the major part of primary schools in Latvia. In the best case, most parents have only heard about them. Most of the teachers have never studied to work with combined classes and have not done so for a longer period of time. Starting work with such a class, there could be a situation where the teacher does not have sufficient materials and pre-printed exercise books to facilitate individual work. The teacher could also run short of new methods in complex situations. In teachers' colleges there are no special courses both for students and working teachers. At present, this area of education is within the competency of the teachers themselves. Therefore, it is difficult to say whether the approved standard of basic education can be completely mastered in such classes, not even speaking of the opportunity to develop students' creativity or to direct them towards any kind of research. We have observed that parents do not believe that their children will receive good education if attending combined classes or trust in that the school will continue to exist in the nearest future. As a result, the schools are reorganized and closed. During the last three years the number of general education institutions has decreased by 29 schools and the number of students by 9,440 (IZM, 2002b).

In turn, the municipalities of district centres with a large network of education institutions and a consid-

erable number of teachers can expect stable income from the state subsidized personal income tax, demand for vacancies for teachers and stability in the general level of education of the population. For example, in 2002, the teachers in Dobele (less than 5% of the number of the able-bodied population) bring about 92,000 LVL to the municipal budget, which is about 6.2% of the total income tax of the town. Stable jobs and salaries are also ensured for the support staff of education institutions. The salaries of the people working in the education institutions are spent on paying for the services provided by the municipality (rent, utilities, health care, etc.), as well as for purchasing various goods. Accordingly, these salaries return to the municipality in the form of various taxes and income. However, the Cabinet Regulations On Minimum Costs of Implementation of General Primary and Secondary Education Programs per Student (annually) (MK 399, 2001), as well as other legislation state the procedure for calculation of teachers' salaries, and the municipality is not able to considerably influence this process. The Town/City Councils of the district centres and in some places also the Councils of rural municipalities decide on the allocation of a municipal bonus (additional payment) to the salary of the managers of the education institutions or to the teachers of certain subjects that are difficult to find by offering the salary calculated in accordance with the state-determined procedure. In addition to the state allocated funds, the municipalities may assign special funds for teachers' salaries, for example, for division of classes in groups, extra-curricular work, remuneration for the work of a social educator. However, this amount does not have a material impact on the salary received by each teacher.

Within the existing system of remuneration, the number of students in a class or the work with combined classes have no considerable impact on salary. It does not matter if in a rural school class there are 8 students and in a district centre school 34 students. The salaries of the respective teachers are similar. However, in big schools a teacher has an opportunity to work more than one workload, correct more exercise-books, work with a bigger class, etc., hence, to receive a bigger salary. The urban environment with larger cultural opportunities and better living conditions might be more attractive to teachers.

Education quality – supply not meeting demand

As the development of Latvia might be mostly based on the activities of well-educated people rather than on a rapid growth of industry and agriculture, the education system should provide quality, accessible education for everybody. The basis for the above is highly qualified teachers - teachers who are well familiar with traditional methods and are also open to the introduction of various innovations in school, who can actually work democratically rather than only speak of the meaning of democracy, who want and are able to master the world experience and pass it over to children. The parents expect that a modern education institution should have modern physics, biology and foreign language, as well as other subject rooms; that there are modern sports facilities with gymnasium, stadium and swimming-pool in the school; that the school has well-equipped premises for various extra-curricular activities (for example, theatre, ball-room dancing, technical innovations), a good canteen and café, a modern library - information centre, computers with the Internet access for all students, and wide co-operation network both in Latvia and all over the world; that the school provides an opportunity to participate in school life for everybody. The parents expect that children with special needs would be able to learn in such a school. Such school would be accessible already for pre-school children; the local population would also be able to use it for their further education and leisure time organization. A good school would definitely develop and implement education programs based on the needs of children and taking into consideration the directions of the development of the country.

Rural school principals admit that parents are often satisfied with the primary classes in the nearby school. However, starting from grades 5, 6 or 7, they want to send their children to the city/town schools. They believe that in the new schools there will be more qualified teachers of foreign languages, physics, chemistry and mathematics; that there will be good education provided in information sciences, and the internet, gymnasium; and that other opportunities will also be available. Many schoolchildren from rural areas still spend a considerable part of the day on their way to and from school. To get to a school that is five to six kilometers far away and back home, 1.5–2 hours a day might be necessary. If the school had its own bus, in this time the student could go a distance of even 80–100 kilometers, not speaking of the secondary school at a distance of, for example, 30 kilometers.

State education management

The report Analysis of the State Education Policy in Latvia prepared by OECD experts in 2000 (OECD, 2001), notes "There is no efficient regional management structure in Latvia, which, to a great extent, impacts the possibilities to decrease serious social and economic differences among the regions in Latvia". According to the OECD task group, several gradual changes have taken place in the education in Latvia, but very few reforms on strategic issues. During the visit, experts repeatedly stressed issues related to fragmentation, lack of coherence, too-deep specialization and lack of reporting within the whole system. Despite the legislative stipulations, reform cannot be based only on projects and innovations in education. If it is not embedded in the existing real life of Latvia and if it does not relate to the common future vision of Latvia, the reform will remain on the level of a legislative abstraction, and in the worst case, it will create an unacceptable and irritating competition for survival among schools. There is a common understanding that there is also a need for a national vision. The lack of such vision limits strategic thinking, planning and political leadership. The formulation of the vision would result in the long-sought unification to succeed with the reform efforts. The vision would strengthen the loyalty of the society to the government and sustain national unity for joining the EU.

In terms of decentralization in education, experts believe that increased local control is needed, though it will not provide the Ministry with efficient solution on the accountability of the municipalities on the quality of the education provided. Decentralization without the reporting system may work in two opposite directions.

Along with the demographic crisis, the oncoming administrative territorial reform also increases the tension in the situation in education. So far the potential reforms in the network of the education institutions have not been discussed almost at all, the formation of a *novads* (new territorial units established as the result of amalgamation of municipalities) takes place very slowly and the population shows little interest in it.

Within the framework of the project *Public Administration Reform in Latvia* under the EU economic assistance program for Central and East European countries (Phare), recommendations in the sphere of administrative territorial reform have been provided (Phare, 2002). Speaking of the national integration criteria, it was noted that the Law on Administrative Territorial Reform does not provide specific criteria for the establishment of new municipalities. Meanwhile, experts believe that the number of national criteria should not be too big. The criteria should be clearly formulated, objective and easy understandable. One of the criteria recommended by the experts is as follows – the municipality must have a sufficient population to have a secondary school in its territory.

Phare experts recommend decreasing the number of local municipalities to reach the minimum population in the range of 8,000–10,000 people per municipality. The main services – secondary school, general planning, management function – are centralized in the centre of the biggest municipality. All basic services – kindergartens, care for the elderly, etc., will be provided locally. The following additional principles have been stated: the population should be sufficient to maintain a secondary school; the distance to the local municipality centre should not exceed 15 km, etc.

Apart from the municipalities, several agencies are involved in development planning, for example, the Administration of Local Self-Government Affairs, the Latvian Union of Local Self-Governments (LPS) as a non-governmental organization, the company *Pasvaldību audits Ltd.* (*Municipal Audit*) and other authorities. Notwithstanding the fact that from time to time the media offer information on the administrative territorial reform, the majority of the population still cannot formulate their opinion on this issue.

Portal DELFI's conference with Jānis Krūmiņš, Minister of Special Assignment for Public Reforms, (Krūmiņš, 2001) demonstrated that much has to be done in the area of informing the public on the administrative territorial reform, as DELFI visitors consider many issues explained by the Minister – similarly to those discussed many times before – not adequately discussed, but decided among a narrow range of officials. According to BNS news, in the first half of 2002, only one *novads* (district) was established – Vārkava *novads* (district) in Preiļi district.

According to the information provided by the Administration of Local Self-Government Affairs, at the beginning of 2002 there were 552 municipalities in Latvia. 15% of the population live within 71% of municipalities. The average population in a municipality is less than 2000.

The situation causes fragmentation of financial resources and increases the irrational use of the already scarce resources even further.

- Inter-municipality settlements amount to 5.9 million LVL.
- ► 447 municipalities (81%) receive subsidies from the Local Government Financial Equalization Fund.
- Only 208 municipalities (36%) have prepared financial statements for the year 2000 according to legislation.
- Budget income, excluding target subsidies, in 33 municipalities does not exceed 50 thousand LVL.
- In 24 municipalities, the expenditures of municipal authorities and institutions are the same or even higher than their own revenues from taxes.

The future administrative reforms and redistribution of the institutional responsibilities can affect a number of adolescents in Latvia, and especially those attending vocational schools (48,625 students in 2001/2002), schools for students with special needs (10,169 students in 2000/2001), and 4,500 students in 18 boarding schools. In planning for district (*novads*) development, 199 schools with optional student quarters, where currently about 4,800 students are studying, should also be considered.

The Education Law states that once in four years the Cabinet should develop and submit to Saeima for adoption the education development program for the next four years. The Ministry of Education and Science implements the integrated national policy and development strategy in education. In 2002, the Ministry of Education and Science produced the draft education development concept, which until the mid of the year was still not adopted by the Saeima.

The Concept of Education Development for 2002–2005 prepared by the Ministry of Education and Science, the main education policy maker, states that the concept presents a framework for the third phase of the education development for 2002–2005. However, the concept does not mention any oncoming changes either in the school network or during the administrative territorial and regional reform. In the period of the next four years the following tasks should be performed: cooperation with municipalities in rational planning of the school system, an efficient class set of students with maximum slots filled, and providing transportation for rural schools.

Recommendations

Given the above, we conclude that the education system in Latvia is about to face serious changes. The reorganization of the financing of administration and education is stipulated by the administrative territorial reform. The changes are dictated both by the development of democracy and the ominous demographic situation.

The network of education institutions should become effective and meet the modern requirements.

 Politicians should not delay the implementation of administrative change on grounds of public conservatism and resistance to change. The Ministry of Education and Science in co-operation with the agencies responsible for the implementation of the administrative territorial reform and municipalities should implement effective information strategy based on wide involvement of the public, comprehensive and profound analysis of the situation in education and summary of the reform experience both in Latvia and abroad.

- To ensure high quality education management, the government should establish a system for training the managers of the education institutions, politicians, and state and municipal officials in the sphere of education for performing their respective functions.
- 3. We together with local municipalities have to consider the possibility to establish the institution that would design and implement the strategy for education development to foster the social and economic growth of the region.
- 4. The education policy makers should have a much more consistent and responsible attitude towards the content, terms and resources of the planned reforms. While developing standards, development program and laws, we should remember the factors ensuring their implementation human resources, time and such factors as methodological materials for the work with the combined classes and the further education of teachers. Furthermore, all innovations should be explained to the parents to ensure that their requirements match those of the school and the children do not feel confused, misunderstood and sometimes also abandoned in this complex environment.
- 5. Implementing the administrative territorial reform, the system of the bilateral financing of the education institutions should be reviewed, since such system does not facilitate an effective use of funds. The responsibility for the network of the education institutions and teachers remuneration should lie with one authority.
- 6. The reform of teachers' salaries should be continued by increasing the salaries at least up to the average salary level in the country, to ensure a situation where new teachers would want to work at school. This could be achieved by increasing the

teacher/student ratio and approximating it with the level of the OECD countries.

- 7. Upon establishing bigger municipalities and thus indirectly "centralizing" state funds, an opportunity should be provided to the municipality to make more comprehensive decisions on the use of its budget and it should be fully responsible for the provision of qualitative education services to the population.
- In-service and pre-service teacher training should be matched to the implementation requirements of educational programs. Sufficient state and local municipality funding should be allocated for the inservice teacher training programs.
- 9. To ensure the accessibility of education, the infrastructure should be developed all over Latvia. Following the progress of new technologies, the development of Internet connection and use should be facilitated, especially in the countryside. The rural road development program demands the most attention, as it offers an opportunity to get to any populated place in Latvia in any season. The maintenance of the access roads of farmsteads should be ensured, as well as the provision of stable telecommunications for prices compliant with the income level of the population and power supply, and the accessibility of health-care to ensure the safety of the population at any place of residence.

References

BNS (2002). *Desmit gadu laikā Latvijā cilvēku skaits sarūk par 12%*. Portāls DELFI, Rīga 01.11.2002, http://www.delfi.lv (retrieved 01.11.2002).

CSP (2000). *Latvijas Statistikas gadagrāmata 2000*. Rīga: Latvijas Republikas Centrālā statistikas pārvalde, CD formāts.

ISAP (2002). *Situācijas raksturojums*. Pasaules Banka, Izglītības un zinātnes ministrija. Izglītības sistēmas attīstības projekts. Izmaksu efektivitātes apakšprogramma, http:// isap.izm.lv/lat/izmefektap-sr.html (retrieved 10.10.2002).

IZM (2002a). Izglītības un zinātnes ministrija. Izglītības attīstības koncepcija 2002.–2005. gadam. Projekts. Izglītības un zinātnes ministrija, Rīga, http://www.politika.lv/ index.php?id=102726&lang=lv (retrieved 12.08.2002).

IZM (2002b). Statistika. Vispārējā izglītība – pamatizglītības iestādes, vispārējās vidējās izglītības iestādes, speciālās izglītības iestādes izglītības un zinātnes ministrija, Rīga, http://www.izm.lv/lv/default.htm (retrived 20.07.2002).

Krūmiņš J. (2001). Jānis Krūmiņš: es katru nedēļu tiekoties ar lauku iedzīvotājiem, skaidroju reformu. Portāls DELFI, Rīga, http://www.delfi.lv/archive/article.php?id=1755649 (retrieved 05.09.2001).

Linns J. (2002). Nepietiekamu zināšanu draudi // Diena, 21.02.2002.

MK 250 (1999). Ministru kabineta noteikumi nr. 250 "Kārtība, kādā veicami pašvaldību savstarpējie norēķini par izglītības iestāžu vai sociālās aprūpes iestāžu sniegtajiem pakalpojumiem" // Latvijas Vēstnesis, 16.07.1999. MK 399 (2001). Ministru kabineta noteikumi nr. 399. Noteikumi par vispārējās pamatizglītības un vispārējās vidējās izglītības programmu īstenošanas izmaksu minimumu uz vienu izglītojamo // Latvijas Vēstnesis, 10.10.2001.

Nagle G. (2001). Labākās skolas! Patiešām? // Diena, 01.09.2001.

OECD (2001). Valsts izglītības politikas analīze Latvijā. Ekspertu ziņojums. Rīga: OECD, Phare.

Phare (2002). *Jaunu pašvaldību veidošanās stimuli. Phare rekomendācijas.* Pašvaldību lietu pārvalde, Rīga, http:// www.plp.lv/lv/atr-phare-rekomendacijas.html (retrieved 20.09.2002).

PLP (2002). Ziņojums par pašvaldību administratīvi teritoriālā iedalījuma projektu. Projekts 102. Pašvaldību lietu pārvalde, Rīga, http://www.plp.lv/lv/atr-projekts-102.html (retrieved 28.10.2002).

SKDS (2001). Latvijas iedzīvotāju aptauja par attieksmi pret pašvaldību darbu un administratīvi teritoriālo reformu. Pašvaldību lietu pārvalde, Rīga, http://www.plp.lv (retrieved 10.08.2002).

UNDP (1997). *Latvija. Pārskats par tautas attīstību 1997.* Rīga: UNDP Apvienoto Nāciju Organizācijas Attīstības programma.

The Social Correction System

Rita Nīkrence, Liene Ūbele and Ņina Lobanovska (Reform School "Strautiņi")

Summary

As part of the Soviet Union, juvenile delinquency in Latvia was limited because the level of social control was so complete. But independence and democracy are associated with personal freedom. But along with this new set of choices have come major new economic and social challenges. Today a high percentage of the Latvian population suffers from unemployment and poverty. There are many new family and personal problems and stresses. These have taken their toll on children and youth. Today, ten per cent of those who are sentenced by courts are minors. The most common crimes are theft, rowdyism and robbery. When released from reform schools, one out of three commit a new crime.

This paper studies the problem of children and youth who suffer from pedagogical and social deficiencies and, because of interruptions in schooling, are significantly behind their age cohort. The paper concludes that, based on the Soviet experience, Latvia's infrastructure available to serve this increasing population is totally inadequate. It analyzes the problem and its sources, and makes recommendations to solve them. Among its recommendations is the suggestion that a modern system of social correction needs to include two new things: correction classes in normal educational institutions to prevent crimes before they happen, and increasing educational opportunities for those who are released from reform schools and who need special attention for a successful re-integration into society. The paper explores ways in which these improvements can be made in a feasible and affordable manner.

Introduction

For the last couple of years the problem of juvenile delinquency has become more severe, and in it can soon be qualified as child delinquency, because, according to statistics, young adults accused of juvenile delinquency are of younger age year by year, though they have not reached 14 years of age, yet.

In the beginning of the 90-ies all special reform schools in Latvia were closed down. Unfortunately, the closure of reform schools and the dismissal of the Juvenile Delinquency Commission were not followed by endeavors from authorities and governmental institutions to renew or to establish a new legal and pedagogical impact system, which would correspond to the experience of the civilized world and which would allow to decrease and prevent juvenile delinquency at the stage when it still has not grown to punishable crimes or other social pathologies.





At present there are three social correction schools under supervision of the Ministry of Education and Science. On September 1st, 1996 the reform school (RS) "Strautini" was opened in Alūksne district for boys from age 11 to 15. On July 1998 the reform school "Naukseni" was opened in Valmiera district for girls from age 11 to 16. On 25 December, 2001 the reform school "Pilcene" was opened in the Rēzekne district, for boys from age 15 to 18. Students are sent to those schools according to decision of the court and by the directive from the Ministry of Education and Science.

Since the social correction schools were established until January 1^{st} , 2001, 256 students have resided at and left those schools: 236 from RS "Strautini" and 20 from RS "Naukšēni". 22 schoolchildren out of 256 received certificates for completing the primary education. Others had to continue their studies in general schools from Grade 5 to Grade 9. After making enquiries on further education of those schoolchildren and their fortune, we stated that 1/3 or 85 students were not continuing their education.

Problem

In Latvia there is no social and pedagogical correction system for providing education to schoolchildren with different social and pedagogical problems.

The characteristics and trends of juvenile delinquency

According to statistics on the crime rate, a young adult commits every **seventh** crime and every **tenth** sentenced individual is a young adult.

Young adults have entered nearly all delinquency rates. However, some types of delinquency have become especially "popular" among young adults, and they are theft, rowdyism, and robbery.

Juvenile delinquency has been instigated by a number of specific conditions – adverse tendencies characterized by low income in families, incomplete activities of special institutions, and a direct impact of the delinquent environment on young adults, bringing them into juvenile delinquency. Based on expert studies in the field, it can be concluded that generally young adults who do not study or work get involved in juvenile delinquency.

	1998		1999		2000		2001	
	Cases	% of total						
Homicide	10	4.2	10	4.7	14	6.4		0.25
Assault	9	2.1	16	3.7	15	3.5		1.4
Sexual assault	9	10.8	11	10.9	13	9.7		_
Robbery	69	11.3	232	8.9	219	6.9	1	6.12
Theft	3,312	15.4	2,713	11.0	2,725	9.5		68.5
Rowdyism	281	22.8	202	17.1	215	16.5		4.9

Table 1. The structure of juvenile delinquency rate 1998–2001. Source: The State Police, 2002

	1998	1999	2000	2001
Total delinquency commited by:	3,030	2,712	3,134	3,987
Schoolchildren	939	1,297	1,649	_
Individuals neither studying nor working	1,539	1,147	1,130	1,947
% of total neither studying nor working	51	42	36	

Table 2. Juvenile delinquency according to their status. Source: The State Police, 2002

Comparing the statistical data on the period for the last three years and the first six months in 2002 shows that juvenile delinquency has a tendency to decrease. During the first six months of this year, young adults were registered in 1,731 delinquencies, i.e., 252 cases less than in the first half of 2001. However, the data show only those cases in which the offenders have been identified. It should be noted that currently only 40% of juvenile delinquency cases are resolved.¹

According to the Penal Law in Latvia, young adults are exempt from criminal punishment in cases when the criminal offence is not of an extremely dangerous character, and it is possible to apply correction methods instead of criminal punishment.

As a result, it can be concluded that young adults who have not reached 14 years of age cannot be called to account for a criminal offence, and a number of potential criminals whose offense is targeted at somebody's property or life stay without punishment by the time they become of age. Making a reprimand is too little for such juvenile offenders. Official statistics reports show that juvenile delinquency is growing. However, the real amount of juvenile delinquency is much higher because the majority of thefts are not reported. In a number of cases, the victims who have suffered from juvenile offenders are of the same age (classmates, friends, acquaintances, young adults attending discotheques, etc.), and they conceal and do not share with anyone about what has happened.

In the majority of cases young adults:

- do not trust the police, because they think the police are not able to defend them;
- ➤ are afraid of the offenders' revenge;
- there are very few cases when the offenders are caught and punished (young adults know that).

The incomplete legislation in Latvia affects delinquent children and young adults as they approach the criminal environment. Due to these imperfections, young adults develop a sense of non-liability and impunity, encouraging further delinquent behavior, which causes more serious offences with more severe

Age	16 years	15 years	14 years	13 years	12 years	Total
Proper grade	Grade 9–10	Grade 8–9	Grade 8–7	Grade 7–6	Grade 5	
Actual grade	Grade 1 – 1 Grade 4 – 2 Grade 6 – 4 Grade 8 – 2 Grade 9 – 3	Grade 4 – 1 Grade 5 – 2 Grade 6 – 6 Grade 7 – 4 Grade 8 – 3 Grade 9 – 2	Grade 1 – 1 Grade 4 – 2 Grade 5 – 7 Grade 6 – 8 Grade 7 – 6 Grade 8 – 2	Grade 3 – 1 Grade 6 – 1 Grade 7 – 3	Grade 5 – 1	
Total	12	18	26	5	1	62
Not corresponding to the age of a grade	9	13	18	1	_	41 (66.1%)

 Table 3. Correspondence of schoolchildren's age to the grade in 2001/2002.
 Source: Reform school "Strautiņi", 2002

¹ Vilks, A. Urgent Financial Support Needed To Decrease Juvenile Delinquency. Neatkarīgā Rīta Avīze, August 6, 2002.

punishment (which, in fact, is dealing with consequences instead of causes).

If young adults were stopped in their decline at the right time, learning about the reasons why the first offence, not a criminal one, yet, was made, there would be better opportunities to decrease delinquency.

According to the statistics, the number of serious criminal offences committed by young adults increases. Characterizing the tendencies of juvenile delinquency, A. Lieljuksis, the ex-Chief of the State Police, states that "..as a rule, juvenile delinquency is characterized by a total lack of motivation and serious cruelty."

The characteristics of schoolchildren at social correction schools

Juvenile delinquents are sent to reform schools (RS) in accordance with court rulings and decisions of the Ministry of Education and Science.

Assigning juvenile delinquents to reform schools is a coercive measure.

Summarizing data on 1999–2002, we can draw the conclusion that the children assigned to reform schools fall into the following groups.

They are children with pedagogical and social deficiencies who have long-term interruptions in studies and therefore their age differs from other classmates. In six years, nine 14 to 16 years old illiterates entered the school. When compared to the last three years the correspondence of schoolchildren's ages to the age schoolchildren should have in a certain grade, we noted that 66% of schoolchildren are of an age, which does not correspond to the age schoolchildren should normally have in a certain grade. The majority of schoolchildren who have age differences study in Grade 7 to 9.

Division of schoolchildren according to the place of residence (academic year 2001/2002) – 40% come from rural areas and 60% from cities/towns.

The majority of schoolchildren from cities/towns are children speaking Russian. Only 10% of schoolchildren from rural areas are non-Latvians.



Figure 2. Schoolchildren according to the place of residence in 2002/2003. Source: Reform school "Strautiņi", 2002



Figure 3. Schoolchildren according to the family status in 2002/2003. Source: Reform school "Strautiņi", 2002

At present a public opinion is being developed on reform schools being overloaded and lacking capacity to provide enough places. As a result, it has been recommended to open new reform schools to improve the criminal environment. However, the real situation differs, as the number of schoolchildren in reform schools decreases every year.

61



Figure 4. Schoolchildren according to family status in 2002/2003. Source: Reform school "Strautiņi", 2002

Also, the number of schoolchildren at RS "Naukšēni" is not more than 23.

What are the reasons?

External factors:

1. **Introducing alternative punishments.** Alternative punishments are accommodated to adolescents – they have to do some community work for a fixed number of hours, depending on the seriousness of the offence.

2. **Courts in Latvia overloaded with work.** The Juvenile Delinquency Inspection pass over all the

investigation material to the court. However, it takes quite a long time and sometimes it takes up to a year for the court to resolve a case. During this period of time, the young adult has made a new and even more serious offence for which the punishment is also more serious – the AIN in Cēsis or prison.

3. It has been already mentioned – young adults can be called to account for criminal offence only when they are 14 years of age, and for minor offences they are not punished.

Internal factors:

1. In reform schools the group of schoolchildren is diverse – schoolchildren shirking school, undisciplined children, criminal offenders (both having made an offence towards property or life); they can exchange peculiar experiences, and, instead of improving and becoming useful members of the society, at reform schools young adults acquire new ways and methods they can apply in committing new offences when they return to regular life from reform schools.

2. While a child is listed at the reform school, neither psychological, nor any other assistance is given to the family. As a result, the child does not receive any information about his/her family for a long time, and in turn, the family is not prepared to receive the child at home after reform school. When the time at reform school is over, the children return to the same environment they were separated from. The environment (in most cases it is of social risk) has not changed, and

Diagnosis	Year 1999		Year	2000	Year 2001		
	quantity	percentage	quantity	percentage	quantity	percentage	
1. Infected by tuberculosis	23	26%	17	22%	12	17%	
2. Neurasthenia, neurosis	39	45%	28	36%	35	49%	
3. Enuresis	19	22%	7	9%	8	11%	
4. Skin diseases	23	26%	14	18%	8	11%	
5. Furunculosis	34	39%	21	27%	21	29%	
6. Epileptic attacks	_	_	2	3%	1	1.4%	
7. Toxicomania	18	21%	25	32%	11	15%	
8. Drug addiction	3	3%	8	10%	6	8.3%	
9. F-91.2 (behavior disorders)	32	37%	50	65%	34	47.2%	
10. Mentally retarded	7	8%	11	14.3%	10	13%	

Table 4. Schoolchildren with health problems. Source: Reform school "Strautiņi"

it does not take too long when the "reformed" youngster reverts to the criminal environment.

A survey conducted at the reform school "Strautini" showed that thefts made by schoolchildren were correlated with distorted social behavior such as unwillingness to study, shirking school, roaming, and conflicts at school and home. The most-often-mentioned reason for shirking school was unwillingness to study (60%); one third of respondents stated that they had conflicts with teachers, and every fifth respondent mentioned that he was teased either because of bad study performance, or because of his clothing. 22% of boys said that they were not able to fit into another school mainly in boarding schools. Research on motivation for students to study detected that 60% of students had no motivation to study. Another basic reason for roaming was conflicts in the family: emotional conflicts because of quarrels between the parents, alcoholism, or because of the stepfather. Many of them have suffered from violence. Practically all students had underdeveloped social skills. Delinguent behavior was a form of reaction to an abnormal situation that happened in an adolescent life.

Research reveals that the majority of juvenile delinquency cases are committed by boys (90%–93%). Therefore, the social phenomena described by the term "juvenile delinquency" in fact is crime committed by men.

Adolescent girls are involved in thefts. Legal offences done by them often are associated with the lifestyle of adolescent groups with asocial characteristics: roaming, provocations of conflict situations.

Reform schools work according to the same basic study program as general schools and already for the second year there is a social correction education program.

When a student enters a reform school, he/she is taken under supervision and nursing by an experienced educator and psychologist who carryies out complete diagnostics for each child and develops an individual social and pedagogical correction program for every student. Step by step the motivation to study and interests in studies are raised among students; adolescents are taught to read, write and to study the



Figure 5. Number of students at the reform school "Strautiņi". Source: Reform school "Strautiņi", 2002

primary education program, which they have not completed because of not attending school. Boys and girls are taught to trust adults. All try to solve their problems. Adolescents receive medical aid necessary for treating alcoholism, drug addiction, toxicomania and other diseases. Provision of rich and balanced nutrition at this period of age is also very essential for the physical development of an adolescent. However, after leaving the reform school and returning to the previous environment, adolescents feel quite a hostile attitude from their ex-classmates. The type of learning offered by general schools is different from the study process at reform schools. An adolescent starts to feel discomfort, threat and the trust to own success is lost, which results in leaving school and studies forever. As a result, 30% of all adolescents return back to the streets and later find themselves in prison.

Approximately one third of students from reform schools return to the dock. After leaving reform schools, adolescents remain under the supervision of the Juvenile Delinquency Inspection only for a half of a year. If during this time adolescents are not receiving the necessary help in solving their social problems and they have not been offered relevant educational institutions, adolescents interrupt their studies and continue the same way of life they started before.

At reform schools schoolchildren develop a variety of professional working skills (for example, locksmith, plumber, ceramist, gardener, etc.), which give them direction for choosing a future profession. In the academic year 2000/2001, there were only two vocational schools admitting schoolchildren with a seventh-grade education and, in addition to general education, giving an opportunity to learn a profession.

According to information submitted by educational institutions, in the academic year 1999/2000, only 11 districts of Latvia had schools with pedagogical correction classes, and the majority of those schools were located either in regional centres or in Riga. The number of correction classes increased during the academic year 2001/2002. At present, schools in 20 administrative districts of Latvia have pedagogical correction classes.

The task for a pedagogical correction class is to provide pedagogically social conditions for obtaining the mandatory basic education and ensuring every student the most appropriate kind of pedagogical and/or social aid, which would give the best results for a student in his/her study process and development.

Which are the factors impeding the pedagogical correction process at schools?

- Insufficient financing from the government and local authorities for obtaining study materials, for organizing extramural work, and for maintaining the classrooms;
- Irresponsibility from parents in solving social issues and issues related to education of children;
- Inappropriate professional qualifications of educators and inappropriate qualification for teaching in pedagogical correction classes;
- Insufficient help on a regular basis and in time from a social educator, social worker from the local authority, psychologist in education and speech therapist working with students and their parents;
- Deputy principals and educators have insufficient experience working with pedagogical correction education programs;

- Insufficient information and exchange of experience between educational institutions;
- > Lack of experience for working in combined classes.

It is important to mention that some adults are not able to adapt to the new social order. They are not able to overcome the consumer complex, and they are not ready to live independently in the constantly changing environment where individuals must take full responsibility for their success and failure.

Escape from reality in a form of depression, apathy or idleness, and arguments against the government show an attitude transferred from parents to children. A growing number of individuals in need of social aid have emerged as a result of such "upbringing", and today they intensively reproduce (the birth-rate in risk families has a trend to increase, while in regular families the birth-rate decreases).

Improvement of the educational process at school is one solution. Implementation of the Pedagogical Correction Education Program has started; it has been adopted by the Ministry of Education and Science on May 3, 2000 based on Instruction No. 295. Successful introduction of the program in schools depends not only on school management, but mainly on the local authorities and their possibilities and interest in taking part in financing the pedagogical correction education program (providing schoolchildren with textbooks, compilations of games for personal development and exercises, exercise-books and, if necessary, providing students with clothing and foot-wear, free lunches and for purchasing audio and video technology for the school).

Educational Opportunities

The majority of schoolchildren who are assigned to reform schools and pedagogical correction classes come from risk groups, i.e., risk families, single-parent families, socially disadvantaged families or from families where one of the parents or both have been sentenced. Approximately 3% of adolescents are illiterate, and they cannot even write their names.

According to the statistics in Latvia, only 0.3% of adults are illiterate. According to the world education survey, among 20 European countries, Latvia ranks second after Estonia with 0.2% adult illiterates. In other European countries this indicator is worse, for example, in Greece 3.3% of adults are illiterate.

In Latvia functional illiteracy is growing, and it impedes on an individual's social involvement in society, therefore we cannot be too satisfied with the low illiteracy indicator.

Illiteracy has resulted from an imperfect education system, because educational opportunities should be provided to all social groups. Since 1990 the most serious concern has been the growing number of schoolchildren not attending schools.

The analysis of the UNICEF mission report shows that the total of schoolchildren aged 7–15 not attending schools ranges between 5–7%. It includes 15% boys who at the age of seven do not start school, and approximately 7% boys who leave school before finishing Grade 9. 25% of young adults aged 16–18 do not attend any educational institution.

With an incomplete census in Latvia and based on the data gathered by different non-governmental organizations and the Ministry of Education and Science, 12–26 thousand children and young adults are assumed not to attend school.

School is instrumental in a way the state can influence the quality development of children. The Education Law states that children up to 15 years of age have a mandatory period of schooling, after which the school has the rights to discontinue educating young adults if they are not capable or do not want to continue studies. In sum, if schoolchildren leave school after they are 15 years of age, the state discontinues holding any obligations towards them. There are different institutions and civil servants in charge of the further course of development of young adults, one of them being the orphan court and the county court.

The school has legal rights to discontinue schooling of 15 year-old schoolchildren on the condition that the orphan court has secured employment. However, information on the procedure of signing a job agreement with minors is not available. It is not easy to find jobs for minors, because they do not have professional knowledge and skills, and employers are unwilling to employ unskilled workers, moreover, ones under age. Further, if a job placement is secured, employment is not always smooth, since it depends to a large extent on the communication and competence of civil servants in charge of minors. State institutions very often pay attention to young adults only when they are in conflict with the law.

Evening schools play a major role in educating young adults, where schooling is provided for both young adults with primary education and for the ones who have finished at least seven years at school, thus not allowing them to become isolated from society.

The network of evening schools in Latvia is sufficiently developed across the country. However, there is only one evening school in the district centre, and commuting creates problems. Therefore, evening schools offer a variety of flexible learning schemes for young adults to choose from: they can choose to study at school for the whole day once a week, they can take test sessions or attend school every evening. Flexible study schemes are an advantage for young adults to combine schooling and work.

Vocational schools are another opportunity for further education. However, if young adults do not have financial resources for living, or they do not have enough knowledge, then they are deprived of this opportunity. Vocational schools do not allow combining work and schooling, because daily school attendance is mandatory, and a certificate of primary education is necessary to enter a vocational school.

In addition, there is one more problem group of schoolchildren, i.e., children with special needs, and in Latvia there is a great number of children and young adults belonging to this group.

The group of children with special needs includes not only physically or mentally retarded children, but also children with learning, behavioral and socializing problems, i.e., they are physically and mentally normal children who, however, need special assistance in learning at school.

In Latvia educational policy on people with special needs to a large extent is based on a traditional collective approach, and accordingly, the state has the major responsibility in educating children with special needs. The following features can characterize this approach:

- 1. Priority is given to care provided by institutional and financial support from society and not from the family.
- With the exception of mentally and physically retarded children, other groups of children with special needs receive very little support.

According to international standards, the number of children assigned to specialized institutions (orphanages, boarding schools) is very high. However, there are several groups of children who are not provided with special educational support. They are children with widely spread learning difficulties such as dyslexia, disability of concentration or psychological disturbance such as lack of development success, affective hindrance and other syndromes discovered over the last years and included in the special needs classification, for example, the classification used by the World Health Organization.

Taking into account the above mentioned facts and the problems listed in relation to the incomplete continuity system in education in Latvia, it can be concluded that the number of young adults who for different reasons (social conditions, being not competitive in the labor market, the conditions young adults have when returning from reform schools to the old "risk" environment, etc.) will be able neither to learn a profession to earn for living, nor they will able to finish primary education, and a number of them will not have an opportunity to learn to write and do calculus. What is the future of young adults from these groups? Shall we consider it a breach of law when one of them shoplifts a loaf of bread? As a result, if this is considered a young adult's first breach of law, and he is under 16 years of age, then he is assigned to a reform school, but if he breaches the law again, then he is put in prison. A rhetorical question arises, what does the state consider to be more expensive: to keep a young adult in imprisonment or create learning opportunities for a young adult to earn for living. According to calculations made, in reform schools yearly schooling costs 3,115 LVL per child, and yearly imprisonment costs 1,540 LVL per individual. At present calculations have not been made on the costs of opening one or several correction classes in every district centre school, but we assume that these costs will definitely be lower.

The available database on the number of children and young adults not attending school or included in the risk group who might stop attending school is imperfect, because the numbers are given within a broad range of 4–26 thousand children, therefore it is difficult to forecast the expected number of schoolchildren to be assigned to social and pedagogical correction classes, yet it implies that the number of potential schoolchildren cannot be small.

We cannot say that the state does not take responsibility for young adults or look for solutions to growing problems. However, the process is too slow, and it is unclear which solution is the best. In Latvia several institutions are responsible for children and young adults from risk groups:

Responsible institutions

We cannot claim that there is no institution in this country to take care of young adults or to look for solutions to unresolved problems. However, this process is

Ministry	Institution
Ministry of Education and Science	State Children Rights Protection Centre
	Social correction/reform schools
	➢ Social advisors at schools
	Social and pedagogical correction classes at schools
Ministry of the Interior	
	Compulsory correction institutions

Table 5. State institutions in charge of juvenile delinquency are subordinated to different ministries

very slow, and it is unclear which solution is the best. In Latvia there are a number of different institutions taking care of problem children and the risk group of young adults.

The Law on Protection of the Rights of the Children specifies the responsibilities of the Cabinet, the ministries and other institutions in relation to children's rights. In the Law there is a section specifying the tasks of ministries in relation to juvenile delinquency.

Responsibilities of institutions from the Law on Protection of the Rights of Children

The Ministry of Education and Science provides access to education and assures quality and guarantees involvement in society for children with special needs and children who have suffered from violence or other illegal action, from drug abuse, toxic overdose or intoxication with alcohol or negative impact of social environment.

The Ministry of the Interior augments and implements juvenile delinquency prevention programs and child-protection programs against crime and provides professional training for the police to work with juvenile delinquents and juvenile victims and their families who have suffered from illegal actions.

The Ministry of Justice organizes professional training for judges on children rights. Follow-up cases on children's rights and children protection to be brought to court in the first priority order.

The Prosecutor's General Office organizes professional training for public prosecutors on children's rights; during the process of investigation, it guarantees compliance with children's rights. **Local government** works on delinquency prevention in cooperation with parents, educational institutions, the police, non-governmental organizations and other institutions.

Orphan Court and County Court identify families not capable of providing children with sufficient education and personal development; in cooperation with medical care, educational, social care and police institutions, they issue decisions on support to identified families.

The Ministry of the Interior, Ministry of Education and Science, Ministry of Welfare, Ministry of Justice, Minister of Special Assignment for State Reform Issues, and local governments conduct a regular statistical survey on children's rights protection, cases of children being assigned to compulsory correction or medical treatment, juvenile criminal cases and submit the survey results to the Central Statistics Office.

The Central Statistics Office processes all the gathered information once a year and submits a report to the State Children Rights Protection Centre.

The orphan court (the county court) is a local government institution supervised by the Ministry of Welfare (guardianship and trusteeship), district (city) court and the respective municipal Council.

In Latvia there are two levels of self-government – local and district governments. In respect to the number of institutions in charge of juvenile delinquency, if the district government is situated in the same city, the respective municipal (city) government is in a better position.

Orphan courts and county courts offer the majority of solutions to problem situations. For example, in working with young adults and taking preventive action, the following suggestions have been made:

Local government (rural municipality city)	District city government
Social assistance service/expert	Juvenile Inspector Service
► Orphan Court	Children rights protection inspector
► Social advisor	
Civil servant in charge of forced labor	
Iuvenile inspector	

Table 6. Local government institutions in charge of juvenile delinquency

- The responsibility of the Ministry of Education and Science is to develop a simplified curriculum by combining general studies with vocational training for children with minor learning difficulties (in fact, they are the same social and pedagogical correction classes).
- 2. A strong co-operation network should be formed: the school – the police – the social advisor.
- 3. Teaching and learning at home should be reconsidered because it is of poor quality. Children do not feel engaged, and as a result they join the risk group.
- 4. Communication with parents and children from risk families should be enhanced to convince them to attend school.
- In each district boarding schools/social correction schools should be opened to cater to roaming children and children who do not study or are in conflict with law.

On 31 October 2002 the Saeima adopted a new Law on the Application of Educational and Correctional Coercive Measures to Children, which shall take effect as of 1 January 2004.

This Law envisages positive ways for the improvement and upgrading of social correctional activities as educational coercive means, for example:

- to make oneself responsible for the participation in social correctional or social assistance programs;
- to make oneself responsible for visiting a psychologist, doctor or other specialist for consultation (Section 10);
- in case of placing a child in an educational establishment of social correction, treatment for dependency on alcohol, drugs or psycho-tropic substances shall be provided (Section 14).

The reduction of time for determining punishment for juvenile delinquency is another positive change.

A decision on the application of educational and correctional coercive measures to children can be passed also by the Administrative Commission/Board at the child's permanent place of residence.

Experience from other countries

Children from risk families and children shirking school and roaming form a risk group of children and

young adults who do not attend school and are not interested in learning or working; they are not able to find their identity in society and a niche for survival. Problems typical of this risk group are found not only in Latvia and the Baltic states, but also all over the world. For several decades solutions have been searched for, and in many countries special schooling schemes have been functioning quite successfully.

For example, in the US there are accelerated schools, which is one of the most successful solutions Americans have found during the education crisis. Accelerated schools are to solve the problem of one third of backward schoolchildren in primary and secondary education.

As a rule, in knowledge acquired, backward or risk schoolchildren lag behind regular schoolchildren on the average by two years; more than half leave school without a certificate or not finishing the school year. The majority of risk schoolchildren come from ethnic minorities from poor regions; they do not speak English, and many of them come from single-parent families.

The underlying conviction of accelerated schools regards all schoolchildren of the same age being able to achieve the same results by the time they finish school. It means that in comparison to succeeding schoolchildren, backward schoolchildren should receive accelerated schooling. It is achieved by providing backward schoolchildren with better schools: teachers with special professional education, a psychologist's support, a specially developed curriculum.

Backward schoolchildren should not be considered as children with a low speed of perception and learning; on the contrary, they should have ambitious objectives to be reached in a certain period of time. Children, parents and teachers should be aware of potential mistakes and learn how to correct mistakes and achieve the best possible results. All partners involved in the study process (children, parents and teachers) should cooperate to achieve common aims and look for more efficient ways to accomplish the task.

Approximately five months must pass with a number of meetings and tutorials for teachers, parents and children until this study process shows results. Accelerated schools are supported by a group of universities, for example, Stanford University, and accelerated schools are included in the general school network. In the US, hundreds of similar projects have been developed to promote research and publicity on the subject, thus stimulating further development.

In a number of European countries schools follow the same or a similar scheme in order to give opportunities to young adults who have been or will be excluded from the regular education system, so that they can continue studies at schools with a better teaching and learning environment and better support activities, and thus raise their self-confidence. The mission of "the second opportunity schools" is to improve teaching by employing the best teachers, and, if necessary, paying them higher salaries than in regular schools, and to accommodate the teaching and learning speed to children's needs; by organizing training sessions in companies and establishments, schoolchildren become interested. As a result they are given a new impetus.

Another interesting scheme ,"Alyat Hanoar", was introduced in Israel, specializing in educating young adults who in their adolescence have experienced severe family problems, social or cultural problems, impeding on their regular personal development.

To achieve psychological, cultural and social reintegration of young adults, they live in "a youth village" or a network of villages, which is the "cornerstone" of this scheme. In youth villages there are not only young adults 14–18 years of age, but also teachers, support staff ("mothers" and "fathers", teachers, instructors, psychologists – advisors, social workers, etc.) and technical support staff; in villages many of them live together with their families. It is essential that the support staff not only provide opportunities to have good education, but also serve as an example of good behavior and attitude, and schoolchildren have a real example to which they can compare their behavior, and have support and cooperation partners.

"Alyat Hanoar's" mission is to develop independent individuals in mutual relationships among schoolchildren and between schoolchildren and the staff; consolidate and develop personalities; to supplement the curriculum developed by the Ministry of Education; to broaden the perspective by courses, seminars, study trips, and events in sports, arts, music, etc.; to teach schoolchildren civilized mutual relationships and real life routines; and also teach one to earn for a living by applying knowledge and skills.

Recommendations

An effective social and pedagogical correction system should comply with the following questions:

- 1. How to deal with risk group children in general education schools?
- 2. How to organize work in social correction schools?
- 3. How to provide continuous education after the fixed period at reform school is over?
- Risk group children in regular (general education) schools. They are "roaming children", and children with behavioral and educational problems. Preventive activities are the most influential, as they aim at averting youngsters from delinquency at an early stage; likewise, such activities would develop negative attitude towards offence and understanding of risk taking against the legal framework and the individual responsibility for the actions taken and offence made.

How to apply this methodology to real life situations?

1. In each school there is a need for a social advisor who works on solving the problems of risk-group children or considers coordination of combined solutions; a social advisor registers all risk group children at school, regularly meets class teachers and checks whether the risk group children attend school. The social advisor works with risk group children (looks for an individualized approach for each child, tries to earn trust with each risk child, closely cooperates with the school's or other psychologist, follows the situation in the family, and in case there is a need, reports on unfavorable changes to the responsible institutions) (the county court, the juvenile service inspector, etc.). The social advisor makes an attempt to involve risk children into extra-curricular activities and different interest groups.



Figure 6. Recommendations for the introduction of an effective social and pedagogical correction system

- 2. Increase parents' obligations for raising children by introducing legal regulations against parents who do not fulfill their tasks; also, there is a need for an expert or a regional social aid centre to work with social risk families in cooperation with different institutions and provide psychological support and assist in looking for solutions in difficult situations.
- Increase the role of the class tutor in order to provide adequate education and medical care, without isolating children from their families and regular environment.
- 4. To assist risk children in the process of integration in the regular class, the schools in Latvia can introduce "participatory education", which focuses on involving each individual in the process of group work and class activities, taking into consideration their individual tempo, psychological, physiological and psychological characteristics.
- 5. To serve as a linking stage between the general school and reform school, in each school there should be a class with a smaller number of schoolchildren to serve as pedagogical correction classes with the focus on smoothing and correcting functions.

- 6. The development of interest groups so that each child could have opportunities of spending leisure time usefully according to their interests. It is recommended to provide interest group activities for free in order to have these activities available also to low income families (to a large extent to risk family children). Clubs, camps, and other activities organized by non-governmental organizations and asylums provided by local governments can be of assistance. The Riga North District Children Asylum for children of 3–15 years of age serves as a good example.
- The decision on assigning children to social and pedagogical correction classes can be made by the county court in cooperation with the teachers from the respective school.
- 8. Instead of regarding risk children as juvenile offenders or potential offenders to be dealt with by the Juvenile Service inspector or the State or Municipal Police, an approach based on social activities should be promoted – children should be provided with information where to receive social and psychological aid, where to apply for assistance in case of family problems, health problems, drug problems, further education problems, etc.



Figure 7. Recommendations for the introduction of an effective social and pedagogical correction system

The organization of teaching, learning and social correction in reform schools

Schoolchildren at reform schools should be differentiated according to the type of delinquency.

Offence against a person

Special types of closed reform schools with enforced regimes and security should be established for juvenile offenders who have committed an offence against a person. The Ministry of Education and Science should control the closed reform schools, because major activities should focus on correcting behavior and educating juvenile offenders. In such institutions a major role should be given to a psychologist and a psychotherapist in order to minimize the emotional stress of youngsters, to decrease their dependence on toxic and drug habits, and to lessen impetuosity and aggressiveness.

Offence against property

The reform schools can follow the established routine for juvenile offenders who have committed an offence against property. The essential task is to separate juvenile offenders in order to prevent negative exchange of experience.

1. Reform schools should develop a rehabilitation program for those youngsters who will soon leave

the reform school. The rehabilitation program should be coordinated with the municipality or district probation service expert and/or the social aid centre expert who will be following the future development and activities of the youngster; the expert should assist the youngster to cope with difficult situations and to provide support both to the youngster and the family.

2. The probation service expert or any other expert prepared for the task (a social worker from the social aid centre) should work with the family during the time the youngster attends the reform school. The expert together with the family should look for a school or work placement for the youngster, which s/he could attend when leaving the reform school.

To provide young adults with education opportunities after reform schools, the following activities should take place:

 The responsibility of the orphan court should be increased to secure young adults with opportunities to work and study at evening schools or other educational institutions. Cooperation between the orphan court and the probation service is likely to be developed.

- Vocational training network should be developed. Correction classes should be formed in vocational schools for schoolchildren as of Grade 7 to acquire a profession, following a modified curriculum. At present there are only two vocational schools offering such a curriculum.
- Foster families should be developed as an institution in Latvia to provide "roaming children" and orphans an opportunity to live and develop in a socially safe environment.
- All reform schools and vocational schools are recommended to enter a unified educational system. It would reinforce the cooperative efforts of educational and reform institutions, and as a result, it would increase the educators' responsibility for the output.
- 5. Higher education institutions in Latvia should provide professional programs for teachers and social workers to work in social and learning correction classes/reform schools, and special training should be provided for "parents" in foster families.
- 6. Families should receive more support. In social rehabilitation centres parent support programs should be introduced in order to assist parents in understanding their children and learning how to deal with psychological and physiological problems their children face.
- 7. The social correction system should provide mandatory treatment from alcohol, drug, and toxic habits.

References

Baltiņa B., Kofmane L., Jākobsone A., Kamenska A., Lāce T., Lukašinska I., Podziņa D., Pranka M., Rieksta-Riekstiņa L., Trapenciere I., Vilks A. (1999). *Bērni un ģimenes Latvijā*. *Situācijas analīze*. Rīga.

Ceplis D., Liepiņa L., Prišpetjeva J., Rupā T., Sūniņa V., Vilks A. (2001). *Bērns un kriminalitāte*. Rīga.

CSP (2001). *Bērni Latvijā. Statistikas biļetens*. Rīga: Latvijas Republikas Centrālā statistikas pārvalde

Glābiet bērnus (2001). Bērnu tiesību stāvoklis Latvijā — galvenie aspekti, Organizācija "Glābiet bērnus!" alternatīvais ziņojums, 1998—2000. Rīga: Glābiet bērnus!

Kūtris G. (2002, 08.07). Nepilngadīgajam likumpārkāpējam – prioritāte. *Neatkarīgā Rīta Avīze*, nr. 156, Rīga.

Likumprojekts (2002, 19.11.). Par audzinoša rakstura piespiedu līdzekļu piemērošanu bērniem. Likumprojekts. *Latvijas Vēstnesis*, nr. 168, Rīga. Lukašinska I. (2002). *Ielas bērni Latvijā: problēmas un risinājumi*. Rīga: Sorosa fonds – Latvija.

MK (2000, 05.08.). Valsts programma bērnu stāvokļa uzlabošanai 2000. gadam. Rīga: Ministru kabinets.

MK (2001, 24.07.). Valsts programma bērnu stāvokļa uzlabošanai 2001. gadam. Rīga: Ministru kabinets.

Trapenciere I., Rungule R. (2001). Alternatīvo soda mēru piemērošana nepilngadīgajiem pašvaldībā. Rīga.

Valsts izglītības politikas analīze – Latvija, ziņojums, Rīga, 2000.

VBTAC (2001). Ziņojums par bērnu stāvokli Latvijā 2000. gadā. Rīga: Valsts Bērnu tiesību aizsardzības centrs.

Vilks A. (2002, 06.08.). Nepilngadīgo noziedzības samazināšanai steidzami nepieciešamie līdzekļi. *Neatkarīgā Rīta Avīze*, nr. 81, Rīga.

CHAPTER 3. TEACHER TRAINING

Pre-Service Training in Higher Education

Andrejs Geske, Andris Grinfelds, Andris Kangro and Juris Zaķis (University of Latvia)

In the academic year 2001/2002, 77 professional teacher-training programs were accredited in higher education institutions of Latvia. The number of new teachers who receive their diplomas meets the quantitative needs of Latvian schools. But at the University of Latvia 58% of those in full time study who receive a teaching diploma do not enter the teaching profession. There is a shortage of English, informatics, and science teachers, and these shortages are particularly acute outside Riga. The result is significant inefficiency in public education expenditures.

This paper will explore the reasons for this anomaly. It will analyze the nature of teacher training in Latvia which is based on outdated traditions of overspecialization stemming from the Soviet era. The paper will explain the problems related to pre-service training of teachers in Latvia and their options to work at school and recommend solutions to these problems.

Introduction

Today a quarter of the world's population is involved in supporting the schoolwork and the use of the services provided by schools. Schools are the key component of the education system. They are the point where the recipient of education (student) and the provider of education (teacher) find themselves in the closest contact. Schoolwork is the key characteristic of the state education system. Unlike other service areas, where the customer actively determines the service quality, in schools the responsibility for the quality of education actually lies only with the teacher. The teacher has to form the student's perception of education and its quality and make all the possible efforts to ensure that the education is not only accessible to the student, but that the student also obtains it. The organizers and principals of the education system (from school principals to the members of the government) have to provide opportunities and circumstances for effective and qualitative activities of teachers on an overall basis.

In this general scheme the teachers play a critical role. This means that the effectiveness and return on the activities of the education system primarily depend on the level and relevance of the qualification of teachers. This, in turn, can be achieved only when there is an effective system of training, assessment and selection of teachers to meet modern requirements.

Background

The global nature of the problem

The development of global trends in business, economics, culture and values bear a material impact on the content and structure of the education system in all countries. Education is no longer evaluated only according to the interests and perspective of one country or one nation. Today it is evaluated according to the global standard. In order for education to be assessed as qualitative, it is increasingly expected to be based on global values, which enables analyzing and assessing any field of human activities in a global context. The narrowing down of the education's horizons to a local (regional, national) scale is still possible. However, this will become impossible in the nearest future, which is testified to by the acknowledgement of the entering of the global civilization into its third phase of development – into the wave of information (Toffler & Toffler, 1994: 112).

On the scale of a separate (national) country this finds its expression as a swift turn towards an open society with a high accessibility of information, which has caused a necessity for each member of the society to be able to find her/his way in it, to understand the objectives and tasks of their life and activities. Due to the accessibility of information and advertising, the intriguing and intrusive way of its presentation, the ability to find and assess information should already be formed in children and further developed in adolescents, providing also the necessary assistance to adults.

School and teacher issues

Notwithstanding the ample and diverse information and the easy access to it on a global scale, the sources of the information have not achieved the reliability level and persuasion ability that is still being enjoyed by school, the undeniable privilege of which, among others, is the capability of providing an official confirmation of the acquired education, (diploma, certificate, license).

The rights to issue the above confirmation are granted by the state or other authorities to the educational establishment only if it has adequate resources and adequately trained and qualified teachers. Today the above mentioned compliance criteria are sufficiently developed on an international scale, which ensures a theoretical opportunity to apply for an internationally acknowledged education certificate in any country and region.

Notwithstanding certain globalization (initially – regionalization) trends, staffing with qualified teachers

is basically a regional, national or local problem, in which the local (national, regional, ethnic or otherwise differentiated) teacher resource base is more significant than the possibility to acquire it as a market commodity.

Teacher resource issue

Provision of the education system with staff resources is one of the most essential problems to be solved by the government and other authorities, because, as mentioned above, teachers are the key performance indicator of schools and the guarantee of quality of schooling.

The development of the teacher resource-base differs at the levels of primary, elementary and secondary school and institutions of higher education. The primary and elementary school teachers are not only providers of education but also educators and tutors who are to take over and continue the work commenced in families. They have to be more family-oriented and base their work on local traditions (certainly, by adjusting the schooling to the children's mother tongue) and local lifestyle. Therefore, the teaching staff should be provided from among the local population or the people who are profoundly familiar with the local traditions and lifestyle.

At the secondary education level, the teachers' work should be based more on international and global aspects, and they should assist their students in changing their values and orientation towards a more global aspect. The teachers at this level should have a sufficiently broad perspective and the experience obtained in other regions or countries. Teamwork of teachers with various experience levels is advisable, where their specific experience is supplemented by that of the others. One of the key requirements of the school at this level is to develop tolerance in students, which can be achieved only by the teacher's personal example. Therefore, teacher staffing at the secondary education level can be provided on a wider basis extending beyond the narrow national framework. This is especially important in regions with diverse ethnic or other groups (e.g., groups of emigrants or other
refugees, enterprises with foreign guest workers, international cultural sites and business facilities, sites of other kind of activities, military bases for international peace-keeping forces, etc.).

Selection of applicants for acquisition of teacher qualifications should be organized in accordance with the above characteristics. These specifics should be taken into consideration both in the teacher training at the institutions of higher education and vocational schools at other levels. The licensing and certification of teachers organized by state authorities should become the key guarantee of compliance with the above considerations. Successful functioning of this system shall be guaranteed by the state authorities (for employment in the institutions of higher education specialized secondary schools) or municipalities (for employment in general secondary schools and in primary and elementary schools), which shall regulate, organize and manage the recruitment of staff to vacant positions. This system should be applicable to all schools within the national or municipal territory irrespective of their founder, owner or principal. The only exception could be organizations and enterprises providing interest education on the condition that they have been licensed and registered in accordance with the procedure stipulated by state authorities.

Regional issues

The above problems are topical in any country. Considerable experience has already been gained in solving these issues. However, sufficient co-ordination among countries has not been achieved, the lack of which is clearly evidenced by the increasing migration not only of adults, but also of adolescents and even children for education purposes. If the countries that have already developed their national education system and gained sufficiently high international acknowledgment of such system (Latvia was among such countries in the 1920's and 1930's) can increasingly concentrate on sustaining of their national education system with a comparatively little focus on the problems of global nature (this kind of orientation was also characteristic of the former USSR), this type of attitude cannot be afforded by countries that are developing their education system anew with the explicit purpose of integrating it into a broader international system (e.g., the EU, UNESCO). This is the key problem that these countries have to address not only in the future, but already today. This can be especially clearly observed in the former Soviet block countries, particularly, in the former USSR republics, where the level of schools and teachers, as well as the situation in the education system in general are considered incompliant with modern requirements.

Issues in the Latvian context

We ourselves often refer to the following specific trait of Latvia (after the foundation of the Latvian nation-state) and Latvians (before that): we are a small nation with our own language and culture; we are located on the crossroads of other countries and nations and therefore suffer from the regimes, languages and cultures forced on us. The history of our region highlights the specific problems of Latvians.

The development of the Latvian national (national state's) education system began along with the formation of the independent (national) Latvian state as one of the guarantees of its existence. This means that it was basically focused on national values and serving national interests. A vivid documental testimony of this focus is the resolution of the Latvian Teachers' Conference (Tartu, 13 June 1917) On Latvian University, which states:

"Taking into consideration, I) that along with the foundation of the Latvian Teachers' Seminar and secondary schools there is a need for academically educated seminar and secondary school teachers who are able to teach in the Latvian language, 2) that due to the establishment of the Latvian selfgovernment, there is a need for academically educated officials in public administration and economy, 3) that along with the opening of new types of primary schools in Latvia, the primary school teachers will have to acquire higher pedagogical education, 4) that to meet the religious needs of the Latvian parishes there is a need for theologians and that, taking into consideration the crisis of the Theology Department at the Tērbata University, this would be hardly possible in the future – the Latvian Teachers' Congress acknowledges the need to establish the Latvian University".

This was a foundation stone for establishing of Latvian (not Latvia) University, one of the main tasks of which was teacher training (including its own educators) for work in Latvian schools (i.e., mono-linguistic language schools). Later when the establishment of schools with other languages of instruction was allowed, such schools operated on the basis of private initiative and did not constitute an integrated element of the state education system. Teacher training for work in the specific conditions of these schools was not among the state functions. Thus, for instance, Pauls Valdens refused to work at the Latvia University, as he did not agree that all teaching should be provided only in the Latvian language, although he knew Latvian very well. Vasilijs Sinaiskis agreed to work at the Latvia University, although he did not know Latvian at that time. However, he soon learned it.

Upon the incorporation of Latvia into the USSR, the mastering and use of the Russian language became mandatory in the entire education system. The use of the Latvian language was allowed, however, only in the status of the second language. The mastering of other languages was welcomed, but not mandatory. The Latvian State University, which was one of the main institutions preparing teachers, had to prepare teachers for work in the whole USSR, which was ensured by making the Russian language mandatory.

At present Latvia has begun to develop its education system by way of adopting many of the ideas and principles that have already been achieved in the first period of its independence. The development is mainly focused on local problems and local solutions. The process is characterized by the dissociation of the members of society by their national features, areas of professional fields, differences in views, physical or mental abilities, age and gender.

Notwithstanding the acknowledgement of the specific history and geographic situation, Latvia still can learn much from the experience of the Western European and North American countries in solving similar problems. This is especially important in connection with the forthcoming accession to the EU and Latvia's further integration in the world.

This requires academically and professionally sound analysis of the teacher training at the institutions of higher education in Latvia to provide recommendations for the state and municipal authorities, as well as to draw society's (taxpayers') attention to the nature of this problem and the justification for the selected solutions. At the same time this analysis should outline the way for Latvia towards its integration into the EU and the community of other countries and nations of the world.

Pre-service teacher training in Latvia: choice between two models

The structure of teacher education in different countries can be characterized by two main models the integrated and the consecutive (Busch, 2002). The comparative advantages and disadvantages of the above widely used models have been analyzed and discussed for many decades. Today this discussion both in the European countries and in other places all over the world has come into the spotlight again. For example, it took place in the 27th Conference of the Association for Teacher Education in Europe (ATEE) in 2002 in Warsaw. One of the stimuli for the discussion on the quality of education and the reforms of education, especially teacher education, is the analysis and discussion of the results of the OECD PISA research in many countries of the world. See, for example, the report of the Chancellor of Germany to the Parliament (Schröder, 2002).

The integrated model means that within its framework the academic (subject-related), pedagogic, psychological, professional internship and other components of the learning process are combined. *The consecutive model* at first comprises the obtaining of the bachelor's degree in a certain field of science, social science or the humanities and only after that – during the next step of the learning process (it could also be studies for a master's degree) – the choice to become a teacher is made and the knowledge and skills necessary for a teacher (pedagogy, teaching methods, internship at school, etc.) are acquired. Thus, in the case of the consecutive model, the studies for the bachelor's degree (e.g., in physics, history, the English philology, etc.) basically have a very limited relation to the profession of a teacher. This system no more corresponds to the tasks of the teacher in the present and future society.

The task of teaching has changed. Today the task of the teacher no longer lies in providing students with certain knowledge in a given subject-area and testing how accurately they have mastered it. Today the aim of the teacher is to develop the students' ability to learn, "to teach learning" at school and later on during the rest of life, to acquire the competencies required for their professional activities. The subject-area to a certain extent is of secondary importance in relation to the pedagogic activities of the teacher. Each subjectarea is, in fact, the means of implementation of psychological and pedagogical aims. The readiness of teachers to attain such aims is much more adequately ensured by a qualitative integrated teacher education program rather than the consecutive model. The integrated model in no case means that the new teachers lack the necessary knowledge in their subject-area (or areas). The difference lies in the goal of one or another model.

The advantage of the integrated model is the common goal for the entire 4–5-year long learning process – to provide an opportunity to master the competences of a modern teacher. This goal ensures a unity of the scientific basis of the respective subject-area (areas), teaching methods, pedagogical and psychological studies, repeated internship at school beginning with the first years, as well as other study components.

In the consecutive model there is no integrated goal of the teacher education process. Such goal appears only in the 1–2 years long post-graduate study phase. In the first phase, 3–4 years long studies for obtaining the bachelor's degree – the goal is to master the basics of the respective scientific area without linking it to the professional activities of a teacher, since only a small part of the bachelors in the respective field will choose the profession of a teacher. It is also believed that the consecutive model

is appropriate for the education of secondary school teachers whose task is to teach the basics of one or another scientific area to the secondary schools students who will be highly motivated to learn and in whose education there will be much fewer pedagogical problems. However, we cannot agree with the latter statement, as no attention is paid to comprehensive development of the personality of the student.

Thus, a qualitatively developed and introduced integrated model of the teacher education can provide us with a new teacher who is much better equipped to meet modern requirements. Among the disadvantages of the integrated model we can mentioned higher costs, as it could even be argued that within the framework of this model the training of a teacher of each specific subject area (or several subject areas) lasts for 4 to 5 years, while in the consecutive model only for 1 to 2 years (post-graduate studies). The studies at the bachelor level in different areas are provided irrespective of the teacher education model chosen at the given university, pedagogical institute, in the country in general, etc.

This leads to the fundamentally incorrect perception that the integrated teacher education programs unnecessary "overlap" with the respective bachelor programs and that all that the teacher education needs is a small (even 1 year long) "pedagogical superstructure" in addition to the bachelor programs. However, such concept exists mainly in the universities in which the above bachelor programs are regarded as one of the "basic activities" of the university, while teacher education is not considered a basic activity. If teacher education is provided in a specific institution of higher education, the integrated teacher education programs do not cause any objections, although from the point of view of the state's interests and costs the problem basically remains the same how to provide more qualitaty and cost-effective education to the representatives of this very important and widespread profession - the teachers (irrespective of the local interests of the institutes of higher education, their internal structure, etc.).

Thus, the initial education of teachers according to the consecutive model is cheaper. However, today it does not achieve its goal anymore. One could expect that the cost-efficiency of the consecutive model would increase the resources available for in-service training of working teachers. Formally the statutory requirements for the total length of teacher training in the institutes of higher education (4–5 years) are met. However, this education consists of two almost unrelated parts of different scope, of which only the shortest one concerns teacher education, and this does not ensure a full-value professional education of teachers.

By the way, if the ratio of student-financed study slots is as high as today in Latvia (including teachertraining programs), the question of the costs of one or another model being financed by the state budget is even more inappropriate, as the students study on their own account, freely choosing any academic or professional study program (to become a teacher, a lawyer, economist, physician, philosopher). The state can regulate the necessary number of specialists by providing preferential payment terms for study loans (or redemption of the loans).

Sometimes the fact that not all of the graduates of the integrated 4–5-year-long teacher education programs work in the chosen profession is mentioned as an argument against the integrated teacher education programs. However, the same argument applies also to the graduates from any other professional or academic study program anywhere in the world – it is never 100%, even if there are vacancies in the respective professional area or industry (perhaps, with the exception of graduates from military schools and similar institutions of higher education). This issue is discussed in the section *The Work of the Graduates from the Teacher Training Programs at Schools*.

Bologna Declaration and the teacher education models

The choice between one or another model in different countries often is not based on the analysis of the aims and results of teacher education, but simply by academic traditions and the existing structure of the Departments and the related study programs at the universities and other institutions or a comprehensive reorganization of these structures.

At the moment the structure and duration of the study programs in Latvia and other European countries in general can be affected by the reorganization of the study programs in accordance with the Bologna Declaration (AIC, 2000). One of the provisions of the declaration stipulates that by 2010 the European countries have to adopt a system of higher education essentially based on two main cycles - undergraduate and graduate. The first degree might be awarded upon completing studies, the scope of which corresponds to credits received during 3 years. However, it should be noted that the declaration also states that "the degree awarded after the first cycle shall also enable the student to work in the European labor market", which actually is the most serious commitment in the whole document (Rauhvargers, 2002). Another international document states "a two-cycle model makes sense only if the graduates after both the first and the second cycle become employable" (Rauhvargers, 2002).

If the first degree is related to the above mentioned shortest study period – 3 years, it is shorter than the duration of the teacher training currently stipulated by the legislation of Latvia and, in fact, of all other countries. Thus, graduates of the first 3-year cycle of teacher education cannot be employed as teachers. Basically the same issue is applicable to all the so-called regulated professions – physicians, teachers, lawyers and engineers. This two-cycle scheme is not quite appropriate for the above professions, as currently a specialist in these professional areas after 3 years studies is not yet fully prepared and nothing (even the Bologna Declaration) shows that this could change by 2010.

Returning to the currently used integrated and consecutive models of teacher education, we see that formally only the consecutive model corresponds to the two-cycle scheme. Moreover, according to the legislation, the bachelor degree upon completion of three years of studies in no way will be related to pedagogical education. The profession of a teacher will be mastered only later – in the 1–2-year-long graduate studies. Therefore, the consecutive model will maintain all the disadvantages mentioned in the previous section. Therefore, such "reform" of the teacher education is definitely not recommended. Our German colleagues also object to this (Busch, 2002). Prof. Fr. Busch from Oldenburg University strongly advocates the use of the integrated (one phase) model in teacher education. Prof. Fr. Busch argues that it is necessary to link theoretical studies with internship at schools already in the first years of studies, to ensure that the observations made by the future teachers and the questions arising could be immediately discussed on a theoretical basis in the auditoriums; he also advocates the concurrent and mutually linked learning of the basics of the respective subject and the methods of teaching the same subject.

As we know, currently both the above mentioned teacher education models are used in Latvia, including the University of Latvia. The Senate has twice adopted the decision that both models are to be implemented and developed at the University of Latvia. It should definitely be considered a positive fact, as it provides an opportunity to compare these models both theoretically and practically. During the last 5 years, 75–80% of the teachers who have graduated the University of Latvia were trained according to the integrated model at the Department of Pedagogy and Psychology, and 25–20% at other departments and mainly according to the consecutive model.

Upon the restructuring of the study programs, the integrated model should definitely be maintained; it allows developing professional teacher education undergraduate programs, the duration of which could be 4 years. This would minimize the gap between the academic and professional programs, which is one of the objectives of the Bologna process.

Work of the graduates of the teacher education programs at schools

In the section "Models of Teacher Education" we already mentioned the fact that not all graduates from one or another study program work in their profession and that the graduates of the teacher education study programs are not an exception in this sense. This depends on the graduates' desire to work in the respective profession and their satisfaction with it, as well as the situation and conditions in the labor market (vacancies, salaries, possibility to repay or redeem student loans, the prestige of the profession, etc.).

Statistics on the work of graduates from the University of Latvia (LU) professional teacher education programs at schools can be obtained by comparing the LU information system's (LUIS) data with the data of the register of the teachers working at schools (LIIS). Each of the systems lists essentially each graduate and each teacher, and the comparison was performed by using the personal ID numbers. In 2001-2002, approximately 70% of the total number of the graduates from the University of Latvia (LU) professional teacher education programs work at schools. 42% of the graduates from the full-time study programs work at schools. These figures are approximate (basically, the number of the graduates working in their profession is larger) due to several reasons.

First, the data were obtained in May 2002 and therefore they do not include the graduates of 2002, who began their work at the beginning of the new school year. Second, the register of teachers does not include several educational and other establishments, the work in which should be considered as corresponding to the profession of a teacher. For example, social psychologists, teachers of sports and health care, and teachers at specialized schools basically work in their professional area also in sports schools, specialized schools, rehabilitation centres, etc. We might also claim that teachers working in school boards, the Ministry of Education and various educational centres, as well as young educators of the institutions of higher educations with teacher diplomas also work in their profession. Part of the graduates from the professional teacher programs continue their studies in full-time graduate programs. Such and similar adjustments considerably increased the ratio of the graduates working in their profession.

In general, we may say that the situation in this field is not very dramatic. In Latvia, it is very similar to that of other countries. For example, in the above mentioned 27^{th} Conference of the Association for

Teacher Education in Europe in 2002 in Warsaw, it was estimated that on average about one half of the graduates from different teacher education programs go to work in schools. In the USA, only about one third of the graduates work in their profession according to the chosen education programs (Rauhvargers, 2002).

We are confused and surprised by the data that have appeared in the mass media that in Latvia only 10% of the graduates from the respective programs work at schools. At the same time, the above sources do not explain the methods that have been used in obtaining these data. It is unlikely that the situation in other institutions of higher education is much worse than in the LU and therefore changes the overall situation in Latvia.

Perhaps misleading information (considerably reduced number of the graduates working at schools) could be obtained, for example, if the total number of graduates from professional teacher education programs of Latvian institutions of higher education in the respective academic year (including part-time studies) is compared with the number of the so-called "new teachers" who have commenced their work at schools on 1 September of the same year. The data would be misleading, as many of the students (even during fulltime studies) already work at schools during the senior year and continue their work also after graduation. Therefore, they would be included in the number of graduates, but not in the number of "new teachers", as they have already commenced working at school.

The above situation is even more characteristic of the graduates from part-time teacher education programs – often they are working at school already upon starting studies and continue to work there also after graduation. Therefore, it would be more appropriate to compare the number of the graduates from the teacher education programs (in the LU this could be done within the framework of the LUIS system) for the respective period of time with the data provided by the register of teachers, i.e., to identify whether the respective persons work at school, regardless of the moment when this work has been commenced. Data and methods should be selected on a well-grounded basis, and modern technologies and their use in the education system in Latvia allow to accomplish this.

By the way, indirect information allows us to conclude that the situation in other study programs is not better than in the teacher education programs. We hold no accurate statistics on other study programs in Latvia – what percentage of graduate physicians, engineers, agriculture specialists and others are working in their profession.

Taking into consideration the current gap between the academic and professional programs in Latvia, we cannot give a precise answer to the question regarding the work of graduates from one or another undergraduate and graduate program in the respective profession (or job), as the degree is awarded strictly according to the classification of sciences that does not provide any additional references to the potential professional field. It is clear that the graduates from an academic program may engage in research work in the respective branch of science. However, how many people are there in Latvia who are engaged in scientific research on a full-time basis in comparison with the total number of graduates from the academic programs of the institutions of higher education? The introduction of professional undergraduate and graduate programs in Latvia, reducing the distinct differences between the undergraduate and professional programs, including also the differences in the system of the program titles in the spirit of the Bologna Declaration could systematize this issue and bring the situation of the program graduates' employment opportunities in line with the actual labor market.

We believe that, in general, the obtaining and analysis of specific data on the graduates from other study programs and their working places would show that the portion of the graduates from the teacher education programs working in their profession is not smaller than that of many other professions.

Some problems the teachers encounter in schools

There is a popular opinion that in our country the only problem in the work of teachers is low salary. The government should increase salaries and all the problems would be solved. We have taken part in several studies carried out by the International Education Achievements Assessment Association (IEA) and found that apart from the sore subject of salaries, there are other not less important problems that are directly related both to the teacher education and further education.

In this section we have used the data from the international comparative education studies in mathematics and natural sciences (TIMSS) in 1995 and 1999, including a survey of teachers of mathematics and natural sciences in Grade 8 of randomly chosen schools with the Latvian language of instruction. In each survey about 150 teachers of mathematics and 330 teachers of natural sciences were included. The results of the Second Survey of the Use of the Information Technologies in Education (SITES) based on the data obtained in 1998–2002 were also partly used.

Teacher salaries

While concerned about the fact that not all the graduates from the teacher education programs work at schools, we should not disregard one of its causes – insufficient teacher salaries. Notwithstanding



Figure 1. Breakdown of teachers of natural sciences by length of service at school

the implementation of a special program with the purpose of increasing teachers' salaries, they are still comparatively very low (compared, for example, to the average salary in public administration institutions or to the GDP per capita), especially for new educators. The actual salaries are not that small, as most of the teachers work more than standard workload, although this leads to the overwork of the teachers, their discontent with the incomplete work due to the lack of time and, eventually, insufficient quality of their work. The salaries are also increased by the bonuses paid from municipal funds, which are rather substantial, especially in Riga.

The issue of the teacher salaries should be solved by taking a complex approach to this issue. It should be considered that the student-teacher ratio in Latvia is very low – approximately ten to one. We should also take into account the continuing decrease in the number of students, from one side, and the aging of teachers, from the other side. The necessary legal provisions and interpretation of the legislation concerning the teacher education requirements should be developed. The requirements concerning the workload of teachers should also be specified. It should comprise all professional activities performed by the teacher, not only the contact-hours spent in classrooms. As a result, the salary for a full workload should be considerably higher.

Work and profession

The surveys show that teachers indeed are not satisfied with their work and profession. For example, in 1995, 36% of the teachers of mathematics stated that they would change their profession if there were such an opportunity. In 1999, the ratio of such teachers reached 48%, which is almost one half. The views of teachers of natural sciences are similar. What could be the reasons for the dissatisfaction of the teachers with their profession? A significant factor is the already mentioned small salaries. However, in this article we will address other possible factors.

First. Teachers believe that society does not appreciate their work. In 1995, 80% of the teachers of mathematics were of such opinion. In winter 1999, their views had changed only slightly - 75% of the teachers of mathematics were of such opinion. The teachers of natural sciences were of similar opinion.

Second. The teachers actually have a huge workload - many contact-hours, as well as much work after classes. Latvian legislation stipulates that a full-time workload corresponds to 21 contact-hours a week. Before 1990 it was 18 contact-hours. Over the period from 1995 to 1999, the average work-load had increased by almost 20% and reached 26.5 academic hours per week. Moreover, it should be noted that in the calculation of the average number of the academic hours per week, all teachers were included also those who work only part-time. The modal value of the workload of the teachers of natural sciences is 30 hours, one fourth of the teachers work in the classroom more than 33 academic hours per week, but 10% work more than 37 academic hours per week. The time the teachers spend on other teaching-related activities - preparation for lessons, preparation and correction of tests, correction of other tasks, professional development, etc. also should be added. In teachers' opinion, this time on the average is 12.5 hours per week and has not changed during the period from 1995 to 1999. This means that the majority of teachers work 42.5-50 hours per week, which demands considerable physical and mental resources.

Third. Another reason for the teachers' discontent could be the lack of teaching aids at the school. At a time when the media are continuously advertising modern technologies, when they have largely become a cult product, their implementation in the schools is very slow. It should be taken into consideration that modern technology does not mean only the hardware, but also the latest technological solutions, for example, in physics, chemistry, biology.

Factors considerably hindering the teaching of mathematics	1995	1999			
Lack of software	23.1	13.5			
Lack of bardware	211	119			

Table 1. Teachers' assessment of providing the teaching Table 2. Teachers' assessment of providing the teaching of mathematics with technologies. Source: TIMSS data

In general, our teachers and school principals in comparison with the educators from other countries are of a very low opinion regarding the available teaching aids. During the TIMSS study, a special index of teaching aids in natural sciences was created, the high value of which indicates that the school has all the necessary teaching aids to provide well-organized education work. The index was high only in 2% of Latvian schools. For the sake of comparison we can mention that, for example, in Belgium this index is high in 60% of schools, in the Czech Republic - 43%, in Lithuania - 6%. In Latvia almost 70% of the teachers of natural sciences have mentioned that the lack of equipment and materials for experiments considerably hinders teaching of natural sciences. About 65% of the teachers of natural sciences consider that the lack of equipment and materials for the work of students also is a major factor that hinders the teaching process.

Fourth. Each staff member is happy when joined by young colleagues. This improves the self-respect of each member of the collective. Of course, many graduates start working at schools, but not in sufficient numbers. Rapid aging of the teacher staff can be observed at schools. The average length of service of the teachers of natural sciences has increased by 2 years during the period from 1995 till 1998, but that of the teachers of mathematics by a year. The ratio of young teachers (under 40 years) has decreased, but the ratio of older teachers (both over 40 and over 60) has increased. Figure 1 shows the breakdown of the teachers of natural sciences by length of service at school. In 1999, the number of teachers with less than 10 years length of service has considerably decreased. The insufficient number of young people starting their work at schools leads also to the above mentioned teacher overload - the teach-

Factors considerably hindering the teaching of natural sciences	1995	1999
Lack of software	29.1	35.5
Lack of hardware	27.3	28.3

of natural sciences with technologies. Source: TIMSS data

e



Figure 2. Self-assessment of secondary school teachers of informatics concerning their qualification in the field of technologies, as well as general qualification in teaching methods



Figure 3. Model of the co-operation of students and teachers for wide integration of ICT in the training process

ers have to undertake additional classes to ensure a more or less acceptable teaching level at school.

Information and communication technologies and co-operation of teachers

In 1999, a little more than 10% of the interviewed teachers of mathematics believed that the lack of hardware and software was an essential restrictive factor in teaching mathematics (Table 1).

In turn, in 1999, about 30% of teachers of natural sciences indicated that the lack of hardware and software was an essential restrictive factor in teaching sciences at the general secondary school (Table 2).

Moreover, it should be taken into consideration that the number of teachers who are discontent with this issue has slightly increased in comparison with 1995.

The teachers of informatics and IT coordinators have a relatively important role in the dissemination of the new information related to the use of the information and communication technologies (ICT) at school. Therefore, it would be interesting to know how well these persons are trained for the co-operation with their colleagues regarding the explanation and popularization of the ICT news.

One of the ways to find out is their self-assessment. In the SITES survey, the teachers of informatics and IT

State	Informal contacts, information exchange	ICT team meetings	Regular topic at teachers' meetings	Regular newsletters	Repeated courses (cascade method)	External courses	Internal courses	School's hardware coordinator	No organized activities
Belgium	77	15	7	4	59	22	27	58	23
Bulgaria	72	5	1	4	8	25	15	17	40
Czech Republic	89	37	10	3	25	14	38	49	11
South Africa	64	9	2	2	22	12	21	37	38
France	90	12	9	7	18	22	27	57	35
Hong Kong	88	44	17	12	33	44	57	45	12
Island	100	20	13	9	12	37	41	85	29
Italy	71	35	11	3	26	30	77	49	22
Israel	60	29	8	9	43	45	52	58	24
Japan	72	42	6	2	19	39	33	48	29
Canada	92	50	14	12	33	33	46	68	22
Cyprus	88	0	0	0	4	9	7	15	36
Russia	68	9	8	2	20	44	8	8	22
Latvia	84	12	9	5	29	11	59	33	22
Lithuania	72	7	1	7	30	51	23	40	32
Luxembourg	90	6	0	0	22	50	39	75	53
Norway	90	16	5	6	18	36	79	69	26
Singapore	83	76	57	37	64	96	99	93	19
Slovakia	79	12	12	2	25	12	35	43	29
Slovenia	97	16	15	30	16	53	20	48	16
Taiwan	76	29	16	11	39	43	80	75	4

 Table 3. Ways of informing teachers on ICT news in secondary schools

coordinators had to answer questions concerning their competency in general ICT use issues (operating system, text processing, databases, table processors), as well as ICT specifics in the teaching process (customized software for different subject-areas, educational basis of integration of PCs in different subjectareas, choice and assessment of training software, the potential use of the hardware to implement the individualized approach in the teaching process).

Summarizing the obtained results, it could be said that the computer specialists in **all** countries have a considerably higher assessment of their qualification level in general ICT use issues, than of their qualification in the issues concerning the methods and educational aspects of ICT use (see Figure 2). This again agrees with the frequently heard reproaches that the various computer training courses for teachers (both of informatics and other subjectareas) do not provide the expected knowledge in the specific ICT usage methods that considerably differ in various subject-areas.

Teacher education, further education and co-operation

The teachers are well educated. In 1999, 97% of teachers of mathematics and natural sciences had received higher education. Since 1995, the number of teachers of mathematics without higher education has decreased twice (from 6% to 3%), and the number

of natural science teachers without higher education – even 3 times (from 9% to 3%)!

This trend, taking into consideration the adopted laws on teacher education, is quite understandable, since as of 2004 teachers will have to have an adequate document certifying that they have completed higher professional education.

Furthermore, the further education of teachers will continue to play a very important role both in the respective subject-area, as well as other fields, with a special emphasis on cooperation and innovative methods.

For example, the IEA SITES study emphasizes that the further education of teachers in ICT use should not be a one-time activity, as the modern technology and the related opportunities develop very fast. Therefore, it is important to identify the ways in which schools inform teachers on news regarding ICT use. Information can be passed over using teamwork, cascade type training, and training courses at school. Individual work is also possible where the latest information is exchanged on an informal basis. Table 3 provides a summary of the answers of secondary school principals to questions concerning the methods of informing the teachers on news regarding ICT. The data on primary and elementary schools are not presented, as they are similar to those of the secondary schools.

As shown in the table above, the school principals from basically all surveyed countries have mentioned the following key ways of informing the teachers on ICT news:

- ► Informal contacts (conversing, consultations, etc.)
- ► Internal courses
- ► Activities of the school's IT coordinator

Moreover, it is exactly the informal contacts that are mentioned as the most frequently used way of receiving and understanding the latest news (on the average, 81% affirmative answers in all member countries). Only 11% of the principals of the surveyed at Latvian schools mentioned external courses. This figure is one of the lowest among the other participating countries (9–96% affirmative answers). Comforting is the fact that 29% of the principals of the surveyed Latvian schools mentioned the fact that the cascade method was used at their schools, i.e., a teacher after receiving some external training delivers the respective course to her/his colleagues at school.

The organizers and operators of both the teacher education and their further education should pay special attention to introducing and using new education forms and methods, as participants of various international comparative education studies emphasize the necessity of introducing innovative solutions in education and the related changes in the organization of the further education of teachers, where the co-operation between students and the teachers of various subjectareas is emphasized. Figure 3 presents an example of a model of co-operation between students and teachers of informatics and other subject-areas based on a common innovative approach to the training process by wide application of modern technologies.

Conclusions and recommendations

- The structure of teacher education in the world can be characterized by two main models – integrated and consecutive. The integrated model ensures better compliance with the modern requirements of teacher education.
- 2. The improvement and restructuring of the teacher education programs should be performed by analyzing the requirements and the situation in the system of teacher education and not by applying general "universal" schemes. Such reforms might perhaps unify the general structure of the study programs and even reduce the costs of the initial teacher education, but in the long run this would lead to a drop in the quality of teacher education and compliance with modern requirements, as well as to increased costs of further education.
- 3. Not all of the graduates from the teacher professional study programs go to work at schools (during recent years, in the UL in general about 70% of graduates from the teacher study programs work at school, including 42% of graduates from full-time programs). However, a similar situation can be observed in many countries all over the world and in other study programs.

- 4. The issue of the increase of teacher salaries should be solved in a complex way, by analyzing the issues of the optimal number of teachers, their age structure, workload and required educational background.
- 5. The system should be improved from training teachers to teach only one subject to educating teachers to teach two or even more subjects (especially related ones, as, for example, natural sciences, human sciences and social sciences).
- 6. Motivation to work at school could be increased by providing redemption of study loans from the state budget for those who have engaged in stable and long-term job relations with schools or related institutions (in accordance with the regulations issued by the Ministry of Education and Science).
- 7. The above-mentioned and other privileges and guarantees should be applicable only to those teachers who have been licensed (certified) for this job after the acquisition of a higher education diploma in accordance with the procedure provided by the state. The Ministry of Education and Science should have the right to consider the issue of annulment of accreditation for those teacher-train-

ing programs that do not provide their graduates with the said licenses.

- 8. There should be provision of tax allowances for those who finance teacher training in state-accredited higher education institutions or studies in state-accredited programs, if the institution has proved compliance with the regulations governing non-profit organizations. It should be recognized that private financiers have the right to indicate which studies, ethnic groups, religious confessions or other officially recognized activities they want to support and to meet their preferences.
- 9. Taking into account the ever-growing migration across national borders (already at school age), to facilitate the involvement of foreigners (who are loyal to Latvia) in the teacher profession, if they have chosen this country as their permanent future residence or have decided to stay here for a long time and are licensed to work in this profession. To achieve that the licenses received in Latvia may be used (gaining full legal power in future) to take up a job of a teacher in other countries, first of all, in the European Union Member States.

References

AIC (2000). Diplomatzīšanas rokasgrāmata. Rīga: Akadēmiskās informācijas centrs.

Busch, F. W. (2002). *New Structures for Teacher Training? Integrative Versus Consequtive Models*. ATEE 27th conference, Warsaw. Green Paper on Teacher Education in Europe.

Schröder (2002). Wir brauchen ein neues Engagement für Bildung und Erziehung, www.bundeskanzler.de (retrieved 13.06.2002).

Rauhvargers A. (2002). Eiropas kopējā augstākās izglītības politika. No Lisabonas konvencijas līdz Boloņas deklarācijai, Boloņas procesā sasniegtais un vadlīnijas nākotnei. Latvijas vēsture. Jaunie un jaunākie laiki. 1 (45), pp. 9–21. Pelgrum, W. J. & Anderson, R. E. (Eds.) (2000). *ICT and the Emerging Paradigm for Life Long Learning: a Worldwide Educational Assessment of Infrastructure, Goals and Practices.* The Netherlands: University of Twente, 361 pp.

Toffler, A. & Toffler, F. (1994). *Creating a New Civilization. The Politics of the Third Wave.* Atlanta: Turner Publishing, Inc.

Aspects of Teacher Professional Development System

Mārīte Seile (School Support Centre)

Summary

The professional development of teachers is of paramount importance, because the number of young teachers is small with a tendency to decrease. The curriculum development and the introduction of new approaches are left in the hands of teachers who received their professional training some time ago. Excellence requires that new professional development programs are available to teachers through inservice programs.

However, there are several external constraints, which impede the development of an effective inservice teacher training system. Schoolchildren appear to be the losers, because equal access to education as defined in the Education Law is not provided. This paper explores the constraints to providing in-service training, isolates their causes, and recommends several improvements designed to be feasible as well as affordable.

Problem

Delegating the responsibility to local governments and schools to provide teachers with professional development opportunities causes additional inequalities among schools, which can and cannot adhere to this important requirement. Hence, equal education opportunities for schoolchildren are threatened.

Introduction

According to the Concept for Professional Development of Teachers, there are two independent paths for **professional development**:

- "continuing further education according to study programs at higher education institutions and
- systematic ongoing professional development in professional development programs".

About 10% of working teachers continue their education in academic or professional study programs.

This study will focus on the second path, i.e., professional development of teachers, because it is a more accessible, faster and more flexible way to follow systematically innovations in teaching and to encourage learning of schoolchildren. Approximately 340,000 schoolchildren study at general education schools in Latvia with nearly 34,000 working teachers. Approximately 70% of teachers, (nearly 24,000) participate in professional development programs.

Professional development of teachers is of paramount importance because the number of young teachers is small with a tendency to decrease. (Only 20% of young teachers who have graduated from universities choose to work at schools (Table 1).) Consequently, curriculum development and introduction of new approaches depends on teachers who have had their professional training some time ago, and new approaches in teaching can be primarily acquired in professional development programs.

Further, several aspects will be considered with regard to the education system in general and the system of professional development in particular.¹

Administrative changes

In the government of Latvia since 1990 there have been ten ministers of education and science; in 1995 and 1999 the ministers changed three times.

Consequently, a rhetorical question on continuity and long-term activities arises. For example, in an interview for the newspaper "Vēstis Skolai", Silva Golde, the Minister of Education and Science from July – November 1999, said: "Continuity ... When I started, in the ministry there was only an action plan for half a year, and that was all. I started in an empty room with a clean desk, because my predecessor had taken all the materials with him. Moreover, there were no meetings to discuss the work done and the work to be continued."

Frequent changes of ministers and insufficient continuity cause instability and transformations at the Ministry of Education and Science, which severely affects the whole education system. It also affects organizations in charge of professional development of teachers and staff of these organizations. There was a new director and new ideas for each new organizational structure, but the life cycle of the new ideas was equivalent to that of the new structure. New experts would not study and follow the previous experience, but by *"looking into the dark"* they would try to understand the overall situation and start building from scratch. Consequently, it is characteristic of documents on education that even if **a potentially very good idea** is presented, the documents are not adequately developed, they lack a theoretical framework, and thus, good ideas are rebutted or not fulfilled. During the debate, it is obvious that it will not be possible to implement some of the provisions.

For example, the Ministry of Education and Science Instruction No. 8 of July 18, 2001 "On Requirements for Teachers in General Education" states that all teachers should have higher professional education and qualification in the subject-area they teach.

In reality it is clear that a teacher who teaches several subjects for which according to the curriculum only a few hours are planned does not have several qualifications, therefore the Ministry of Education and Science is planning changes in the instruction.

Financing professional development

No reliable date is available on expenditures for financing professional development of teachers by sources of funding. The data suggest that teachers themselves are able to cover only a small fraction of expenditures on professional development, and, therefore, **professional development primarily depends on either state or local government financing.**

Since 1993, the principle of tenders has been applied to receive financing from the **state budget** for professional development programs.

All professional development programs can qualify for tenders, provided their objectives correspond to the tender regulations and priorities, which are different every year.

	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002
Young teachers starting to work at school and who have higher pedagogical education	601	663	609	398	408	269

Table 1. Number of young teachers. Source: Education and Culture, Riga, 10.10.2002

¹ Other aspects related to teachers' professional development are described in the paper written by M. Seile "Teachers at the Crossroads" ("A Passport to Social Cohesion and Economic Prosperity", Soros Foundation – Latvia).

For example,

"In 1995 the priorities were set as follows:

- ➢ professional development for education managers;
- methodology for teaching foreign languages;
- methodology for teaching in the primary school;
- techniques of performance assessment;
- integrated curriculum development for the primary school.

It should be noted that these tenders had an interesting *feature*, namely, among the members of the tender committee were some organizations that acquired a significant part of the total amount of financing. For example, the Ministry of Education and Science published the following in the newspaper "Izglītība un Kultūra" on February 7, 1997: "The tenders for professional development programs for teachers were reviewed by a committee consisting of experts from the Ministry of Education and Science, the In-service Training Centre, the Professional Education Centre ..." In the report on the approved financing, it is stated that approximately 24% of the total amount in the tender was awarded to the In-service Training Centre and the Professional Education Centre!

In the tender for the year 2002, the conflict of interests was eliminated by the Ministry of Education and Science Instruction No. 81 "On the Procedure for Financing of Professional Development Programs for Teachers from State Budget Resources in 2002", where it is clearly stated that 75,554 LVL or 73% of the total financing is coordinated by organizations under supervision of the Ministry of Education and Science: the Curriculum and Examination Centre, the State Youth Initiative Centre, and the Professional Education Centre.

G. Vasilevskis, the Director of the Department of General Education at the Ministry of Education and Science, explained the following: "The Law on Education states that with regard to local government education institutions, local governments should take responsibility to provide teachers with support in teaching methodology and other forms of professional development. In private education institutions, the founders should ensure opportunities for professional development of teachers. It is important for the state

Year	Financing in LVL	Teachers involved
1995	112,090	9,600
1996	122,478	9,600
1997	105,204	9,530
1998	105,204	6,900
1999	103,200	5,200
2000	103,729	3,400

Table 2. The number of participants in professionaldevelopment courses financed from the state budget.Source: IZM Izglītības darbinieku nodaļa, 2000

to secure the implementation of the national policy, information, and methodology, which professional developments programs are primarily set for. Without fixed criteria, a major share or all financing was channeled into tenders. However, it is different now. As a result, the number of providers of professional development programs has decreased. However, it is certain that education policy set by the state is followed, and it is certain that the questions most essential for the state are addressed."

The statement above seems to be indisputable, if education policy is viewed in the light of a centralized system.

However, we may reconsider this statement from a different point of view:

- The number of participants in professional development courses financed from the state budget each year decreases (see Table 2).
- According to the information sent to the school boards by the Department of Professional Development "On Professional Development of Teachers in 1995": "The analysis of reports shows that in the future more attention should be paid to financing professional development programs in the regions... School boards have better access to explore professional development needs for teachers."
- On February 17, 1998, the Director of the Advisory Board (one of the tasks of the board is to give recommendations for the development of in-service training) approved a document "On the Current Situation and Perspectives of Teachers in Latvia", where in the section on "The Needs Analysis of In-

service Training, Professional Development Programs and Implementation" it is stated:

"...to provide financing for professional development programs which are prioritized by teachers".

In the OECD (Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development) expert report on "The Analysis of the State Education Policy – Latvia. The Expert Report", in summer of the year 2000 it was stated:

"Professional development should be intensified by increasing financing and coordination, and organizing seminars to meet the needs the educators at schools have. More attention should be paid to tailormade programs to meet local needs at schools, but external seminars do not meet the needs of local educators, and teachers have to commute to attend external seminars, therefore they have to miss work in the classroom where they are needed most."

In the ASCD (Association for Curriculum Development) study in 2002:

"Efficient professional development focuses on assisting schoolchildren to achieve learning goals and to support their learning needs. There is cooperation – teachers and administration develop and implement plans. It is grounded in school, is long-term, is differentiated and is linked to the regional/national development."

In sum, the implementation of professional development programs, which are really effective and needed for schools, depends on teachers themselves, schools and local governments.

"The Concept of Professional Development of Teachers" reinforces the conclusion above:

- "The gap between financing for professional development of teachers and the needs teachers have for professional development is growing;
- state financing for professional development does not correspond to teachers' rights specified in the Law on Education, i.e., during the period of three years teachers have 30 days for professional development;
- state financing and local government subsidies do not provide resources for the implementation of priority tasks in professional development."

Consequently, teachers at schools located in territories of economically weak local governments have limited opportunities of good quality tailor-made professional development programs. In turn, it translates as a negative impact on the quality of teaching schoolchildren.

This statement may be compared to the findings in international studies: "National results in Latvia show cogently that schoolchildren in regional schools have less knowledge and skills than in Riga or other cities." (Geske, Grinfelds, Kangro, 2001.)

The real investment of local governments and schools in professional development of teachers cannot be precisely calculated, because funding for professional development is found from other sources, for example, administrative expenses, and therefore it is classified as other expenditures. According to reports from some education boards, financing of professional development for one teacher is the following: in Riga district – 5 LVL, in Cēsis district – 4.86 LVL, in Valka district – 2.30 LVL.

The World Bank experts who carried out the survey "Transition, the First Ten Years: Analysis and Lessons for Eastern Europe and the Former Soviet Union" stated:

"By decentralizing financing and management of education to employ different financing mechanisms, the EU candidate states caused exceeded inequality in accessibility, especially regarding quality between the rich and poor parts of the society and between the rich and poor households. More and more relying on financing from households and the local society, the candidate countries have emphasized the difference in education quality between the rich and poor regions. Local governments have a big difference in ability to mobilize resources from taxes and other sources."

To improve the situation, a fraction of funding for professional development of teachers can be channeled to education boards, which could develop the most suitable model for professional development, taking into consideration the local needs of teachers. Such a model would allow combining different forms of professional development and financing as, well as choosing the most appropriate professional development programs.

The World Bank states that "risk of inequality is higher in those countries, where only salaries for teachers are financed from the central budget, leaving the rest of needs to be financed upon the responsibility of local governments and parents."

Professional development should be reviewed within the context of the school's priorities and teacher's personal needs in order to promote teaching and learning. Demand regulates supply, and if the client has financial resources, the client can choose the most suitable and needed form and content to satisfy personal needs. As a result, the system may become more flexible, and the Ministry of Education and Science will be able to focus on other priority tasks.

This statement coincides with a project on the education system development by the Ministry of Education and Science "A Manual on School Assessment and Development Planning", which will be used as a reference material in self-evaluation and external evaluation processes. In relation to personnel development at school, there are two entries:

- relationship between personnel development and the school's development plan (for example: teachers participate in professional development programs corresponding to the school's priorities; the administration of the school provide professional development of teachers in order to promote the implementation of the development plan; in the development plan professional development needs of educators are indicated);
- efficiency of personnel development (for example, information about professional development events of each educator is systematically registered; at school there is a specified procedure to explore professional development needs of each educator; educators report on the content and efficiency of professional development programs they have attended; at school there is a certain system to disseminate new information obtained at professional development programs).

Quality of professional development programs

On a positive note, the Ministry of Education and Science has started to survey the providers of professional development programs and coordinate the programs with the Ministry of Education and Science; the programs are available on the Ministry's *website*. These activities could promote quality development of the programs offered to teachers.

The coordination process at the Ministry of Education and Science could be improved.

Currently, the provider submits a program for coordination at the Ministry. However, it is difficult to have a quality insight and evaluate the program based on an overview on a couple of pages; the committee does not have a chance to see the program running and feedback of participants. Moreover, it should be noted that professional development programs can take a couple of hours or they can be of a long-term character, therefore, there can be a number of programs to be coordinated.

Therefore, it should be discussed whether all financial resources spent on coordination by coordinators and by program providers are adequate.

Licensing providers of professional development programs would be more efficient, taking into account the analysis of feedback from participants. It will be possible to allocate more time for each organization to assess quality of services provided, and program providers will be more flexible towards the needs of educators.

During the last few years importance of education as a guarantee for development of a knowledge-intensive national economy has been stressed in governmental documents, political party programs, and informal discussions. The necessity to develop an education system that will be based on critical thinking skills employed in a lifelong learning process and not on education based on memorizing facts has been clearly stated. Moreover, the developed countries of the world OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development) are carrying out research "PISA – Programme for International Student Assessment" to assess skills of schoolchildren to apply knowledge in real-life situations. In the year 2000 31 countries (including Latvia) took part in the first round.

One of conclusions based on the Programme for International Student Assessment (OECD, 2000) noted that "low indices of the EU candidate countries (the following candidate countries participated in the survey: Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland and Latvia) state that education systems in those countries should make significant input in developing the highest skills of thinking, for example, synthesis, analysis, application and "thinking outside the frame". In order to reach the goal, fundamental change in the content of study programs and teaching methods need to be implemented, including pedagogical methods directly aimed at the schoolchildren and based on research, as well as alongside with textbooks and teachers' presentations use additional information sources." The research noted that those exactly are the skills that are important in the global economy.

Two important conclusions in relation to professional development offer can be summarized based on the above mentioned statements:

- equal attention should be paid both to the content and to methods when evaluating the quality of professional development services,
- educators should be provided with free and quality access to the Internet, so that they can use available resources and offers for professional development.

Allocation of responsibilities

The Concept of Professional Development states: "The competence of the Ministry of Education and Science in professional development is:

- 1) to implement consolidated national policy and strategy,
- 2) to develop draft legislation,
- to organize quality assessment of teachers and education managers;
- to provide state financing for national professional development programs and projects, and coordination and support for professional development;
- 5) to organize state recognition and accreditation of programs and approve professional development;

- 6) to coordinate professional development of teachers and research projects;
- 7) to develop guidelines for professional development programs and recommendations on methodology;
- to prepare public tenders and recommendations for granting state financing;
- 9) to organize a quality and efficiency assessment of professional development programs."

"Non-governmental organizations and higher education institutions **develop** and **implement** professional development programs, projects and study programs.""

According to the Education Law, the Ministry of Education and Science "should implement the national policy and development strategy in education, develop draft legislation, organize education and professional development of teachers, and coordinate research and methodology". Consequently, neither the Ministry, nor any of the institutions subordinated to the Ministry should provide professional development programs. It is the only way to develop positive competition among providers of professional development programs and at the same time to ensure capacity building for professional development service providers in Latvia, as well as to be as close as possible to the customer.

When preparing the paper (June–November, 2002) the author faced a fact that hardly any reliable and recognized data on activities in the professional development system of Latvia are available. Therefore, one can raise the issue how would it be possible to research and forecast trends in the professional development system, given the lack of reliable information which can be used for analysis.

Recommendations

To provide all schoolchildren in Latvia with equal education opportunities, first, equal education opportunities should be provided for all teachers in Latvia. A few suggestions to achieve the goal:

to develop a professional in-service training system based on a strong theoretical framework with stable financing, irrespective of political changes;

- ► to guarantee **subsidies** to schools or education boards to support professional development of teachers, by means of which professional develop- > to provide teachers real access to quality and ment can be tailor-made to meet local needs;
- ► to develop the **capacity** of professional development program providers in Latvia, with the Ministry

remaining responsible for strategy and regulatory control;

advanced services of information and communication technology.

References

Bērziņa Ā. (2002, 28.02.). Par pedagogu tālākizglītību 2002. gadā. Izglītība un Kultūra, Rīga.

Desmitniece K. (2002). *Tālāk? Izglītība. Tālāk? //* Vēstis Skolai, nr. 35.

Geske A. (2000). Matemātikas un dabaszinātņu izglītības attīstības tendenču starptautiskais pētījums 1995–1999. Rīga: Mācību grāmata.

Geske, A., Grinfelds, A., Kangro, A. (2001). The Quality of Education in Latvia in the International and National Context. In: *A Passport to Social Cohesion and Economic Prosperity. Report on education in Latvia 2000.* Rīga: Sorosa fonds – Latvija.

ISAP (2002). Skolu vērtēšanas un attīstības plānošanas rokasgrāmata. Rīga: IZM, Izglītības sistēmas attīstības projekts.

Izglītības likums (1991, 15.08.). Izglītības likums. *Ziņotājs*, nr. 31, Rīga.

IZM (1996a, 21.11.). IZM Tālākizglītības departamenta informācija. Izglītība un Kultūra, Rīga.

IZM (1996b, 10.09.). Par pedagogu profesionālās meistarības pilnveidi. IZM Tālākizglītības departaments, Rīga.

IZM (1998). Izglītības attīstības stratēģiskā programma, 1998.—2003. Rīga: IZM.

IZM (2000a, 03.11.). *Tālākizglītība Latvijā – realitāte un vīzija. Konferences materiāli.* LR IZM Tālākizglītības attīstības fonds, Rīga.

IZM (2000b). Vispārējās izglītības iestāžu direktoru reģionālo konferenču darba materiāli. 22.03.2000.–05.04.2000. Rīga: IZM Vispārējās izglītības departaments.

LU (1996). *Skolotāju tālākizglītība. Rakstu krājums.* Rīga: Latvijas Universitāte.

Mertaugh, M. (2002). *Education in the Accession Countries*. Washington D. C.: The World Bank.

OECD (2000). *Literacy in the Information Age*. Paris and Ottawa: OECD and Statistics Canada.

OECD (2001). Reviews of National Policies for Education. Latvia. Paris: OECD.

Pļavniece A. (1997). *Pārskats par pedagogu tālākizglītības sistēmas darbību (1995.–1997. g.).* Rīga: IZM PIAC Pedagogu tālākizglītības daļa.

WB (2002). Transition, the First Ten Years: Analysis and Lessons for Eastern Europe and the Former Soviet Union. Washington D. C.: The World Bank.

TTM (2002). *In-Service Teacher Training System*. Hungary: In-Service Teacher Training Methodological and Information Centre.

MEMT (2000). *Learning for Life*. Canada, Toronto: Ministry of Education and Ministry of Training.

Professional Development Planning, http://www.ascd.org/trai ningopportunities/ossd/planning.html (retrieved 03.11. 2002).

The OECD programme for international student assessment, http://www.pisa.oecd.org (retrieved 20.10.2002).

CHAPTER 4. HIGHER EDUCATION

Student Loans and Access to Higher Education in Latvia

Rita Kaša

Summary

Latvia has a state-established financial support system providing different assistance to students who have been granted state-financed study slots and students covering their tuition fees from personal resources. Some students receive scholarships/grants and partly paid public transport fares. Students who study at state accredited tertiary institutions may also receive state-guaranteed loans from resources of credit institutions for payment of tuition fee and covering daily living costs. A much more limited number of students may receive loans from credit institutions on the basis of an individual agreement, but this trend is developing. Public foundations, legal entities and individuals also offer student loans and scholarships. However, not all young people can receive funding for acquiring higher education within the state-established student funding system. The paper analyses the existing student support system and concludes that state support is not linked to the financial situation of the students. Consequently, the state funding is not allocated to the students who are in the most need of it. Considering the increasing social and economic stratification of society, the paper concludes that student funding should be based not only on student academic performance, but also on their income levels.

Problem

A merit-based public student funding system does not provide equal access to higher education for young people coming from low-income families. Thus it enhances the social stratification in Latvia.

Introduction

There is a worldwide trend of gradual transfer of higher education costs from the government and taxpayers to students and their parents. This fact is evidenced by increasing tuition fees in the countries where they have existed before and introduction of tuition fee in those countries where higher education traditionally has been free of charge. Such example in Western Europe is Great Britain and among socialist countries China (Weifang, 2001). The aforementioned trends are also observed in the Central and East European countries, including Latvia, where the state monopoly on higher education was abolished by the Education Law of 1991, which allowed to establish higher education institutions and to introduce tuition fees. Since then an increasing number of students in tertiary institutions do not receive any public funding. For example, in the academic year 1990/1991 all 46,000 students studied in the universities of Latvia free of charge (SSK, 1992: 176). In the academic year 2001/2002 the number of students in Latvian tertiary institutions reached 110,550, of which 70% had to finance their studies themselves (IZM, 2001b).

It should be mentioned that costs of education increase social stratification in Latvia, as many young people who wish to study cannot cover the study expenses. Besides, the widest offer of higher education concentrates in Riga where the living costs are the highest in the country¹. In study year 2001/2002 about 80% of all Latvian students studied in Riga (IZM, 2001b).

The experience of different countries shows that there is no identical or ideal model of student funding that would provide equal access to higher education for all students representing different social layers. However, there are similar measures different countries use to reach the goal. These measures can be classified into two groups. The first group includes scholarships and various grants, the second funding in the form of loans.

Funding of students in the form of lending has particularly developed over the last decade of the twentieth century. At the same time it is observed that countries, when allocating grants, pay special attention to students from low-income families or families whose annual income is below a defined level. Granting of scholarships is also related to student academic performance.

In Latvia non-reimbursable state support is available only to those students who have won the competition for state-funded study slots in the stateowned higher education institutions. The tuition fee for those students is covered by the state, and they are also entitled to state scholarship and in special cases may apply for an additional grant or allowance. Other students must pay their tuition fees and are not entitled to any grants from the state. Unlike the USA, Great Britain and many other countries, in Latvia the public funding of students is not connected with the income level of the student's family. Namely, public funding for tertiary education is provided only to students with good grades, irrespective of whether they need it more than others.

To provide students with an opportunity to raise funds for their studies, the state at first established a loan system for covering the living costs of the student and the tuition fee. Within this system loans were furnished by the state. Later the system was modified and now the loans are provided from the resources of commercial banks and guaranteed by the state².

This article will present an overview of the student financial support system in Latvia, analyze its drawbacks and offer solutions for possible improvement or alteration of the financial flow mechanism in order to enhance accessibility of higher education in Latvia.

Financial support to students in the developed countries

To show the variety of methods applied for organization of financial support to students in order to provide equal opportunities to acquire higher education to persons with different socio-economic backgrounds, a few case-studies of the developed countries will be discussed.

For example, Germany in 1971 adopted the Federal Education and Training Act with the aim to provide low-income students with non-reimbursable state scholarships, where the amount of each scholarship is linked to the parents' income (GSE, 2002). Later the conditions were changed and the funding for

¹ In study year 2001/2002 only 7 of 34 Latvian institutions of higher education were situated outside Riga. Public institutions of higher education: Latvian Agricultural University (Jelgava), Daugavpils University (Daugavpils), Liepāja Pedagogical University (Liepāja), Rēzekne University (Rēzekne), Ventspils Graduate School (Ventspils), Vidzeme Graduate School (Valmiera). Private institutions of higher education: Latvian Evangelic Christian Academy (Jūrmala).

² Loans for social needs of students have been provided from state budget resources since 1997, while loans for covering the tuition fee only since 1999. Allocation of the said loans from the state budget resources was terminated in autumn 2001, when the system of lending to students from the resources of credit institutions became functional; within its framework students can apply for both types of state-guaranteed loans.

low-income students consisted of two parts – 50% non- reimbursable state scholarship and 50% – noninterest bearing loan repayable within 20 years starting from the fifth year after graduation. However, the Federal Education and Training Act also requires students to meet specific academic criteria in order to receive such support. As a result, after completion of the fifth term students must submit "the qualification certificate" to retain their rights to the above mentioned state support. If a student needs more time to fulfill the requirements of a certain program, he or she is only eligible for a loan with a 4–5% interest rate. The repayment period for such loans begins six months following graduation.

Germany has also established compulsory participation of the parents in funding of their children's higher education. Depending on their financial position, the law sets an obligation for the parents to cover partially their children's expenses for learning materials, accommodation and eating. Due to this, a part of the financial support designated for a student is directed to their parents. All families with students under the age of 27 receive a monthly "kindergeld" or the so-called "child support allowance", as well as enjoy certain tax discounts (GSE, 2002). That refers to all students, as in Germany there is no such status as a "part-time student".

In the Netherlands the amount of the tuition fee is the decisive factor for establishing the eligibility of a student for state support (GSE, 2002). Students who receive support pay a tuition fee set by the state, while those students who do not receive any support pay the tuition fee set by the educational institution. The group which does not receive support includes parttime students and those full-time students whose personal income exceeds the income level set to identify eligibility for study support or who have already used their rights to receive it (GSE, 2002). In general, all fulltime students in the Netherlands are entitled to a basic grant. However, depending on their parents' income level, students may receive also an additional grant for the period of time usually required to accomplish studies (in most cases four to five years) (GSE, 2002). Students are also eligible for loans with an interest rate of

about 2% above the interest on long-term government bonds.

In Scotland tuition fees were introduced in the academic year 1998/1999. The amount of tuition fee depended on the annual income of the student's family. Students from low-income families were not required to pay a tuition fee. After Scotland gained its autonomous status in 1999, the new Scottish Parliament decided to change the system for collection of tuition fees. Starting from the academic year 2001/ 2002 payment of tuition fee upon entering the higher education institution was cancelled and replaced by the requirement applicable to all students after graduation to contribute a certain amount to the Scottish Alumni Endowment Fund. The obligation of payment becomes valid as soon as the graduate's annual income reaches a set level. The amount payable to the Scottish Alumni Endowment Fund is paid through the student loan repayment system, which provides for commencement of repayment of the debt as soon as the debtor's income has reached a certain level (income-contingent loan) (GSE, 2002). It is provided through the existing personal income tax administration system.

The same procedure exists also in other parts of the Great Britain, while otherwise the student funding system in England and Wales is different.

In accordance with the procedure prevailing in Great Britain during the 1980ies, students did not have to pay for their tuition themselves. Social grants to students were paid through the taxation system and were related to the annual income of parents. Therefore, students from well-off families received either a small grant or nothing at all. It was assumed that the parents would provide financial support equal to the grant (the so-called "parental contribution"). On the other hand, students from low-income families received a full amount of state-funded grant. However, over time the amount of the state-funded grant became insufficient to cover students' daily living expenses. Therefore, to provide at least a partial solution to this problem the student loan system was introduced in the beginning of the nineties. Within this system students in Great Britain still did not have to

pay for their tuition. Instead, a half of their social expenses was covered from the grant, which was based on the parents' income level, and the other half was covered from an interest-free loan from the state budget available only to full-time students (Barr, 2001: 202).

This system was complicated and expensive for the state; moreover, it did not significantly improve accessibility of higher education to students from lower socio-economic strata (Barr, 2001: 204). Therefore, the decision was made to reform it.

In 1997 a partial tuition fee (25% of the average costs of educational process) was introduced in England and Wales and was applicable to local and the European Union students. The amount of the tuition fee was not the same for all students. It depended on the income level of the student's family. Thus the low-income students did not have to pay anything, the well-off students paid the full amount, while for the others the amount varied depending on their socio-economic position. At the same time the subsistence grant was abolished and an income-related students loan system was introduced where repayment of a student's loan was linked to his or her income level (Barr, 2001: 204).

While the higher education system in Great Britain is characterized by centralized planning, the situation is completely opposite in the USA. First of all, the US higher education sector is huge and diverse. Higher educational establishments themselves determine tuition fees, however, the state partly controls the state-owned universities. Students are eligible for funding from a variety of financial resources – the family, federal and state-level loans, scholarships granted by various universities and foundations established by corporations and private donors, as well as private earnings of the student. In general, the US student financial support system can be characterized as a lack of a system, although the financial resources available to students are coordinated.

US federal support to students is provided in the form of cheap loans (low interest-rate) or (to a lesser degree) different scholarships. This support is designated for students from low-income or averageincome families Students from wealthy families must pay for their tuition themselves irrespective of their academic performance.

The federal government ensures availability of minimally subsidized or non-subsidized loans in sufficient amount to those students of private institutions whose parents are no longer able to contribute to their children's higher education due to reaching the critical verge of the family's economic stability.

At the federal level the US government's financial support to students hardly takes into account the academic achievements of the students and very seldom their chosen occupation. Federal support can be divided into two categories: (1) the so-called "Pell Grant", which is granted only to students (under 25 years of age) from families whose income in the particular year does not exceed the set poverty threshold; this grant is non-reimbursable; (2) federally guaranteed loans. These may be either state-subsidized, or nonsubsidized, of varying annual and total amounts for different groups of students (GSE, 2002).

Federal loans and grants may be freely moved from one institution of higher education to another, irrespective of whether it is a public or a private institution. This maintains high competitiveness among the American universities and explains the quality of higher education and flexibility in the higher education institutions in the USA.

In general, it can be concluded that in highly developed countries the state financial support system is devised with the purpose to provide equal study opportunities to students from socially and economically handicapped families. Still, each of these systems should be assessed separately, in order to arrive at the conclusion on whether the system is complete and efficient (with as little investments as possible) in attaining its goal.

Student financial support system in Latvia

Higher education system in Latvia

The Education Law adopted in 1991 abolished the state monopoly on establishment and financing of higher educational institutions and setting the number of students. The Law provided that the state shall cover education costs only for a limited number of specialists "needed" by the state, while all the other students must finance their tuition themselves. Also the academic freedom and autonomy of higher education institutions were established (Law on Higher Educational Establishments, 1995).

Abolition of the state monopoly enhanced establishment of private higher education institutions. During a ten year period from 1991 to 2001 the number of higher education establishments in Latvia grew almost threefold. Among the founders of new higher education institutions, along with legal entities and individuals, were also local governments and the state. In 2002 the number of higher education institutions in Latvia totaled 34, of which 20 were state-owned institutions, and 14 established by legal entities (IZM, 2001b).

Higher education institutions provide both academic and professional study programs for full-time and part-time students.

Nearly all state-owned institutions offer both state budget-funded slots and student-funded slots³. Higher education in part-time studies can be obtained only for a fee. Similarly, also in the institutions established by legal entities students have to pay for their education. The state only defines the number of students to be admitted to state-funded study slots. Higher education institutions define the number of students who shall pay tuition fee.

Young people as a target group for financial support

Tuition fees in different universities and study programs vary to a large extent (in the academic year 2001/2002 it varied from 100 LVL to 1,650 LVL in state-owned institutions and from 175 LVL to 2,600 LVL in institutions established by legal entities) (IZM, 2001b). In most cases the tuition fee in universities located in Riga is considerably higher than the fees for the same study programs in other cities. Nevertheless, the majority of students acquire their higher education in different higher education establishments in Riga, completing full-time study programs (IZM, 2001b). Only slightly more than 20% of all students study at higher education establishments in other cities⁴. That means that about 80% of students who study in Riga need considerable funds to pay their tuition fee and cover daily living costs. Moreover, higher educational establishments usually require payment of the entire one-term fee at once⁵. The state has not set the upper limit of the tuition fee, and the universities are increasing their tuition fees from year to year.

At the same time it is important to note that over the last five years the number of students has considerably grown due to the increasing number of student-funded study slots. The number of state-funded vacancies has remained almost unchanged.

In the academic year 2001/2002 tuition fee was paid by 70% of all students (IZM, 2001b). During this period 63% of all students were involved in full-time

	13337 1330	1000, 1001	1331/1330	1330, 1333	1333/2000	2000/2001	2001/2002
Number of students at higher ed. institutions	43,521	50,640	64,948	76,653	89,509	101,270	110,500
State-funded students	30,181	30,392	31,633	32,763	32,572	33,813	32,988
Those paying tuition fee	13,340	20,248	33,315	43,890	56,937	67,457	77,512

1995/1996 1996/1997 1997/1998 1998/1999 1999/2000 2000/2001 2001/2002

Table 1. Dynamics of the number of state-funded and student-funded study slots.Source: CSP, 1996–2000; IZM, 2001b

³ Tuition fee does not exist only in the National Defence Academy of Latvia, Stockholm School of Economics in Riga and Riga Graduate School of Law, whereas students of the Latvian Banking College are admitted only subject to payment of tuition fee.

⁴ In the academic year 2001/2002 in total 22,851 students (IZM, 2001b).

⁵ In exceptional cases it is possible to prolong the term of payment.

programs (IZM, 2001b). State-funded education is offered only to full-time students. Therefore, 30% of students acquiring free education are full-time students. Consequently, 33% of full-time students have to finance their studies themselves. The analysis of student age structure implies that in the given academic year more than a half of all students, i.e., 54%, were young people aged between 18 and 23. Most of them studied in full-time study programs, constituting 73.1% of the total number of students (IZM, 2001b).

It can be inferred that the main target group for financial support includes young people aged between 18 and 23 who are just trying to enter the labor market and can neither fully support themselves, nor pay their tuition fee.

During their studies 40.1% of students in Latvia live in dormitories, 24.5% of students live with their parents, 17.8% rent a room or a flat, 11.1% have their own housing, and 6.5% stay with relatives, friends or acquaintances (LSA, 2001).

Money provided by parents or relatives constitutes the largest part in the student income structure, followed by grants (scholarships), state-funded allowances and salaries, including remuneration for odd jobs. The student loan for daily expenses constitutes the smallest part of the overall student income structure. The survey data show that more than a half of the students have full-time jobs (LSA, 2001).

Support in the form of grants and compensations

State-funded grants for covering daily living costs in Latvia are received only by those full-time students who have won the competition for state-funded study slots at public higher educational establishments. Grants are allocated from the grant (scholarship) fund of each particular higher educational establishment (MK 182, 2002). The grant (scholarship) fund of an educational institution is formed from state resources. The line ministry which supervises the respective educational institution calculates the amount allocated to the fund from the state budget annually⁶.

To calculate the amount of grants/scholarship fund for students of Bachelor's, Master's and professional studies programs, the number of state-funded slots is multiplied by 8.5 LVL a month (MK 182, 2002). Each student studying medicine in a resident program and doctoral students are granted a scholarship of 58 LVL a month. Students of the two latter programs may also apply for an additional monthly grant in the amount of 60 LVL, provided that the student is working on promotional work in the respective field of education identified by the Ministry of Education and Science (MK 182, 2002). Allocation of this grant is subject to conclusion of a separate agreement, and, if within five years from matriculation date the student has failed to perform his/her obligations under the said agreement, the student is obliged to repay the received grant to the state budget in accordance with the same procedure applicable to student loans allocated from the state budget.

Full-time female students of public higher education institutions are eligible for a special maternity grant of 50 LVL during pregnancy and maternity leave. Provision of this grant is subject to several conditions. Namely, a person is entitled to receive the maternity grant if she does not receive a regular grant/scholarship. This means that also students studying for tuition fee may apply for the same grant (MK 182, 2002).

The minimum grant/scholarship for students of Bachelor's, Master's and professional programs is 8 LVL per month (MK 182, 2002). The educational in-

⁶ The Ministry of Agriculture supervises the Latvian Agricultural University, the Ministry of Welfare – Riga Stradins University, the Ministry of Defence – the National Defence Academy of Latvia, the Ministry of the Interior – the Latvian Police Academy, the Ministry of Culture supervises Jāzeps Vītols Latvian Music Academy, Latvian Culture Academy and the Latvian Academy of Fine Arts. The Ministry of Education and Science supervises the University of Latvia, Riga Technical University, Daugavpils University, Liepāja Pedagogical University, Rēzekne University, Ventspils Graduate School, Vidzeme Graduate School, Latvian Graduate School of Banking, Riga Graduate School of Pedagogics and School Management, Latvian Academy of Sports Education, Latvian Maritime Academy, Stocholm School of Economics in Riga and Riga Graduate School of Law.

stitution itself may set the maximum amount of grant within the limits of the total grant/scholarship fund.

Public higher educational establishments are more flexible in distributing scholarships and special grants for students. They may set the amount of monthly grant/scholarship related to student's performance (LLU, 2002; RTU, 2002; VeA, 2002). However, institutions established with state participation after 1991 are placed in a slightly different position. For example, at the Ventspils Graduate School the scholarship/grant fund consists of state and local government budget resources, as initially the funds allocated by the state were not sufficient to ensure payment of scholarships in the amount set by legislation (VeA, 2002). Students of Vidzeme Graduate School have been receiving state-funded scholarships/grants only since September 2002, although the school acquired the status of a public higher educational institution already in 20017.

Those higher educational establishments whose scholarship/grant fund consists of state budget resources may allocate up to 5% of the total scholarship fund for single grants. The amount of single grants within a year may not exceed ten minimum scholarships, i.e., 80 LVL. It is within the discretion of the particular institution to decide on allocation of these funds. The Latvian Agricultural University provides a special additional grant of 8 LVL to students who are orphans. However, the major part of these funds are used to support students who have attained outstanding academic achievements, as well as to support cultural, sports and research activities of students (LLU, 2002). Instead of supporting successful students, Riga Technical University distributes special grants according to other criteria. This grant is paid as an additional allowance of 5 or 8 LVL to students who are orphans, single mothers, or if both parents are students and have a young child. In addition, entitled to this grant are students with one deceased parent, one or both parents pensioners, students from large families, or students with one parent who is a first or the

second category disabled person. Riga Technical University also reviews the cases of students from lowincome families, though not all applications can be satisfied, as this situation is common to a large number of students (RTU, 2002).

Some universities where along with state-funded students there are students who pay tuition fees are implementing the "rotation" of students. Namely, depending on the level of academic achievements after each examination session, state-funded slots are made open to high achievers, whereas those students who have achieved less are forced to continue their studies for a fee. In some public universities the rotation principle has not been implemented, in some others it has been introduced partially. It means that full-time students with good performance results who pay tuition fee may apply for a vacant slot in the statefunded group (Grīnuma 2002b; Krūmiņa, 2001; LLU, 2002).

Young people who have already entered a higher education institution have an opportunity to receive scholarships or loans granted by public foundations, business companies or individuals. For instance, "Latvijas Studiju fonds" (The Latvian Education Foundation) within the framework of its target program grants scholarships to students who have demonstrated outstanding achievements in a competition. So far, over the period of ten years, more than 2000 students have received scholarships (Izglītības fonds, 2002). The public education foundation "Jaunā akadēmija" (New Academy) grants scholarships in the form of an interest-free loan to finance the tuition fee, and this loan must be paid back within five years. The loan is issued to students under 25 years of age, considering their study results. So far about 500 students in Latvia have received support (New Academy, 2002). Scholarships are from time to time granted by enterprises (e.g., Ventspils Nafta grants scholarships to students of the Ventspils Graduate School) and private individuals (e.g. Aivars Lembergs to students of the Ventspils Graduate School; Vilis Krištopans to students

⁷ Prior to that Vidzeme Graduate School had the status of an educational institution established by legal entities (local governments) and received funding from the state (ViA, 2002).

of the Riga Technical University) (VeA, 2002; RTU, 2002). In this case the decisive factor is performance results and social activity. However, there are scholarships which are allocated directly on the basis of the socio-economic position of a young person. For instance, through cooperation between the "Latvijas bernu fonds" (Latvia Children's Fund) and the American-Latvian Association, scholarships are granted to orphans who have completed their secondary education and have decided to continue their studies at higher educational establishments (NRA, 2002). "Vītolu fonds" (Vitolu Foundation) also grants scholarships with an aim to assist gifted, talented young people in need to commence studies in the Latvian institutions of higher education (Diena, 2002)8. In addition, tens of enterprises and professional associations offer material support to their potential employees in return for good study results and, later, a qualified specialist (Grīnuma, 2002c).

As a form of financial support to students of higher educational establishments at the national policy level, students enjoy discounts on public transportation fares (MK 370, 1999). However, the said discounts are applicable only to some students.

Full-time students at public universities receive travel reimbursement from the state budget, covering 50% of expenses during an academic year. Travel reimbursement covers expenses for students who use public intercity transport to commute from their place of residence to the educational establishment or to the place of internship. In fact, students get a refund for one round trip a month.

Full-time students of private universities, like the students of public establishments, are entitled to a 50% discount on city public transportation fares, pro-

vided that the student produces a season ticket (for instance, a travel card). The difference is paid from the municipal budget (MK 370, 1999). However, not all local governments having higher educational establishments provide such discounts⁹.

A special group includes orphans and children not supported by their parents. They are entitled to free travel in city public transport, as well as any inland public transport, subject to producing a special certificate (MK 370, 1999).

In Latvia financing of higher education is a state function rather than a municipal responsibility (Law on Local Authorities, 1994). Therefore, support provided to students by local authorities is quite limited, but nevertheless present in some cases. Local authority on the basis of a special agreement with a student (e.g., that the student undertakes after graduation to return and work for the local authority, or already is a municipal employee) may cover the student's tuition fee. Local authorities may also provide additional grants to the best students of a higher educational institution located within the territory of the particular local authority¹⁰.

Tax allowances

In Latvia expenditures on education are regarded as eligible expenditures, meaning that a part of the money spent to pay tuition fee is subject to state refund, provided that the personal income tax is paid properly (Law On Personal Income Tax, 1993).

The government sets an annual limit on eligible expenditures, of which one fourth of declared expenses may be refunded by the state, since the personal income tax rate is 25%. In order to receive a refund for overpayment, a person must submit the

⁸ Discounts on public transport fares in Jelgava city are available to students of Latvia University of Agriculture (LLU, 2002); no discounts on public transport fares in Valmiera city are available to students of Vidzeme College of Higher Education (ViA, 2002).

⁹ Discounts on public transportation fares in Jelgava city are available to students of Latvia Agricultural University (LLU, 2002); No discounts on public transportation fares in Valmiera city are available to students of Vidzeme Graduate School (ViA, 2002).

¹⁰ For instance, the Daugavpils local government allocates grants to students with good and excellent grades, who actively participate in the social life of the educational institution, upon recommendation by the respective institution. Local authorities allocate grants to students who have concluded agreements on employment at institutions subordinated to Daugavpils Educational Board (Daugavpils City Council, 2001).

previous year's tax return to the State Revenue Service.

If a taxpayer's expenses for medical services or education exceed the limit on eligible expenditures set for the respective year, the difference exceeding the admissible amount may be transferred for the nearest five years. For instance, if the limit on eligible expenditures is 150 LVL, but the actual tuition fee paid in the previous year has been 400 LVL, a person may include 150 LVL in eligible expenditures of the year 2001 and the remaining 250 LVL in the eligible expenditures of the subsequent years. If a student does not have a paid job, and the student's family pays his/her tuition fee, this amount may be treated as an eligible expenditure of one of the family members who is a tax-payer (Cauce, 2002).

Lending to students

To provide access to funds to an extensive number of students for covering tuition fees and living costs the state has established a student loan system.

In the fall of 2001 Latvia introduced lending to students from the resources of commercial banks against the government's guarantee. But two and four years prior to that, respectively, students were offered an opportunity to receive a loan for covering living costs and a loan for covering tuition fee from state budget resources¹¹. Transition to state-guaranteed student loans from the resources of commercial banks was carried out with the purpose of increasing the total amount of funds available to students and to alleviate the actual expenditure burden on the state budget¹².

Any holder of a Latvian citizen or non-citizen passport who successfully studies in state-accredited fulltime or part-time study programs may apply for a state guaranteed loan for payment of the tuition fee, called a study loan. Loans for covering living expenses, called student loans, are available only for full-time students.

The study loan, the amount of which does not exceed the particular tuition fee, can be obtained for consecutive acquisition of no more than one Bachelor's degree, one Master's degree, one Doctor's degree or higher vocational education qualifications; its term may not exceed the time designated for studies in the respective program. The study loan is provided for 10 months a year. The monthly loan for the first, second and third year students is 60 LVL, for fourth year students in Bachelor's and Master's study programs it is 80 LVL, and for doctoral students 100 LVL.

A state-guaranteed loan from commercial bank resources may be obtained also for studies abroad.

A credit institution may charge a commission not exceeding the limit of 3 LVL for processing of the loan application¹³.

During the study period the study loan is an interest-free loan. Interest thereon shall be calculated either one year following the graduation, or from the third month following the date of termination of studies by applying 5% interest rate. The same interest rate has been set for the student loan, and it must be paid by the student. Since in general interest rates charged by credit institutions are higher, the government subsidizes these loans by covering the difference between the interest rate fixed by the bank and the interest rate to be paid by the student.

The government also guarantees loans issued to students. Most loan applicants are students seeking state guarantee for 90% of the loan amount. In addition, these students need either two guarantees from two individuals, or offer a mortgage of real estate or

¹¹ Disbursement of loans for studies from the state budget, based on concluded agreements, will be continued until 2007. New agreements on such loans from the state budget have not been signed following October 30, 2001 (IZM, 2001a).

¹² State guarantee for loans to students from resources of credit institutions does not require actual expenditures from the state budget. The only actual expenditure for the state is paying the difference between the interest rate set by the bank and that paid by the student (students do not have to pay full the interest rate. They pay only a 5% interest rate). When the state was providing loans from the state budget, the state had to pay the principal.

¹³ Usually this service of commercial banks is more expensive, but provisions on lending to students set the specified limit. In accordance with the regulations the credit institution itself takes the decision and requests this commission.

securities. It should be noted that the borrowers almost never use the latter two opportunities¹⁴.

In special circumstances, where one of the borrower's parents is deceased, is a disabled person of the first or second disability category or a pensioner, a credit institution may issue the loan against the guarantee of one individual only. It is important to note that the student's guarantor may only be a person whose monthly income is not below the official minimum wage limit set by the state¹⁵. A person who is a student and uses the loan for covering study expenses or living costs in this case may not act as a guarantor.

Some students – orphans and children deprived of parental care – are provided a 100% government guarantee. It is also prescribed that the state shall provide a 100% guarantee to students from low-income families. However, the respective student must first obtain the guarantee from the local authority. It means that students from low-income families will receive the loan from a commercial bank only subject to guarantee from the local authorities. During the first year of operation of the lending procedure, this system was not applied, since the amendments to law allowing local authorities to act as guarantors of individuals were not adopted.

Some higher educational establishments and organizations are individually seeking other crediting possibilities. For example, the Stockholm School of Economics in Riga already for several years has individual agreements with banks on providing study loans for the Stockholm School of Economics in Riga students (REA, 2002). In such cases 100% of the loan is guaranteed by the School¹⁶. The loan amount is agreed to between the bank and the student. The interest rate of these loans is lower than the market rate, and it is paid by the student (Hansabanka, 2002). Another option is to conclude an agreement between a bank and a company regarding disbursement of a loan to particular students¹⁷. The respective company then provides the loan guarantee. The individual loan agreements may include provisions on a different repayment procedure. It may, for example, be agreed, that a student – the borrower – shall start to pay the interest after some specified time period when the interest is accrued.

It should be mentioned that the initiatives of the commercial banks concerning student loans are gradually developing. For example, *Unibanka* provides study loans for students who study in Master's programs, higher professional study programs or doctoral programs (Unibanka, 2002). *Parex Bank* has also developed its student loan policy (Parex, 2002). These loans are granted as commercial loans on corresponding conditions.

The repayment of loans issued against the state guarantee must be effected no later than from the third month after termination of studies, or no later than within one year after graduation. If the total amount of loans exceeds 1,000 LVL, the borrower shall repay the principal amount and the interest within a 10-year period. If the amount is lower, the term for repayment shall be 5 years.

There is also an option not to have to repay a study loan and student loan issued against the state guarantee. Eligible for this solution are the borrowers who relevant to their academic or professional background become employed by the state institutions or local authorities in any of the occupations included in a special list approved by the government annualy.

For each year worked in the respective profession, the borrower gets a reduction of 10% of the loan amount. If the borrower works at the respective institution part-time, each year the total loan amount will be reduced by 5%.

¹⁴ In 2001 of 3,244 student loans issued by Hansabanka, only in 3 cases real estate was used as a surety. Securities as surety of obligations under loan were not offered at all (Hansabanka, 2002).

¹⁵ In Latvia the official minimum wage is 60 LVL.

¹⁶ Starting from autumn 2002 the graduate school guarantees 100% of the loan for all students. Before that the school guaranteed 100% of the loan provided to non-residents and 50% of the loan provided to residents (REA, 2002).

¹⁷ Hansabanka has concluded this type of agreement with joint stock company Dati (Hansabanka, 2002).

The data provided by the Ministry of Education and Science prove that graduates who have received loans show a growing interest in the opportunity to settle their loan liabilities by working for an employer designated by the state (IZM, 2002a). This trend can be explained by a higher level of awareness among the students and the growing number of students who have received loans.

The student loan can be cleared if children are born to the borrower or his/her spouse during the studies or the loan repayment period. In that case, after graduation 30% of the outstanding loan amount is cleared for each child born to the borrower. The same conditions apply to adoption cases.

The state also clears the principal amount of the loan and the interest thereof under circumstances where the borrower has deceased or has acquired a disability of the second category.

Shortcomings

Lack of information about the target group of students seeking support

The state funding allocated to higher education today is inadequate to ensure availability and quality of higher education to everybody. Therefore, a tuition fee is established and is payable by an individual acquiring higher education.

The current student support system in Latvia was inherited from the Soviet period when studies were free of charge and the state provided grants to all students who had successful academic performance. After regaining independence in 1991 the government decided it will only finance the education of the required number of professionals needed by the state, while the funding of higher educational establishments and also students basically remained unchanged.

The public higher educational establishments started, in addition to the state-funded students, to admit students who had to pay the tuition fee and were no longer eligible for grants from state resources. The main criterion to decide whether a person will receive state funding for acquiring higher education was his/her academic performance. During the Soviet period the issue of socio-economic support to students was not topical, because the education was free of charge. The situation is quite different today, when most students have to pay for their education and the total funding of higher education has increased on the account of tuition fees (IZM, 2001b).

Due to the change in economic relations and the state structure (following the transition from planned economy to the market economy) a large segment of the population became unemployed, lost their social status and are facing economic and psychological difficulties.

At present we observe ongoing stratification of the society by income level of individuals. These changes have not been taken into consideration at the national policy level when funding students. There is no clear indication as to how many students represent the upper classes, how many come from the middleclass families and how many of them are poor.

The Studies Foundation has made calculations of the assumed number of poor students, based on the data on housing allowance provided to low-income residents by local authorities in 2000 (Studiju fonds, 2002b). According to the calculations 7.2% of all residents in Latvia have received the housing allowance. As students come from families with different backgrounds, it may be presumed that 7.2% of students come from poor families (IZM, 2002a). On the other hand, these data can be challenged, because not all students who meet "a poor family" criteria apply for social aid. There are cases when people even are not aware of such a possibility to receive assistance (CSO, 2002).

Therefore, the purposefulness of state funding to students can be doubted. Even more, it, probably, even enhances inequality of opportunities as a greater number of applicants come from wealthy or well-todo families, while the low-income persons cannot afford to study in the institutions of higher education.

Higher education must not be viewed separately from lower education levels. Research on poverty in Latvia has proved that currently the education system facilitates differentiation of the society, as low-income families are not able to provide better or the best education possibilities to their children (Trapeniece et al., 2000). Therefore, prospects of these children to win the competition for state-funded vacancies are very poor. On the other hand, there is no system for support of needy young people in Latvia.

Considerable differences exist among the young people from rural areas and cities. The data show that almost half of the young people from rural areas, having acquired primary school education, do not continue their education¹⁸. Only 3.5% of young people from rural areas aged 21-25 acquire higher education, compared to 13.7% of young people from cities (CSP, 2001a). This trend even downgrades the forecasts on the level of socio-economic depression in rural areas and increases the gap between the living standards in rural areas and cities. Paying the tuition fee and social expenses of a student cause more difficulties to the rural population, as their income is lower than the income of urban inhabitants (CSP, 2001b). In rural areas social benefits account for almost a half (42.9%) of the household's income (CSP, 2001b). This figure also proves the need for a differentiated approach to financial support of students, as the same contribution may not be requested from a young person brought up in a depressive economic environment and from a well-off individual.

Lending to students from state budget resources was more relevant to the idea of equal opportunities to low-income students, as no security was required on loans. At the same time it was also the weakness of the system, considering that the state was taking a 100% risk with the taxpayers' money. Moreover, the loan repayment system specified the period for repayment, however, it did not provide for the ways the state could enforce repayment. The only guarantee in the system was honesty of an individual.

Doubtful opportunities for low-income students to receive the loan guarantee from local authorities

The established student loan system, where the banks issue loans to students against the state guarantee, attempts to resolve both the issue of loan security, as well as the provision of equal opportunities for all students to receive the loan. The amount of state guarantee and the type of security for the loan is used as a tool to facilitate equality.

Students from low-income families get a 100 per cent state guarantee. In that case the student does not need any other loan guarantee. However, the real situation shows that students from low-income families can get the state-guaranteed loan from a bank only after they have received the guarantee by the local authority. In the academic year 2001/2002 this provision did not function, as the local authorities did not have the right to issue guarantees to individuals.

Therefore, we can only hypothetically model the further development of this situation. It is quite probable that the local authorities will issue the guarantees not as the social policy to assist low-income students, but rather as a form of local government personnel policy where the guarantees will be offered to good students who will return to the local government as trained specialists.

Even if the local authorities will provide guarantees to students from low-income families, the effect of equal access to higher education will not be attained. Namely, the low-income family students from richer local authorities will be in a better position. Students from small, poor rural local authorities again may find themselves as losers. Such development will foster further stratification of the society.

Financial possibilities of local governments are rather limited. The legislation provides that the debt liabilities of a local authority may not exceed 20 per cent of its annual budget (Law On Stabilization of

¹⁸ Young people aged 21 to 25 in rural areas remain with primary education – 30.7%, vocational training after the primary school – 14.9%, general secondary education – 22.3%, vocational training after secondary school – 4.7%; special secondary education after the primary school – 15.8%, special secondary education after the secondary school (college education) – 7.5%, higher education is acquired only by 3.5% (CSP, 2001a: 72).

Local Authority Finance and Supervision of Local Authority Financial Operations, 1998). Therefore, local governments will consider whether to guarantee a student loan or invest in the development of local infrastructure. Presumably, it will depend on rational calculations of social good from investment of taxpayers' money. For example, preference could be given to repair the leaking roof of the local school.

Under the current procedure the total liabilities of all Latvian local governments may not exceed the total amount of loans and guarantees provided by the state budget, as it affects the total national macroeconomic indicators (MK 180, 1996). Therefore, even if the amount of liabilities of the given local authority allows guaranteeing the student loan, it may not be possible, if the provided amount of loans and guarantees from other local governments has been exhausted¹⁹.

Local governments will have additional financial expenditures in case the students do not meet their credit liabilities and do not repay the loan. If the debt cannot be collected from the student, the commercial bank will recover it from the local government as the guarantor. Therefore, the local government will suffer financial losses and it cannot be predicted how damaging it can be in each individual case. Equally, it is not clear at which moment the state will become liable as the guarantor for the loans granted to low-income students to the extent of 100 per cent and to other students to the extent of 90 per cent of the loan, if prior to that also the local authority has issued the loan guarantee. It is possible that the state will become involved only in the cases where the financial situation of the local government is too unstable to meet its liabilities. It means that the solvent local governments will suffer financial losses. This will also damage the local government's investment capacity. The given situation will have a negative effect also on the state budget.

Nevertheless, the Ministry of Finance supports the delegation of guarantee rights to local governments in the framework of the student loan system, because

the local governments cannot provide such guarantees without the approval of the Council for Local Government Loan and Guarantee Control and Supervision (MK 366, 2001). It means that the Council will decide on whether a low-income student (or any other student) may receive the local government guarantee. It is possible that the decision of the Council will be influenced by the guarantee conditions requiring the student after graduation to return to work in the local government. The problem is that the local governments find it difficult to predict what kind of specialists, at what time and for how long they will need.

Therefore, we can draw a conclusion that the provisions of the present student loan system do not solve the issue of providing access to funds for students from low-income families to finance their education.

Inability to meet the loan security requirements

Difficulties for students to receive guarantees for loans are proved by the difference between the number of loan requests and signed loan agreements in the framework of the state-funded student loan system.

In the second half of 2001 only 63.1 per cent of the total number of loan applicants completed the formal procedure and received the state-guaranteed study loans from banks (Studiju fonds, 2001a: 18). 63.6 per cent of the loan applicants started to receive the student loans (Studiju fonds, 2001a: 20).

In the first half of 2002 these indicators dropped, – 55.7 per cent of students whose loan request was approved started to receive the study loans from credit institutions (Studiju fonds, 2001a: 4). And 62.1 per cent of students who had a valid loan request started to receive student loans (Studiju fonds, 2001a: 6).

Student loan information provided by *Hansaban-ka* in the first half of 2002 proves that the major decrease in the number of students who had requested the loan happened following the approval

¹⁹ For example, in 2002 this limit was exhausted already in the middle of the year (Apinis, 2002).

of the list of loan applicants by the Studies Foundation. Only two thirds of these students concluded the loan agreements. A hundred less students were able to get sufficient loan guarantees (Hansabanka, 2002).

There are different reasons for the decreasing number of applications for study loans. Some students could not provide the additional guarantees for the loan according to the government regulations – guarantees by two individuals, real estate or securities.

Despite the objections against the requirement to have two individuals as guarantors, real estate as loan security has been used in very few cases (Grīnuma, 2002a). On the other hand, the information provided by the Central Statistics Office proves that 55.4 per cent of urban households and 71.1 per cent of rural households own real estate (CSP, 2001b: 94). We can draw the following conclusions: either the people value their real estate higher than education or think that the acquired education will not be good enough to enable the graduate to find a well-paid job to repay the loan and keep the mortgaged property, or the people cannot afford the valuation and mortgage fees which amount to tens of lats²⁰, or due to some reason they do not have the right to mortgage their property.

Socially disadvantaged members of the society – students from low-income families, children who have lost one of their parents or whose parents are disabled or pensioners – are in the most marginal situation.

For students who have lost one of their parents or whose parents are disabled persons of the first or second category or pensioners, banks may grant the loan against the guarantee of one individual. However, no bank is obliged to do so. Surely, before a bank grants the loan it evaluates the risk and may require two guarantors. Therefore, if a student cannot find another guarantor or offer, for example, real estate as loan security, he/she does not get the loan to cover the study costs or social expenses.

Difficulties in repaying the loan

Present experience as well as forecasts testify that there will be difficulties in collecting back the issued loans. The data on repayment of study loans and student loans provided from the state budget show that about one third of loans have not been repaid in due time (IZM, 2001a). Students who have received a loan also admit that they might not pay it back (LSA, 2001). More than one third (36.5 per cent) of student loan recipients admit that they might not pay back the loan and almost one fourth (24.4 per cent) of study loan recipients admit that they might not return the loan (LSA, 2001). In both cases there is a large number of indecisive students, about one third, who do not know whether they will or will not pay back the loan.

These responses do not give a clear indication as to whether the loan recipients has malicious intent or thinks that he/she will not be able to pay back the loan due to financial reasons. Student answers to the question "How do you see your chances to repay the study loan?" illustrate the situation more clearly. Less than half of students – 41.7 per cent –believe that there will be no hardship to repay the loan in due time, 34 per cent assume that they might face certain difficulties, 9.6 per cent think that to repay the loan will be difficult, but 14.7 per cent are not sure (LSA, 2001).

The situation described above leads to the following conclusions. On the one hand, the loan recipients doubt whether they will find a job and receive a salary that will enable them to meet their commitments within the specified period – five or ten years depending on whether the total loan amount exceeds 1000 LVL. It makes us advance a hypothesis about the noncompliance of higher education quality with the demands of the labor market. On the other hand, part of the loan recipients probably do not consider the present loan security demands to be serious enough to get worried about the debt recovery in case of deliberate avoidance from repayment.

²⁰ The national currency of Latvia (1 USD \approx 0.6 LVL).

Similar attitude is proved by the experience of the Stockholm School of Economics in Riga, which acts as the loan guarantor for its students. Graduates from Lithuania and Estonia also cause losses to the School because they do not meet their debt commitments. It is even more difficult to influence these students to repay their debts, because they leave Latvia after graduation. The same problem concerns malicious debtors who are citizens of Latvia and live abroad. Besides, debt recovery process is expensive.

Major difficulties for the state will cause collection of loans which are provided from the state budget resources, as for these loans students were not required to provide any security. In case of malicious intent the state budget (tax-payers) will suffer immediately.

In order to collect the delayed state-guaranteed loans, which were provided from the bank resources, the banks will try first to recover the money from the guarantors. If as a result of the court proceedings it will be acknowledged that nothing can be recovered from the debtor or his/her guarantor, the state will become liable. If the guarantee covers 90% of the loan, the state will have to repay this part of the principal amount of the loan. If the guarantee covers 100%, the state will cover the principal amount of the loan from the taxpayers' money.

Application for loans

The procedure the students have to comply with to get the bank loans with the state guarantee is long and complicated. Document circulation related to the state-guaranteed loans is very slow and includes a risk that students have fulfilled all requirements but do not get the loans by the time they have to pay for their studies.

Student loan submission can be divided into two periods: spring (from March till May) and autumn (from August till December) (Hansabanka, 2002). The procedure to receive a state-guaranteed loan from a credit institution consists of four stages, which are divided into smaller phases.

During the first stage the decision is taken on granting the loan to the student. To make it happen the student first must submit a loan application to the loan-granting commission of the respective higher education institution. This commission examines student applications and decides about granting the loan in accordance with the provisions of the government regulations. Then the commission submits the authorized list of loan applicants to the Studies Foundation.

During the first half year following the implementation of the loan system, i.e., in the autumn of 2001, major problems arose because of the fact that the state had not set fixed deadlines for the higher education institutions to submit the lists of loan applicants to the Studies Foundation and for the students to carry out their part of work to receive the loan²¹. Therefore, the transfer of money for tuition fees, as well as the student loans, was delayed. To prevent such a situation in the future, the Ministry of Education and Science has set the deadline by which the higher education institutions have to submit the loan lists to the Studies Foundation²².

²¹ Failures in the implementation of the loan system during the first half year of running the system, i.e., in autumn 2001, can be explained also by the fact that before its implementation the actors (higher education institutions and students) were not sufficiently instructed and informed about the system. For example, there were cases when the submitted lists of students had to be corrected because the employees of the higher education institutions did not know how to work with the Microsoft Excel software. More than a half – 58% of the submitted loan lists the Studies Foundation could approve only in November 2001. The delay was caused by the students who were not organized and incorrect lists (if a student applies for the loan twice, if he/she withdraws the application, lists have to be corrected, etc.). Some higher education institutions delayed submission of lists because they had not organized the lists of their study programmes which had to be accredited. (Studiju fonds, 2002b; Hansabanka, 2002; IZM, 2001a).

²² First-year students have to apply for a loan at the higher education institutions by September 1, senior students by September 15; after the winter session students must apply for loans by February 15. The higher education institutions should submit the approved lists of loan applications to the Studies Foundation within two weeks following the specified dates. The higher education institutions must submit the approved additional loan application lists (the second round of applications) to the Studies Foundation no later than by November 10, but after the winter session – by April 10 (IZM, 2002b).

The Studies Foundation has to check each list of loan applicants within one week and, if necessary, contact the higher education institution and specify the details. Only when the Studies Foundation has verified that the students included in the list are eligible to apply for the state-guaranteed loan, it authorizes the list and sends it to the bank which has been authorized to issue the state-guaranteed loans to the students.

The second stage is the conclusion of the loan agreement. To conclude the loan agreement students should go to the bank and sign the agreement. They have to agree with the bank on additional loan security: a guarantee by two individuals, real estate or securities. Initially there was no time-frame set within which this agreement should be concluded. Therefore the delays happened also at this stage²³. Now it is provided that the loan applicant has to conclude the loan agreement and the guarantor has to conclude the guarantee agreement within one month after the respective student has been included in the registration system of the credit institution (IZM, 2002b). If it is not done in time and there is no justification the loan granting commission of the higher education institution has the right to annul the granted loan. It means that the respective student, if he or she still wants to receive a loan, has to apply for the loan once more.

The bank sends the list of students, which have acquired the loan security and concluded the loan agreement, to the Studies Foundation. It checks the lists once more to find out whether among the guarantors are not people who themselves receive a study loan or student loan. Banks do not have such information. It cannot be considered as a drawback taking into account the protection of personal data.

Those loan applicants, whose guarantors themselves receive student loans, are offered a chance to find another guarantor. Meanwhile the loan applicant is deleted from the list of students who are included in the state guarantee agreement.

In the third stage the state provides the guarantee for the amount of finance requested for student loans.

At first the bank prepares and signs the state guarantee agreement and the agreement on servicing the state guarantee. Then these agreements are submitted to the Studies Foundation. The agreement includes the list of all those students who have finalized the formal procedure to apply for the state guarantee. The Studies Foundation checks these lists once more, authorizes them and submits them to the Ministry of Education and Science. Then these lists are authorized by the State Secretary of the Ministry of Education and Science and signed by the Minister of Education and Science and the Minister of Finance. After that the state guarantee for the student loans is granted. This process normally takes 18 to 20 working days (Hansabanka, 2002). But in case the responsible official at the time of signing the guarantee agreement is abroad or falls ill and cannot sign the agreement, because he/she is not at work, the whole process is delayed as the agreement may be signed only by the officials whose names are mentioned in the agreement. There is also a risk that a student does not receive the guarantee if due to error his/her name has disappeared from the list of students who should be granted the state guarantee. Then the reasons for such error should be identified and the student is included in the next guarantee agreement being prepared for signature. The last, *fourth stage* is payment of the loan to the student after the authorization of the state guarantee. It happens after the student has paid 3 LVL commission to the credit institution. The bank transfers the student loan to the student's private account. As to the study loans, these are directly transferred to the account of the respective higher education institution.

As we can see, the process includes a lot of intermediate phases before the bank can issue the loans to the students. Therefore, a delay in any of these stages may substantially delay the payment of loans that negatively affects both the students, as well as the higher education institutions. Moreover, irrespective of the slow process of the loan system, the higher-edu-

²³ The majority of loan agreements (40%) and guarantee agreements (37%) for autumn 2001 were concluded in Hansabanka in November, and in December – 17% and 23%, respectively (Hansabanka, 2002).
cation institutions may request the students to pay for the first semester, for example, in the middle of August, although it takes almost two months to receive a state-guaranteed loan. If the student has not got the required resources, he/she cannot begin studies. Although, in case the student comes from a lowincome family or is an orphan, the higher education institution may postpone the payment of the study fee and wait until the bank transfers the state-guaranteed loan for the respective student to its account (RTU, 2002). If the fee has already been collected from the student, the higher education institution, after it has received the loan resources, transfers the received sum back to the student's account. Such activities make the whole loan system even more complicated.

Lack of resources

The state-guaranteed loan resources for covering tuition fees in public higher education institutions and those established by legal entities are allocated every year according to the number of students enrolled in each study program who have to pay the tuition fee (Studiju fonds, 2000). The maximum amount of study loan per student has been set and is taken into account when calculating the loan resources for each higher education institution. The total amount of loan resources is calculated based on the unit amount principle. It means that the amount of study financing for all public higher education institutions is being calculated according to the same formula, which includes study costs per one student per year multiplied by the number of students in a study program and the cost index of the respective study program (MK 334, 2001). On the other hand, the maximum amount of the study loan is calculated by way of deducting the social provision costs of one study place from the amount of study financing²⁴.

Insufficiency of resources for study loans is caused by the fact that the value of the study costs index does not match its optimum value due to insufficient state budget allocations for higher education (Kaša, Loža, 2001: 18). Therefore the study programs and the higher education institutions where the study costs exceed the maximum amount of the state- guaranteed study loan per student experience the deficit of resources, and the students cannot receive the study loan in full amount.

The number of students who have submitted loan applications and signed loan agreements differs among the higher education institutions. This can lead to a situation where one higher education institution has a surplus of resources while another lacks them. The same applies to the student loans designated to cover students' daily expenses. There is a possibility to redistribute resources between higher-education institutions. However, higher education institutions are reluctant to agree to do so (Studiju fonds, 2001b).

The existing order is based on the wish to offer all students an opportunity to receive a loan, otherwise the nimblest students could take out all loans and part of students would lack resources. However, the existing distribution of loan resources among the higher education institutions does not prevent a situation where a part of students do not receive loans.

The situation could improve, if the students could borrow through the private sector or obtain scholarships to finance their study process. However, at present these opportunities are very limited. Moreover, information on non-governmental financial sources is not organized in one place and therefore is difficult to obtain.

Recommendations

Target group for financial support

For more purposeful distribution of public financing it is necessary to identify the number of young people coming from wealthy families, the middle class and socially vulnerable groups of the society.

The experience of other countries proves that one of the most difficult tasks is to set criteria on how to judge the material provision of students and the need

²⁴ In 2002 it was about 140 LVL per student (IZM, 2002a).

for special state support. Insufficient information (or lack of administrative capacity to verify it) about the actual income and material provision of each household creates a lot of problems in the developing countries. In order to identify whether a student is entitled to receive special state support the following criteria should be taken into consideration: (a) wages or salaries; (b) other income; (c) real estate; (d) number of dependent children in the family; (e) special conditions (e.g., illness, unemployment) (Woodhall, 1987).

In the case of Latvia, a good criterion to judge the financial situation of the student could be a certificate stating whether the family for a certain period has received the municipal housing benefit. The Studies Foundation has already applied this criterion to identify the number of students who might come from lowincome families. However, the use of such information could be extended, for example, by providing that a student may receive a loan from the bank on easier terms within the state crediting system only against such a certificate.

The state support should also be differentiated according to the information mentioned above to ensure that it is provided to those students who need it most. At the same time, financial support should be preserved for the most successful students. It should be necessary to set both the threshold of academic performance, as well as the poverty threshold²⁵.

The reform of the system of financial support to students should be linked with the overall change of the national policy for financing of higher education. The scholarship founds could be divided into two parts: (1) for excellent students and (2) for lowincome but academically capable students.

This issue has been partly solved by the rotation of students between the state-financed study slots and tuition-based slots depending on the academic achievement of the students, which has been introduced in some public higher-education institutions. However, the implementation of such procedure depends on the decision of the respective higher education institution. If there is no rotation, the student cannot get into the budget group based on academic achievements. This issue has not been addressed at the national level. The state can also redirect its support to students from low-income families by, for example, differentiating granting of loans. It can provide, for instance, that only the students who come from families whose annual income does not exceed the defined poverty threshold are eligible. Another solution could be agreement with a definite part of students on compensation of study fees after graduation. It means that the state subsidizes the tuition fee for a definite period and when the student starts to earn some income the respective amount is returned to the state.

Although money and its distribution is the central tool to improve equal access to higher education, one should also emphasize the importance of information. So that the potential students would know where to apply for financial support, it is necessary to carry out extensive information activities about financial sources for acquisition of higher education. Special attention in information campaigns and distribution of financial resources should be paid to young people from lowincome families and rural regions.

Security for loans

Security for loans is necessary to maintain individual motivation to repay loans. However, this order may be changed by way of restructuring the mechanism of loan repayment – not waiting while the loan recipient pays the definite sum of money each month, but by deducting a part of the debt together with the taxes.

The present situation shows that some students cannot provide the necessary loan security (see the section: Inability to meet the loan security requirements). This issue could be solved by implementing loan repayment administration through the tax collection system. Even if the present order is preserved and local authorities act as guarantors for students from

²⁵ The government has not set the official poverty threshold in Latvia.

needy families, it is necessary to introduce some adjustments. The state should clearly set conditions for students from low-income families, if they want to get the guarantee from the local government to receive the study loan or student loan from the bank. To avoid competition between the students from lowincome families who need the local government guarantee and other projects, each year the state budget should include a definite amount of financing for issuing guarantees to students from a low-income families. A definite part of these resources should be provided by each local government according to the potential number of loan applicants to prevent a situation where some local governments cannot provide the guarantee for a student from a low-income family, because the total limit of guarantee amount has been exceeded. Also, taking into account the existing 20% limit for the local government budget liabilities, it should be stipulated what part of this limit should be "reserved" for liabilities, which the local government assumes in the interests of a low-income student.

The following solution should also be considered. The state could withdraw the authorization from the local governments to act as guarantors for students from low-income families within the framework of the study loan system.

Instead, the state would directly undertake this obligation. However the guarantee would be provided based on a certificate issued by the local government verifying that the student comes from a poor family. The student would submit such certificate to the higher education institution together with the loan application. In order to obtain additional guarantees on the expected academic achievements of the student, the state would take its final decision on granting a fully guaranteed study loan or student loan based on the grades of the student at the secondary school or previous educational institution.

However, if only such changes are implemented, they will not help all students who experience difficulties in meeting the current guarantee requirements.

Income-based loan repayment

In order to issue loans, the banks use the money of their depositors. They should be convinced about the repayment of the issued loans. Thus this type of loan is, in fact, a typical commercial loan. It requires security, and its repayment is calculated for a period of five or ten years, depending on the amount of the loan.

However, a strict loan repayment schedule and two individuals as guarantors, as it is established in Latvia, do not guarantee due repayment of the loan if the borrower does not have sufficient means. In order to recover the debt, the bank will have to start litigation whose costs may amount to 30% from the lent 1000 LVL (Hansabanka, 2002). Only after the court acknowledges the person insolvent will the state pay to the bank the guaranteed amount – 90% or 100% of the principal amount of the loan. As a result the state budget (tax-payers) has suffered a loss. It should also be taken into account that the state in addition has subsidized the interest on the loan.

One cannot exclude such a scenario, because the results of the student survey show that 34% of the respondents think that they will encounter certain difficulties to repay the loan by the date provided in the loan agreement, 9.6% think that it will be very difficult to do repay the loan, but 14.7% find it hard to say (Hansabanka, 2002). Therefore it would be necessary to consider some changes in the loan repayment system by involving the State Revenue Service and linking the amount repayable to the level of income of the borrower (income-contingent system). Within such system the borrower will have to repay a certain part of the loan each month together with, for example, an income tax. Repayment should be commenced when the income reaches a certain level and the repayment part will increase along with the increase of the borrower's income. Therefore, the faster the income growth, the bigger the part of the loan repaid²⁶.

However, the borrowing and repayment procedure will require an intermediary: an institution that will

²⁶ Income-based repayment of study and student loans will provide more favourable conditions for the student, as it will take into consideration the potential future poverty of the student.

administer the issuing the loan and its timely repayment. It could be a special student loan fund. This fund, on the basis of the experience of previous years, will estimate the amount required for student loans. This amount will be borrowed from the banks and paid out to students in the form of loans.

The repayment procedure would be organized as follows. The respective borrower pays the income tax and in addition repays a certain part of the loan and a part of the interest. The repaid part of the loan is transferred into the account of the respective person in the administrative fund for study loans and student loans. Once a month the fund transfers a certain part of the principal and the interest to the respective bank in an amount which will ensure repayment of the loan in, for example, 10 years.

If the income of the borrower is too low to repay the necessary amount each month, the fund covers the difference by borrowing the money or receiving it from the state as subsidy. Therefore, the loan to the bank will be repaid on time, but the borrower will continue his/her payments to the fund until he/she has paid the full amount of the loan and the interest.

Within the framework of such student crediting model, the state could still provide certain allowances related to loan repayment, for example, for parents with children, disabled persons, etc.

The described loan repayment system could be preserved also in the case of free movement of labor between countries. If the person is legally employed abroad, he/she pays the income tax. Through co-operation between tax administrations, information can be obtained about the place of residence of the respective person and repayment of the loan ensured also from foreign residents who have acquired higher education in Latvia and received a study loan or student loan.

It should be recognized that the effectiveness of such loan repayment system depends on the capacity of the tax administrations to control the activities of the respective taxpayers. An income-contingent loan repayment system can also motivate the borrowers to hide their real income. One should also consider the risk that the actual income of the borrower may insufficient to repay the loan even in his/her lifetime. Great Britain, for example, has made provisional calculations and found out that due to the above reason approximately 15 to 20% of the total amount of loans has not been repaid (Barr, 2001: 229).

Insurance of loans

The risk that loans will not be repaid can be reduced through insurance. The Stockholm School of Economics in Riga, which issues individual guarantees for the student loans issued to their students by credit institutions, has already introduced this practice (REA, 2002). The School will guarantee the loan but the student will have to insure it with an insurance company (and pay the insurance premium). Students of the Stockholm School of Economics in Riga have to commence repayment of the loans after graduation.

If a student does not repay the loan, the insurance company takes over and compensates the School's costs related to the "defective loans".

A number of higher-education institutions in Latvia have individual agreements with banks to provide student loans for the necessary amount²⁷. In these cases the interest rate on the loan is lower than the market rate. Also, other higher education institutions, which receive an insufficient amount of state guaranteed loans, could conclude individual agreements with credit institutions about student loans²⁸. The bank in this case will assess the borrowing capacity of the student and set the interest rate in agreement with the higher education institution, which will act as the guarantor, and a part of the loans or all loans will be insured against failure to repay.

Also, when implementing the previously described income-contingency student loan system (where

²⁷ For example, the Stockholm School of Economics in Riga, Ventspils Graduate School, Vidzeme Graduate School (Hansabanka, 2002).

²⁸ For example, demand of loans in the School of Business Administration Turiba is bigger than the amount of resources granted in the framework of state loan system for study and student loans (Turiba, 2002).

issuing and repayment of loans is administered by a special fund) the risk could be reduced by insuring the loans. The state could find resources for insurance, possibly, by stopping subsidization of the interest rate on student loans. Then students will pay, for example, the full interest rate set as result of the tender process among the banks²⁹. The insurance premium, in turn, will be covered by the state, or vice versa – the state will subsidize the interest rate on the loan and the borrower will cover the insurance premium. It is also possible to divide the borrowers into several risk groups based on certain criteria and to set a different amount of insurance premium for each group.

Sufficient amount of resources

One can speak about equal access to education only in the situation where no inquisitive person is forced to give up higher education due to financial reasons. Therefore, the state should have a sufficient number of financial sources made available to provide funding for acquisition of higher education. As an educated society is one of the main public resources, and this is recognized also in Latvia, financial support to students must be amplified and diversified.

At present there are a number of open public funds operating in Latvia, and also companies and individuals offer scholarships or loans. However, the information on these financial sources has not been gathered and provided from one place. Moreover, the level of the provided support is not always sufficient to cover the study fees at the higher education institutions. It is advisable to develop such open public funds, which would offer resources to students not only on the basis of their academic achievements, but also by taking into account their socio-economic situation.

It is also possible to establish special funds where the contributed money will later be used to finance higher education of certain individuals. These funds could be developed according to the scheme of the private pension funds where the resources are circulated by investing in securities and thus earning additional income. For example, enterprises may offer their employees to develop such savings with the purpose of financing higher education. Also, private individuals could offer their donations to the respective fund with the condition attached that the resources must be used to support students from low-income families and (or) gifted students, for example, in Rēzekne University. Higher education institutions could do the same by establishing, for example, special alumni funds.

Higher education institutions could more actively engage in providing financial support to their students by concluding individual agreements with banks in provision of loans for their students.

Parallel to such private sector activities also the state should reform its student support system and provide support in the required amount.

In order to develop and implement the national student support policy which would consider not only the academic performance of students, but also their financial situation, it might be useful to invite internationally recognized experts who deal with issues related to the financing of higher education and who have made an impact on the process of higher-educationfinancing reform in several countries.

Conclusion

Any changes in the financing of higher education and material support to students require a political decision. This decision should be based on accurate information about the target group, otherwise one can doubt the effectiveness of the use of the financial resources. Financial effectiveness (ratio between investment and result) should not be mixed up with an excessive economy, which may affect the quality of education (Altbach & Johnstone, 1993: 8). Effectiveness of financial investments in education does not mean maximizing the profit, but contributing to the public good. The public goal of student support policy should be clear from the very beginning, otherwise it

²⁹ In the tender process to issue state-guaranteed student loans, the winner was *Hansabanka*, which offered the average six months RIGIBOR rate plus 0.87%. It is approximately 7.68% per year (FM, 2001). will be difficult to establish whether the implemented system attains the set goals (Woodhall, 1987).

This article offers only some possible ways to promote equal access to higher education. Experience of other countries proves that there is no perfect model. However, the difficulties of the present situation should not be tolerated, but should be overcome by way of designing other policies.

At present Latvia is experiencing growth in the number of students and tuition fees in the higher education institutions, while the number of state financed study slots remains almost unchanged. Nothing suggests that the situation will change in this respect. However, social stratification in Latvia is becoming more pronounced.³⁰ The financial support program for students in Latvia is still based on the approach of those times when higher education was entirely financed by the state, all successful students received scholarships and the existence of poor and rich in society was not recognized. The current system of student loans does not fill the gap between the wealthy and the needy young people to acquire higher education. This problem, if not addressed, will create new problems and social tensions.

It can be expected that changes in the principles governing the granting of loans to students will cause anxiety in a certain part of the population who might be concerned about the fact that students from relatively wealthy families will not get the public scholarships, and that these resources will be redistributed to needy students. Any change will be unpopular in some part of the society. But from the investment point of view, the small public scholarship budget could be distributed more effectively, taking into consideration the needs of the poor students.

Further, more effective investment of public funds could be achieved by changing the entire procedure for financing the study slots. Instead of distributing public funds among the higher education institutions, which then accept students in state-financed study, scholarships should be directly granted to students to cover the costs of one study year. Students should apply for the scholarship each consecutive year. The state could set specific criteria for granting the scholarship, thus implementing both social policy, as well as state order in the higher education.

If scholarships and loans were to flow directly to individual students, public expenditures would be utilized more effectively, since the students would have higher individual responsibility for their academic achievements. The data on rotation of highly successful and less successful students in the University of Latvia show that, many of those who have been included in the budget groups are not able to remain among the best and continue their studies in the budget groups (Prūse, 2002). This means that the higher education institutions, which do not provide for student rotation, do not spend the public resources for the education of the very best students. Consequently, investment of public resources does not yield the maximum result.

However, to implement the changes described above, the public policy on financing the higher education should be radically changed. Resistance might be expected from certain parts of the society and public higher education institutions. And no matter how effective the anticipated reforms are, they cannot substitute the lack of funds for higher education³¹. According to the research data, lack of financial resources may cause the failure of the reform itself (Reimers & McGinn, 1997: 67).

However, from the perspective of purposeful investment of public (tax-payer's) resources, it is worthwhile to answer the question what exactly the state is financing and why, when it allocates funding to the higher education. If the only criterion is student academic achievement, then it is necessary to find out whether the outcome corresponds to the investment. Perhaps changing the principles governing the provision of material support to students could improve the outcome of the public investment and promote equal access to higher education.

³⁰ It is proved by the increase of Gini coefficient in Latvia (Programma, 1998).

³¹ From 1995 to 2000 the ratio of higher education financing in the gross domestic product decreased (IZM, 2001b).

References

Altbach, P. G, Johnstone, D. G. (Eds.) (1993). *The Funding of Higher Education: International Perspectives*. New York: Garland Publishing, Inc.

Apinis M. (2002, 02.06.). Valdība pagaidām neplāno budžeta grozījumus pašvaldību aizdevuma limita palielināšanai. Rīga: LETA.

Augstskolu likums (1995, 17.11.). Likums "Augstskolu likums". *Latvijas Vēstnesis*, Rīga.

Barr, N. (2001). The Welfare State as a Piggy Bank. Information, Risk, Uncertainty and the Role of the State. New York: Oxford University Press.

Cauce D. (2002, 06.02.). Nodokļu mākonim sudraba maliņa. *Diena*, Rīga.

CSP (1996). Izglītības iestādes Latvijā 1995./1996. mācību gada sākumā. Rīga: Centrālā statistikas pārvalde.

CSP (1997). Izglītības iestādes Latvijā 1996./1997. mācību gada sākumā. Rīga: Centrālā statistikas pārvalde.

CSP (1998). Izglītības iestādes Latvijā 1997./1998. mācību gada sākumā. Rīga: Centrālā statistikas pārvalde.

CSP (1999). Izglītības iestādes Latvijā 1998./1999. mācību gada sākumā. Rīga: Centrālā statistikas pārvalde.

CSP (2000). Izglītības iestādes Latvijā 1999./2000. mācību gada sākumā. Rīga: Centrālā statistikas pārvalde.

CSP (2001a). *Dzīves apstākļi Latvijā 1999. gadā*. Rīga: Centrālā statistikas pārvalde.

CSP (2001b). *Mājsaimniecību budžets 2000. gadā*. Rīga: Centrālā statistikas pārvalde.

CSP (2002). *Centrālās statistikas pārvaldes informācija*. Rīga (unpublished).

Daugavpils dome (2001). Pašvaldības stipendiju piešķiršanas nolikums. Daugavpils: Daugavpils dome (unpublished).

Diena (2002, 23.08.). Jaunie startē ar Vītolu fonda stipendijām. *Diena*, Rīga.

FM (2001). *LR Finansu ministrijas informācija*. Rīga (unpublished).

FM (2002). *LR Finansu ministrijas informācija*. Rīga (unpublished).

Grīnuma I. (2002a, 03.04.). Studentu kredītus lūgs atsvabināt no galvotājiem. *Diena*, Rīga.

Grīnuma I. (2002b, 23.06.). LU studenti gatavojas rotēšanai. *Diena*, Rīga.

Grīnuma I. (2002c, 31.08.). Kvalitatīvas studijas balsta arī uzņēmumi. *Diena*, Rīga.

GSE (2002). Database "Student-Parent Costs by Country", http://www.gse.buffalo.edu/org/inthigheredfinance/index.ht ml (retrieved May, 2002).

Hansabanka (2002). *"Hansabankas" informācija*. Rīga (unpublished).

Ienākuma nodokļa likums (1993, 06.10.). Likums "Par iedzīvotāju ienākuma nodokli". *Ziņotājs*, Rīga. Izglītības fonds (2002). *Latvijas Izglītības fonda informācija*. Rīga (unpublished).

Izglītības likums (1991, 15.08.). Izglītības likums. *Ziņotājs*, nr. 31, 1991.

IZM (2001a). Izglītības un zinātnes ministrijas informācija. Rīga (unpublished).

IZM (2001b). Pārskats par Latvijas augstskolu darbību 2001. gadā. Rīga: Izglītības un zinātnes ministrija // www.izm.gov.lv/lv/Statistika/parskats2001/4.1nod.htm (retrieved 19.04.2002.).

IZM (2002a). Izglītības un zinātnes ministrijas informācija. Rīga (unpublished).

IZM (2002b). Par studiju un studējošo kreditēšanas pasākumu izpildes termiņiem. Rīga: IZM, 19.03.2002 (unpublished).

Jaunā akadēmija (2002). Sabiedriskā fonda "Jaunā akadēmija" informācija. Rīga (unpublished).

Kaša R., Loža Z. (2001). Valsts finansējums augstākajai izglītībai un finansu plūsmas mehānismi. *Ceļā uz sociālo saliedētību un labklājību. Pārskats par izglītību Latvijā*. Rīga: Sorosa fonds – Latvija.

Krūmiņa L. (2001, 25.09.). Ēnu cīņas augstskolās. Mēs. *Lauku Avīzes* ielikums skolēniem un studentiem, *Lauku Avīze*, Rīga.

LLU (2002). Latvijas Lauksaimniecības universitātes informācija. Jelgava: LLU (unpublished).

LSA (2001). Studentu sociālais stāvoklis un dzīves apstākļi Latvijā. SKDS, Rīga, www.politika.lv (retrieved 27.02.2002.).

MK 180 (1996, 28.05.). The Cabinet Regulation No. 180 "Noteikumi par pašvaldību aizņēmumiem un garantijām". *Latvijas Vēstnesis*, Rīga.

MK 182 (2002, 12.06.). The Cabinet Regulation No. 182 "Noteikumi par stipendijām". *Latvijas Vēstnesis*, Rīga.

MK 334 (2001, 01.08.). The Cabinet Regulation No. 334 "Kārtība, kādā augstskolas tiek finansētas no valsts budžeta līdzekļiem". *Latvijas Vēstnesis*, Rīga.

MK 336 (2001, 10.08.). The Cabinet Regulation No. 366 "Noteikumi par pašvaldību aizņēmumiem un galvojumiem". *Latvijas Vēstnesis*, Rīga.

MK 370 (1999, 05.11.). The Cabinet Regulation No. 370 "Noteikumi par braukšanas maksas atvieglojumiem sabiedriskajā transportā". *Latvijas Vēstnesis*, Rīga.

NRA (2002, 14.07.). Latvijas Bērnu fonds piešķir stipendijas daudzbērnu ģimenēm. *Neatkarīgā Rīta Avīze*, Rīga.

Parex (2002). "Parex" bankas informācija. Rīga (unpublished).

Pašvaldību finansu likums (1998, 03.06.). Likums "Par pašvaldību finansu stabilizēšanu un pašvaldību finansiālās darbības uzraudzību". *Latvijas Vēstnesis*, Rīga.

Pašvaldību likums (1994, 24.05.). Likums "Par pašvaldībām". Latvijas Vēstnesis, Rīga.

Programma (1998, 02.12.). Pasākumu programma demogrāfiskās situācijas uzlabošanai. *Latvijas Vēstnesis*, Rīga.

Prūse I. (2002, 25.09.). Rotācija. Universitātes Avīze, Rīga.

REA (2002). *Rīgas Ekonomikas augstskolas informācija*. Rīga: REA (unpublished).

Reimers, F., McGinn, N. (1997). Informed dialogue – using research to shape education policy around the world. Praeger.

RTU (2002). *Rīgas Tehniskās universitātes informācija*. Rīga: RTU (unpublished).

Studiju fonds (2000). *Pārskats par Izglītības un zinātnes ministrijas Studiju fonda darbību 2000. gadā*. Rīga: Studiju fonds (unpublished).

Studiju fonds (2001a). 2001. gada publiskais pārskats. Rīga: IZM Studiju fonds, 18. lpp. (unpublished).

Studiju fonds (2001b). *Studiju fonda informācija*. Rīga (unpublished).

Studiju fonds (2002a). *Pārskats par Studiju fonda darbību 2002. gada 1. pusgadā*. Rīga: IZM Studiju fonds.

Studiju fonds (2002b). *Studiju fonda informācija*. Rīga (unpublished).

Trapeniece, I., Rungule, R. (2000). Listening to the Poor – Social Assessment of Poverty in Latvia. Rīga.

Turība (2002). *Biznesa augstskolas "Turība" informācija*. Rīga (unpublished).

Unibanka (2002). *"Unibankas" informācija*. Rīga (retrieved 02.09.2002). http://www.unibanka.lv/LV/Pakalpojumi/pie-davajumi/magistrs.htm.

VeA (2002). Ventspils augstskolas informācija. Ventspils: VeA (unpublished).

ViA (2002). Vidzemes augstskolas informācija. Valmiera: ViA (unpublished).

VSK (1992). *Latvijas statistikas gadagrāmata 1991*. Rīga: Latvijas Republikas Valsts statistikas komiteja.

Weifang, M. (2001, Winter). Current Trends in China. *International Higher Education*. Vol. 22.

Woodhall, M. (1987). *Establishing Student Loans in Developing Countries: Some Guidelines*. The World Bank, www.worldbank.org (retrieved September, 2002).

Labor Market Experience of Graduates from Daugavpils University

Aleksejs Šņitņikovs (Soros Foundation – Latvia)

Summary

The relationship between higher education and the economy is an essential issue both for society and the individual. For an individual it is important that after graduating from university, the graduate will have a better chance to get an interesting and wellpaid job.

The society's interest, however, is that higher education foster economic development. This paper analyzes the employment position of graduates a few months after graduation.

It asks whether the tasks graduates are performing in their jobs are relevant to qualifications gained at the university and whether education has been economically beneficial both for graduates and society in general.

Eight months after graduation almost all graduates had a permanent job.

The number of cases when the present job of graduates could have utilized lower qualifications compared to those gained at the university were relatively small. These findings indicate that there is demand for specialists with higher education in the labor market.

The economic rates of return from undergraduate and graduate education are positive and relatively high compared to other countries.

Introduction

For the development of personality, education can be considered as a lifelong learning process. What are the limits of learning to be set for the human mind, skills and character? But the process of education always proceeds under definite social circumstances and regulations.

At present specialized institutions and organizations are involved in education, and their activities are related to other areas of social life. The economy is one of the essential areas because the process of education aims at the development of individual skills, to be applied in practice.

Economic growth nowadays is an especially essential factor and therefore it is important to maintain efficient links between education and the economy. Relations between higher education and the economy should be efficient also because higher education plays a major role in the development of modern technology and the service industry.

A survey of graduates on their positions in the labor market is a method of how to gauge the relationship between higher education and the economy, how to evaluate the current situation and to provide recommendations on how to improve the existing relations. This article is based on the survey "Daugavpils University as the Regional Development Centre in Latgale"¹, which was carried out in February and March 2002.

Measuring relations between education and employment

Research based on "overeducation" concept

Two different approaches were used in the survey on research of the relationship between education and the labor market. The purpose of the first approach was to find out whether graduates were employed according to their qualifications. Similar surveys were carried out in the USA and Western European countries and were related to the so-called "overeducation" problem. "Overeducation" can be defined as a situation where employees have a higher level of education than needed for the work they do (Carnoy & Levin, 1985: 162)². Normally, employees should be trained for relevant skills, attitudes and behavior 'needed for' a certain work. Some researchers in education believe that "overeducation" has a negative impact. It can cause stress at the workplace. Employees will not be satisfied with their work if their education and gualifications are higher than required. The job will not satisfy their increased expectations. Dissatisfaction with work causes turnover of the workforce, absence of employees from work, a careless attitude toward assigned tasks and even more negative issues such as alcoholism, depression and use of drugs. Several surveys conclude that overall "overeducation" has a negative impact on productivity (Levin, 1987: 153). Moreover, young people who study at educational institutions recognize the formality of learning and create a negative attitude towards the process of learning (Jallade, 1987: 169).

To characterize the given problem, there are other terms used, for example, "overqualification" (Jallade, 1987: 169), "graduate underemployment" (Dugdale, 1997: 165), "invisible underemployment" (Sanyal, 1987: 173).

One of the possibilities to determine whether a person is employed according to his/her qualification is to use a standard classification of occupations. The Classification of Occupations in Latvia is a legislative governmental document, which was developed and adopted in 1998 (*Latvijas Vēstnesis* 299/304, 21.10.1998). The document was developed according to the International Standard Classification of Occupations – ISCO (ILO, 1988). The existing version of the classification of occupations covers more than 3,400 titles and descriptions of occupations. Occupations are arranged according to the level of qualifications and level of responsibilities needed for the definite occupation.

Surveying graduates and asking whether they consider themselves "overeducated" can help to analyze the "overeducation" phenomenon. The method of gauging an individual's self perception has been used in some surveys on education and employment. (Brennan, McGreevor, 1988: 36).

Concept of human capital

Many surveys to gauge interaction between education and the labor market concentrate on researching subjective aspects, such as personal opinions of the graduates. In the early 1960ies, economists developed a concept of human capital in which education was evaluated from the standpoint of economic efficiency. Human capital considers educational costs to be an investment, and the benefits in the form of

¹ "Daugavpils University as a Regional Development Centre in Latgale – Setting up a Dialogue between Higher Education and the Labor Market", a project financially supported by the Soros Foundation – Latvia, 2001–2002. The project group: A. Šņitņikovs, S. Vanaga.

² In literature on economics of education, the term "overeducation" has been used with different meanings. Besides the above mentioned definition of "overeducation", the term is used to describe the situation where education for an individual has no economic pay-off, because after completing studies the graduates receives low salary with low rate of return (Johnes, 1993: 38), or the supply of qualified workers exceeds demand (Ibid). In this paper the term "overeducation" is used to describe "overqualification", when the present job of an individual requires lower qualification than the graduate's education.

increased earnings – as the return on investment. The comparison of the costs and the benefits are used to calculate an economic rate of return. This paper will calculate rates of return of two kinds. The first kind will be the return to the educational investment of an individual; the second will be the return to the society and the nation. A few words may be necessary to describe in general terms how this is done.

Education involves both direct and opportunity costs. Direct costs include study fees and other expenses related to studies, for example, transportation costs and costs for buying books. Opportunity costs cover expenses related to a lower income level during studies. Return from education can be monetary, such as having a higher income level throughout one's working life. The return can have non-monetary characteristics as well. These can include the benefits from finding the educational process interesting and pleasant and the job to which it leads as more rewarding and intellectually challenging. Non-monetary benefits for an individual may also include the ability to make better choices in terms of health and family life. Non-monetary benefits for a society are more important. They may include the propensity to understand social obligations and to support the principles which underpin social cohesion.

However, human capital evidence lies largely on monetary returns. Several methods can be used in calculating the rate of return. One can distinguish between private rate of return and social or public rate of return. The private rate of return determines whether the input in education is beneficial to an individual. The social rate of return helps to find out whether the input in education is beneficial to the society (taxpayers' standpoint). The difference in methods of calculating private rate of return and social rate of return is determined by values, which are included as "expenses" and values included as "benefits". When calculating private rate of return, the private costs of education (see Table 1) and the salary of an individual after completing studies and after taxes are taken into account. When calculating social rate of return, the social costs of education (see Table 1) and the salary of an individual before taxes are taken into account.

The basic principle of the human capital theory is based on the assumption that investment in education is the same as investment in any other kind of

	Private costs	Social costs
Direct costs	 Direct expenses of a student or his/her family: Tuition fee; Transportation costs, living expenses, meals and food; Books, other materials purchased by a student. 	 All resources involved in maintaining the study process: Time spent by lecturers and other employees of educational institutions (measured as salaries, bonuses); Current expenses, for example, books, electricity, heating; Other current expenses, for example, compensations for transportation, scholarships; Capital expenditures, for example, rent of premises.
Opportunity costs	 Possible earnings (after taxes), costs of alternative possibilities of student time usage, e. g.: Money a student could earn during his/her study period Products, which a student could produce during his/her study period in a family farm or in a company. 	Possible earnings which were not received before paying taxes, for example, costs are the same as private opportunity costs. However, in this case the salary, which the student could receive during his/her study period, is calculated before paying taxes.

Table 1. Social and private costs of education. Source: Murnane, 2001: 10

	Bachelors	Masters
School	51	69
Trading company	15	5
Kindergarten	7	_
University	3	12
Bank	3	3
Manufacturing company	3	3
State Revenue Service	_	3
Other	18	5
Total	100	100

Table 2. Places of graduate employment (%)

capital. Theoreticians of human capital argue that an educated individual earns more and the productivity is higher because of education and not any other feature (for example, intelligence, sex). Methods of calculating the rate of return³ determine whether the contribution in education was effective or not. The method can be used (and, for example, is actively used in Great Britain) by the government when planning investments in education.

The rate of return for different education levels can be calculated more precisely if the information on the amount of salary, which individuals with different education levels receive during lifelong employment until they retire, is accessible. Nevertheless, several methods allow to calculate the rate of return by using data on salaries at a certain stage (Menon, 1998). Some studies used a practice where graduate salaries were surveyed only a few months after they completed their studies. (Hayrinen & Hayrinen, 1995: 178). Several methodologies state why it is recommended to use data on recent graduates' salaries when calculating return rates. (Psacharopoulos, 1987: 219). Research on graduates from Daugavpils University and their positions in the labor market surveyed graduates who graduated from the university eight months ago.

Problem

The number of studies about the relationship between education and the labor market is relatively small. When researching graduates from Daugavpils University and their employment situation, it was assumed that graduates can suffer from "overeducation" and their education can turn out to be economically inefficient. Both issues have a negative impact on national and regional development.

Work position of graduates from Daugavpils University

In 2001 there were 444 students who graduated from Daugavpils University. 350 graduates or 79% from the total number of graduates where surveyed for the research. 112 out of 119 or 94% were graduate students; 238 out of 325 or 73% were undergraduate students. The survey was based on telephone interviews, and several graduates and

⁵ In the study "Daugavpils University as a Regional Development Centre in Latgale" the following formula was applied for calculating the rate of return: $\sum_{t=\tau_1}^{\tau_2} \frac{[W(T) - W(M)]_t}{(r+1)^t} = \sum_{t=\tau_0}^{\tau_1} \frac{K_t}{(r+1)^t} + \sum_{t=\tau_0}^{\tau_1} \frac{[W(M) - W(0)]_t}{(r+1)^t}$

where W (T) is the salary received by an individual having "a" level of education; W(M) – the salary received by an individual having "a – 1" level of education; W(0) – the salary received during studies; K – direct costs of education; t(o) – t(1) – study period; t(1) – t(2) – period for which the rate of return was calculated; r – rate of return compared to the inflation index. Investment in education is considered to be economically profitable, if the rate of return r is higher than the defined inflation index. Source: Bosworth, Dawkins, Stromback, 1996: 223

undergraduates were invited for group discussions and in-depth interviews.

Half a year after completion of their studies, 77% of undergraduates and 93% of graduates were employed. What were the main reasons why undergraduates and graduates were unemployed? Maternity leave and difficulties in finding a job were the most often mentioned reasons.

7% of the total number of undergraduates were unemployed because they could not find a job. The number is smaller than the average ratio of job-seekers among work-capable persons in Latgale and Daugavpils district, however, it is close to the average unemployment rate in Latvia.

90% of undergraduates and 88% of graduates were employed at one working place (see Table 2). Approximately 10% of undergraduates and graduates worked at two places. Only 2% of graduates had more than three jobs. 12% of undergraduates and 5% of graduates were employed part-time. These data are not related to whether undergraduates were continuing their studies in the Master's program or not. The majority of graduates who continued their studies in the Master's program had a full-time job. The majority of graduates had a permanent labor contract with their employers. Only 34% of undergraduates and 10% of graduates had a short-term labor contract.

Table 2 shows institutions where both undergraduates and graduates were employed. According to the table both the undergraduates and graduates were working at schools. Trading companies were the second choice for undergraduates, but a higher education institution was the second choice for graduates. The number of undergraduates who worked at trading companies and continued their studies in the Master's program was higher than of those who were not continuing their education.

Undergraduates were also employed in other institutions, for example, a research centre, the municipal Council, the post office, a hotel, a library, a confectionary, the Border Guard, the National Guard, a real estate agency, photo service, police and a crisis centre. Graduates were also employed in different institutions, for example, the Border Guard, the Land Service, the municipal or district Council, and a bus station.

The majority of undergraduates and graduates were employed as teachers. Undergraduates were taking positions as educators, managers, shop assistants, specialists, secretaries, cashiers, administrators, etc. Graduates were working as directors, deputy directors, assistants, and specialists.

To analyze how many graduates were not employed according to their university qualifications, the survey used the same principle as in the Classification of Occupations, where an occupation is determined by combining information on position with information on the institution where the individual is employed. For each general group of occupations the classification determines a certain "level of skills", which depends on how many years a person studied at the educational institution. Therefore, according to graduate occupation, it is possible to determine whether the position at work is relevant to the level of qualifications gained at university. It was assumed that

	Bachelors	Masters
Completely agree	26	27
Rather agree	29	23
Rather disagree	16	29
Completely disagree	18	9
Difficult to say	11	11
Total	100	100

Table 3. Do you agree or disagree with the statement that qualifications gained at the university are higher than the present job requires? (%)

"overeducation" is not the same as inadequacy of employment to the university qualifications. If, for example, an individual has a qualification as a teacher, and he/she is not employed as a teacher, but is carrying out other tasks, there will be no "overeducation" if the job requires a similar level of qualification (for example, a Bachelor's degree).

According to the analyses of graduates who have studied in undergraduate or professional study programs, there were 41 cases of 'overeducation', which was 17% of the sample with Bachelor's degree. The sample of graduates stated three 'overeducation' cases: a person was employed as the product manager (the occupation belongs to the 4th category) and two persons worked as tax inspectors (the occupation is within the 3rd category). All respondents who had the title of assistant were employed by a higher education institution and the occupation was relevant to the 2nd category. In total, there were 44 cases of 'overeducation', which is 13% of the sample. There were several directors and deputy directors among graduates with a Master's degree. The situation when a number of graduates with a Master's degree worked at the managerial level could be explained by the fact that in the sample the graduates with a Master's degree were older than the undergraduates.

The questionnaire was designed in a way to evaluate both whether a graduate represents a case of 'overeducation' and what was his/her own evaluation. Respondents were asked a question: "Do you agree or disagree with a statement that qualifications gained at the university are higher than the present job requires?" Answers to the question are summarized in Table 3.

The range of answers to the question among undergraduates and graduates was quite similar. Nearly half of the graduates agreed with the statement that university qualification was higher than their present work required (answers "completely agree" and "rather agree"). The undergraduates had more "completely agree" answers than the number of 'overeducated' undergraduates defined by analysis using the Classification of Occupations. The graduates found to be 'overeducated' by the analysis mostly selected "completely agree" and "rather agree". Therefore, it shows that the question was understood more or less correctly. However, "completely agree" or "rather agree" answers were given by respondents who were in positions relevant to the level of qualifications, for example, experts and senior experts: teachers, managers and engineers. Graduates who selected "completely agree" or "rather agree" were employed as teachers (31 out of 49), as well as directors and deputy directors. A tentative explanation why individuals in positions relevant to their level of qualifications, when asked about "overqualification", responded positively is that their specific duties do not correspond to the titles of their positions and occupations.

Focus group discussions covered issues related to benefits gained from education. The following quotes characterize impressions of graduates on qualifications gained at the university and the present employment. "Tasks which I am carrying out at the consultation bureau do not require a Master's or any other degree. Personal qualifications are more essential, for example, communication skills and quick and adequate reaction in different situations. If I was working as a lecturer, it would be different and I could use my knowledge gained at the university". "I can agree that I am using my [knowledge] only partly. Things I learned at the university help me to understand and know everything related to the economy. However, I do not feel that I can use my knowledge. I do not feel that I can apply my knowledge. The program at school does not facilitate use of my knowledge and skills." "I do not use anything from what I learned when studying in the Master's program. There are no possibilities to apply it. Maybe I can use my knowledge in the future". "Education remains for life. There is a saying, "everything that belongs to me I am carrying with me". I am sure that I can find a job in every school and, if my

Masters	128.1		
Bachelors	93.7		
Secondary education	74.5		

Table 4. Monthly net salary in Lats by academic degree

knowledge is not used for some period of time, there is no tragedy in it".

Economic Rate of Return from Education at Daugavpils University

To calculate the economic return for each academic degree, all variables involved in calculation of the rate of return should be identified. Table 4 shows the average salaries involved in calculation. Those are average salaries, which graduates received in all work places, including placements without formal labor contracts⁴. Data on individuals with secondary education were taken from the survey "Living Conditions in Latvia" conducted by the Central Statistics Office of Latvia (CSP, 2001b).

In addition, two variables were measured: the salary during studies at the university and individual expenses to cover study-related costs. First, we need to explore how much the respondents earned during their study period, because the opportunity costs depend on the salary earned.

While at university, 55% of undergraduate students and 96% of graduate students were working. Among undergraduate students, 66% were employed at one working place, 26% worked at two places, and 8% had three or more jobs. Undergraduate students had a varying number of jobs of various duration, with a more frequent pattern being the following: undergraduate students would have employment ranging from a half of a year to a year. During their studies undergraduate students on average were earning 60 LVL per month. Nearly all graduate students (89%) had one job, and more than 90% of them worked for more than a year and a half. Parallel to studies, the graduate students had an average salary of 94 LVL per month.

First of all a tuition fee was referred to as direct costs. 7% of undergraduate respondents were paying a tuition fee, and a majority of graduate students, i.e. 72% were paying a tuition fee. At Daugavpils University, a yearly tuition fee ranges between 100 LVL to 240 LVL for undergraduate programs and 200 LVL for all graduate programs. Direct costs also include costs for books, stationery, transport. Data on direct costs were retrieved from the publication "The Household Budget in the Year 2000" published by the Central Statistics Office (CSP, 2001a: 45).

Indirect costs, which can be considerably high, are another essential kind of cost. If a graduate would not study in a full time study program, but during that time would work, the graduate could receive remuneration. According to Table 4, average salary for a secondary school graduate in Latgale in the year 2000 was 74.5 LVL (after tax).

Country	Year of measurement	Social rate of return	Private rate of return
Cyprus	1979	7.6	5.6
Denmark	1964	7.8	10.0
Greece	1993	5.7	8.1
Hungary	1993	7.8	13.4
Latvia ⁵	2003	4.1	7.0
Norway	1966	7.5	7.7
Sweden	1967	9.2	10.3

Table 5. Rates of Return in Undergraduate Education in Different Countries. Source: Psacharopoulos and Patrinos, 2002

⁴ Respondents were asked how much they earned at each workplace. One should note that not all respondents were willing to respond to questions related to their earnings. Respondents who were not willing to disclose their earnings had an opportunity to choose an answer from the scale of earnings divided into intervals. Answers received by the use of the scale did not significantly differ from the level of earnings disclosed by respondents.

⁵ Calculated for Daugavpils University undergraduates.

When calculating the rates, it was assumed that undergraduate students would start working at the age of 22 and finish at the age of 65, and graduate students would start working at the age of 24 and finish at the age of 65. Based on these assumptions, the private rate of return on undergraduate education was 7.0% and 14.1% on graduate education.

In calculating the social rate of return on education, direct social costs include all expenditure for resources necessary to secure the educational process: salaries to the academic faculty, communication services, facility management (electricity, heating, water supply, etc.), study materials and appliances and many other expenses. In education, direct social costs comprise all expenditure related to educational process and family expenses, which do not cover study expenses (tuition fee is not included, see Table 1). Data on study costs and cost ratios for different educational fields are presented in the Cabinet Regulation No. 334 (LR Vēstnesis, 01.08.2001).

Opportunity costs include gross salary (before taxes) not received, i.e., the money a student would have earned if not studying at a higher educational institution and the money the state would have received in taxes. If a student worked, similar to the private rate of return, the difference in salaries (the difference between the gross salary to an individual with secondary education (which is assumed to be a basis) and the gross salary to a student working in parallel with studies) constitutes opportunity costs.

Calculations of the social rate of return to undergraduate and graduate education was based on the most-often-used study pattern covered by the survey: while studying at the undergraduate program a student was not paying any study fee and was working for a year, however, while studying at the graduate program a student was paying a study fee and was working for two years. Based on assumptions presented above and using the minimum coefficient of public finance for education science programs (with a coefficient of 1.1, which was applied in the year 2001/2002) the value of the social rate of return for undergraduates was 4.1% and for graduates 8.5%. When interpreting the rates of return, first of all it is important to evaluate whether the rate has a positive or negative value. If the value is negative, it means that the financial input is ineffective and does not pay off. Rates of return in education are similar to the rates of return on physical capital and can be compared with rates of return on alternative financial investments.

The World Bank is carrying out and gathering studies on return rates on education in different countries. Social and private rates of return in higher education in several countries are given for comparison (Table 5).

Conclusions

More than half of respondents who have earned a degree in teacher training work in schools. A number of respondents believed that they were overqualified for their current occupation and did not see any career development opportunities in their present workplace. However, using the Classification of Occupations suggested that only 13% of graduates were 'overqualified'. The National Concept of Development of Higher Education (AIP, 2001) states that it is acceptable if no more than 25% of graduates are not employed in their professional area or according to their qualifications. In the group of respondents regarded as "overeducated", there were graduates with different educational backgrounds, and there was no indication for a specific education field having disadvantages in the labor market.

Both private and social economic returns from undergraduate and graduate education at Daugavpils University are positive. Compared to the economic rates of return from other countries, the rates of return in Latvia, especially from graduate (six year) programs, are relatively high. Coefficients of return from education were higher than the average level of inflation in Latvia during the last years (3% per annum), which allows one to conclude that gaining an education at Daugavpils University was economically efficient. However, one should consider the regional aspect and note that on average salaries for employees working in Latgale region including graduates from Daugavpils University were lower than for those with comparable level of education employed in other parts of Latvia (CSP, 2001b: 77).

127

Recommendations

The fact that almost all graduates from Daugavpils University after completing their studies are able to find a job and that in the majority of cases their work requires an adequate level of qualifications, as well as the fact that the economic rate of return from their education is positive should be considered as positive elements. It is important when considering that the majority of graduates remain to work in Daugavpils or Daugavpils district where the level of unemployment is high.

When analyzing the employment position of graduates from the perspective of regional development, it should be noted that the majority of graduates work in the public sector. From the regional development perspective it is important that the human capital is used in business development in the private sector, which means that productivity of the work in private enterprises can be increased by education gained at the university. At Daugavpils University it is recommended to consider starting perspective programs, which would attract more male students, for example, engineering, entrepreneurship, law, agriculture, etc. In Western countries regional universities form successful partnerships with the business community and thus provide graduates with work placements. Perhaps good results can be achieved by starting cooperation between local employers and professional associations.

References

AIP (2001). The National Concept of Development of Higher Education and The Institutions of Higher Education of the Republic of Latvia till the Year 2010. Council on Higher Education, Latvia (www.aip.lv, retrieved 22.12.2002).

Bosworth, D., Dawkins, P., and Stromback, T. (1996). *The Economics of the Labour Market*. London: Longman.

Brennan, J., McGeevor, P. (1988). *Graduates at Work. Degree Courses and the Labour Market*. London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.

Carnoy, M., Levin, M. H. (1985). *Schooling and Work in the Democratic State*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.

CSP (2001a). Central Statistics Officeal Bureau of Latvia. *Living Conditions in Latvia*. Norbalt II project. An Analytical report. Riga.

CSP (2001b). *The Household Budget in 2000: Latvian Statistics OfficeBoard* (Latvijas Republikas Centrālā statistikas pārvalde. Mājsaimniecības budžets 2000. gadā). Rīga.

Dugdale, K. (1997). Mass Higher Education: Mass Graduate Employment in the 1990s. In: R. G. Burgess (Ed.) *Beyond the First Degree. Graduate Education, Lifelong Learning and Careers.* Buckingham: The Society for Research into Higher Education and Open University Press.

Hayrinen, Y-P., Hayrinen L. (1996). From Students to Intellectuals and Professionals: Subsequent Career Patterns of a Finnish Student In: J. Brennan, M. Kogan, U. Teichler (Eds). *Higher Education and Work*. London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers. Jallade, J-P. (1987). Youth Unemployment and Education. In: G. Psacharopoulos (Ed.) *Economics of Education. Research and Studies*. Oxford: Pergamon Press..

Johnes, J. (1993). *The Economics of Education*. London: The Macmillan Press.

Levin, H. M. (1987). Work and Education. In: G. Psacharopoulos (Ed.) *Economics of Education. Research and Studies*. Oxford: Pergamon Press.

Menon, M. (1998, Oct). Perceived rates of return to higher education: An international review and comparison. *Comparative Education*. Vol. 28, No. 3.

Murnane, R. (2001). *Evaluating Educational Investments.* Background paper for the core course "Strategic Choices in Education Reform" of the World Bank Institute.

Psacharopoulos, G. (1987). Earning Functions. In: G. Psacharopoulos (Ed.) *Economics of Education. Research and Studies.* Oxford: Pergamon Press.

Psacharopoulos, G., and Patrinos, H. A. (2002). *Returns to Investment in Education: A Further Update.* World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 2881.

Sanyal, B. C. (1987). Graduate Unemployment and Education. In: G. Psacharopoulos (Ed.) *Economics of Education. Research and Studies.* Oxford: Pergamon Press.

The Ethnic and Gender Dimension of University Costs and Benefits

Ilze Berga and Mārtiņš Bērziņš (Stockholm School of Economics in Riga)1

Introduction

Due to the increased demand for higher education, the number of universities in Latvia has also increased. At the same time, the costs of studies in university have increased because of growing tuition fees and decreasing number of scholarships. It seems reasonable to believe that the value received from higher education has increased faster than the costs. Because the benefits from education are derived after graduation, education can be considered an investment. The decision to invest is made if the net present value of future cash flows is positive. Thus, a person decides to invest in higher education if he/she expects future income to be greater than costs of obtaining more education.

Problem

It is particularly interesting to find out the views on personal benefits from among the Latvian-speaking and Russian-speaking residents of Latvia. There have been many discussions about labor market discrimination by ethnicity (Chase, 2000: 1) and gender. If discrimination is present, then the benefits of education would be different for different ethnic and gender groups. If the fact of discrimination is proved, from it follows that individuals belonging to different ethnical groups and genders have different incentives to invest in education.

Background

Significant changes occurred in the educational system in 1991 when Latvia regained its independence from the former USSR, where the demand for the specialists in the labor market was set centrally. In 1991 Latvia moved from centralized planning to market economy and this transition affected the educational system in several aspects.

The supply of the educational institutions in the USSR was centrally controlled by the government and after the year 1991 many new schools and universities other than state-owned emerged. During the Soviet era particular industries and areas of specialization, like chemistry and textiles, were developed in the region and therefore schools were offering educational programs for these industries. Following the collapse of the USSR and liberation of the labor market

¹ The paper has been adapted from the Bachelor's thesis "Differences in Net Earnings Benefits from Higher Education for Different Ethnic, Age and Gender Groups in Latvia" at the Stockholm School of Economics in Riga. the demand for specialists dramatically increased in the social sciences (economics, sociology, law, etc.), but decreased in technical sciences such as engineering and chemistry. Private schools and universities emerged in the areas of the new demand, and public financing decreased in the low demand areas.

As a result of the demographic situation the labor structure is unequally divided. The birthrate in Latvia is low. Although the death rate is decreasing, these trends are resulting in a negative natural increase of population over the last ten years (CSB, 2002). The ratio of those who received education during the Soviet period and those who received it later is increasing in favor of the latter. There are significant distortions, as the demand for "newly educated" employees is higher than for those who studied during the Soviet period. This can be explained by the fact that in several fields (public finance, economics, law, etc.) the "old" knowledge has become obsolete.

Another characteristic of the labor market in Latvia, like in many other countries in transition, is the presence of the shadow economy. The estimated share of the shadow economy in the Latvian market is as large as 38.2% in 1999 and 25% in 2002 (Ķirsons, 2002). The social tax rate for individuals amounts to 35.09% from earnings, of which 26.09% is supposed to be paid by the employer (FM, 2002). In order to avoid the large tax payments, very often the employer officially pays the employee only a part of the actual wage, but rest the employee receives in cash. Thus also the official data about the earnings could be lower than the actual, as a result of underestimated rate of returns.

Although Latvia is a relatively small country (64.1 thousand km²), there are significant regional differences. In the capital (Riga) there is a large concentration of the workforce as well as companies, thus the unemployment rate is significantly lower than in the eastern part of Latvia, where the unemployment rate is the highest in Latvia. The Ministry of Economics states that in the middle of 2002 the unemployment rate in one of largest districts in Latgale – Rezekne district – was eight times as high as in the capital and

was reaching 27% (ME, 2002). The unequal distribution of labor force and enterprises has an effect on the earnings rate, as a person having the same education level and performing the same job in the eastern part of Latvia is very likely to have a lower wage than a person in the same situation in Riga. Next in terms of relative wealth after Riga is Vidzeme region, followed by Zemgale and Kurzeme regions.

The shadow economy has created another phenomenon – the differences between the public and the private sector. The authors believe that the wages in the public sector for the same education level are lower than in the private sector. However, the statistics indicate the opposite trend in the real wage level (CSB, 2002, Basic Indicators, Labor Remuneration). There are two possible explanations. First, the proportion of low-skilled employees in the public sector is relatively low. Second, in the public sector the taxes are paid on all earnings and the indicators are not affected by the efforts to hide the unpaid tax level as in the case of private sector enterprises.

Although the situation in Latvia requires special caution when interpreting results, previous research and theories serve as a basis for this work.

Empirical findings

There are two methods mostly used for estimating the private rates of return. The first is the traditional method, where the annual direct costs and income foregone as well as benefits are estimated, and the implicit discount rate for which the sum of costs is equal to sum of benefits is the rate of return.

Another one, used for the analysis in this paper, is the so-called Minzerian earnings function.

The Minzerian earnings function can be calculated in the following way:

Ln $E_i = \alpha + \beta_k \operatorname{Edu}_k + \gamma_i \operatorname{Exp}_i + \varphi_i \operatorname{Exp}_i^2 + \varepsilon_i$, where E represents the individual earnings, Edu – years of schooling, Exp – years of labor experience, equal to total age, minus the number of schooling years, minus the age at which schooling was started.

The calculation of the years of labor experience very often appears to be slightly imprecise, as the

assumption that the person has been working all the time after studies is sometimes incorrect. However, such an assumption is a common practice, and Minzer initially defined it as the potential work experience the person could have.

The rate of return to schooling is the estimated coefficient $\boldsymbol{\beta}$

$$\beta = \frac{\partial \ln E}{\partial E du}$$

This is the so-called "short cut" method where the same value can be expressed as:

$$\beta = \frac{\operatorname{Ln} E_i - \operatorname{Ln} E_{i-1}}{\Delta \mathrm{Edu}}$$

where the difference between the earnings of a group of people having educational level *i* and those having educational level i - 1 has been divided with the difference in the number of years spent on education.

Previous research

One of the main researchers in the field of the economics of education is Psacharopoulus G., who has written a number of papers and books (1985: 70) on social and private returns on education. He is one of the pioneers in the field of education issues and has studied rates of return and cost-benefit. He has gathered the data on social and private rates of return on education for about 50 countries, including those in Africa and Latin America (1985: 56–57).

The research on the private rates of return on education is performed in many countries like the USA, Mexico, etc. However, we are more interested in research carried out in the post Soviet countries, like Latvia, where the transition from planned economy to free-market system has taken place.

In the paper (Noorkoiv, 1997: 15) *Employment* and Wage Dynamics in the Estonian Transition, 1989–1995, the analysis of returns in cohorts has led to the conclusion that the returns on education significantly increased during the transition and especially those on higher education.

Munich, et al. studied the returns on education in the Czech Republic during the transition from communism to capitalism (1998: 14). In this study the same methodology was applied, i.e., Minzer's earnings function. The findings indicated that the overall rates of return on years spent on schooling also appeared to increase during the change of economic systems. According to the study, the women appeared to have a higher rate of return during communism, but the increase in ROR during the transition was higher for men. The largest increase in rate of return in the Czech Republic during the transition relative to different levels of education was for those who had obtained a higher level of education.

Extensive research was performed by Cheidvasser and Benitez-Silva (2000) in Russia. Applying the regressions to Minzer's earnings function, it appeared that the rate of return on schooling in Russia is somewhat about 5%, which is significantly lower than in other countries. This research along with other studies revealed that women have higher rates of return for higher education than men.

After dividing the sample by place of residence, it was found out that for people in rural areas, the returns on schooling were significantly higher than for urban residents. However, one finding that falls out from the general trends and findings of Psacharopulus is that the people working in the private sector in Russia do not have higher returns to education than those in the public sector.

Vietnam also experienced the movement from centralized to liberalized market economy starting from 1986. Moock, et al. in the research Education and Earnings in Transition Economy. The Case of Vietnam (1998) found that the additional monetary benefits from receiving higher education are higher for female (12%) than for male (10%) individuals. The fact that for young people the return in the labor market is higher (14%) than for older ones (4%) is explained in the paper by the fact that the liberalization reforms have not jet been fully implemented, and the overall rate of return is still expected to increase. The case of Vietnam is another exception from the general situation, since the rate of return on education in the private sector is lower than in the public sector.

In her research on the rates of return on education in the Ukraine, Shyshkina (2001: 37) also applied



Graph 1. Gain in earnings by gender and ethnic groups

Minzer's earnings function. Her most interesting finding was that the rates of return increase along with the level of education.

As the Ukraine even now has not completely moved from a planned economy to a liberalized economy, then, as it is suggested in her work, the reasons behind such finding should be investigated in more detail.

In the previous studies carried out in the postsocialistic countries (UNICEF, 1998) which either have been through or still are in the transition process, there are findings which are inconsistent with global data generated in the capitalistic Western countries, which are generally accepted as the norm.

Thus each case must be examined, and explanations for the deviations from the "norm" should be made only as the result of analysis of the situation and historical background of each country.

Age	Latvians			Russians			Total
group	Males	Females	Total	Males	Females	Total	IUtai
23–27	89	85	174	47	34	81	255
28-32	114	118	232	51	44	95	327
33–37	106	133	239	54	70	124	363
38–42	124	147	271	79	93	172	443
43-47	103	129	232	73	119	192	424
48–52	89	119	208	75	93	168	376
53-	104	118	222	50	64	114	336
Total	729	849	1,578	429	517	946	2,524

 Table 1. Sample of the study

Data

In the previously described studies, which were carried out on the national level, very often the household data from surveys were used. Also in this research we draw on the data of the household budget survey in Latvia in the year 2000. The survey provides data on the income of the individuals in the household, their level of education attained, place of residence, employment characteristics, etc. The total sample size of the household budget survey in the year 2000 was 7,992 households or 10,493 individuals.

From the household budget survey sample we excluded the unemployed, as they cannot state the income from employment. Pensioners, students and children are also excluded, as there is no strong correlation between their income and the level of education. We were interested in the people who have completed either secondary or higher education to calculate the private income benefit depending on their level of education.

Results

When evaluating the obtained results several main cause-effect relationships should be considered. First, it cannot be regarded as normal that Russian males have a negative gain in income from higher education in two age groups. Associated with this, a considerable drop in income can be observed in the age group from 28 to 32 years and up to 42 years. Also interesting is the fact that this is not observed for Latvians. Second, among the Latvians women tend to have higher gains compared to males, which is just the opposite among the Russians. And, finally, Latvians on average tend to have higher gains than Russians.

The situation with negative returns for Russian males, also observed in the age group from 38 to 42 for the females, suggests that on average Russian males with secondary education are earning more than those with higher education. The main reason for the situation, as we see it, must be traced back to the Soviet Union. As already discussed in the section on national conditions, the education system in the Soviet Union created structural inconsistencies in the demand for the labor force. There was an excess labor supply in engineering and other technical sciences. Following the transition to the liberalized market economy, this had an effect on the demand for labor.

First, many highly skilled individuals lost their work due to the short demand. Moreover, persons educated in the public administration or planned economy found themselves in a situation where they actually had higher education, but their knowledge was obsolete and not applicable in the current situation. In terms of human capital, they had invested in capital that turned out not to be able to produce a sufficient return. In addition, many ethnic Russians who had worked in the public sector lost their jobs because of the restrictions set in the legislation. The Law On Official Language (1999), Section 6, Paragraph 1 states that public employees must be fluent in Latvian.

This created a situation where the demand for highly skilled professionals increased, but it went down in the economic sectors, which had lost their priority status, including heavy (outdated) industries, manufacturing and collective farming. At the same time work experience in the economic sectors or public administration (as interpreted by the era of centralized planning) became irrelevant. For persons with secondary education only, the effect was not so severe. Although many of them lost their jobs, their experience as factory workers or carpenters or construction workers still counted.

Summing the issues up, people with secondary education could successfully argue for higher wages because of higher perceived experience. Unfortunately, this kind of experience is not easily measured. One should be aware that the relationship between earnings and experience cannot be computed by using the aggregate number of years in the labor force. Instead, it should be measured by using the number of years of 'relevant experience' in the labor force. Take the example of a person who has worked for 10 years as a civil servant in the Soviet Union, who then, following the restoration of independence, moved to the construction sector and worked there for three years, and then lost his job. Now that person seeks a new job in the construction industry. The labor market views his/her experience as worth only 3 years or slightly more.

Our interpretation is also supported by the data on the occupations of ethnic Russians with higher education within the age group from 38 to 42. 41% of our sample within this stratum indicates that they are physicians, natural scientists or teachers. None of these occupations is highly paid. Another 27% of the respondents in this age group work in production of various goods, and 14% in the civil service or health care. None of those areas can be considered to be highly competitive in terms of wage levels. Hence the result of negative gains from the higher education in this age group.

The other side of this cause should also be explained, and that is why the Latvian-speakers did not suffer as much from this effect. If we analyze the representation of occupations in the sample of the Latvian-speakers, we can see that the proportion of physicians, natural scientists and health care professionals is lower than in the Russian-speaking group, i.e., 26%.

Only 6% of the Latvian-speakers are employed in production of goods. By far the greatest proportion of Latvians are employed in service provision (many of them in high positions – in the financial institutions, hotels, other recreational facilities, etc.), where in gen-

eral the wages are higher. The possible reasons for employment of the larger proportion of Latvians in the service sector could be partially related to the previously discussed situation also described by Pabriks (2002: 43) that almost half of Latvians still find their employer through informal social networks, and so do 58% of Russians. It can be argued that historically there has always been a larger representation of Latvians in the service sector, because they have easier access to it. Therefore the drop in benefits from higher education is not observed in the case of Latvians.

Summing up the discussion on the decline in the benefits suffered by the ethnic Russians age group from 33 to 42, we can conclude that the main reason for the decline was structural inconsistencies in the labor market generated by the planned economy. However, it has not affected both ethnic groups to the same degree, because the inconsistencies generated within the Russian population were deeper than those among the Latvians, and the latter have also managed to gain access to the more lucrative service part of the economy through informal contacts.

Gender

The second issue that is worthy to be discussed in more detail is that Latvian women on average tend to



Graph 2. Differences in benefits from higher education between men and women

	Latvians	Latvian Female	Latvian Male	Russians	Russian female	Russian Male
All	0.4914	0.5708	0.4537	0.2474	0.3442	0.1980
23–27	0.7373	0.6468	0.9900	0.2536	0.1897	0.5835
28–32	0.4210	0.7291	0.4467	1.0330	1.3803	0.6475
33–37	0.4848	0.6040	0.7827	0.0154	0.5684	-0.4472
38–42	0.6197	0.8002	0.5443	-0.1723	-0.0202	-0.0249
43-47	0.7730	0.6628	0.6541	0.4737	0.5263	0.5025
48–52	0.4648	0.5948	0.3910	0.2488	0.5298	0.0318
53–	0.5570	0.7522	0.2920	0.5362	0.8987	0.1710

Table 2. The net earnings benefits (Ln E) from higher education

have higher income benefits from higher education than men. The opposite can be observed for Russianspeakers. The difference in the benefits can be seen in Graph 2. We believe this can be attributed to the fact that in the labor market the demand is higher for women with secondary education only. The cause again is twofold. The first issue is that for more lucrative jobs open for people with secondary education, men are in higher demand. If we look at industry representation of Latvian males and females with secondary education, the distinction is rather sharp. 15% of the males work in public administration, 10% - inthe construction sector, 8% - in pulp processing, 8% - in forestry and 6% in agriculture. At the same time 9% of females are represented in retail trade of household goods, 7% are connected with educational institutions, 6% work in public administration and 5% work in health care. Hence, it can be seen that while public administration and retailing of household goods is approximately at the same wage level as the most common jobs for the male population, the educational and health care jobs cannot compete with those of forest workers or construction workers in terms of wages. In other words, there is a rather strong distinction between "male" and "female" jobs. At the same time, for the individuals with higher education the distinction is not so sharp. Therefore, while still there is a difference in the wage levels between males and females, the gap is closing, because the females have relatively more to gain compared to the males.



Adding to the explanation of the differences in gains, it should not be overlooked that the gains in the age group from 23 to 27 are actually higher for men. This can be attributed to the fact that people in this age group have received their education already in the market economy, therefore many of them are qualified specialists with knowledge of the market economy, which enables allows them to take managerial positions. However, our data suggest, and the International Labor Organization also supports the view, that proportionately there is a larger number of males in managerial posts and they are taking higher positions than women (ILO, 2002). Hence, they receive higher salaries and their gain from higher education is also higher.

Still, the opposite results can be observed for the Russian part of the population. Looking at the data on employment by industry, almost a quarter of Russian women with secondary education are employed in retail trade, 9% - in education, 8% - in health care and 6% - in manufacturing of clothes. An interesting thing about this sample is that, when gaining higher education, the shift seems to be from retailing to education, as 26% of Russian women with higher education are employed in the education sector. 17% remain in retailing and 8% in public administration. What this actually tells is that women are moving from retailing to education, which is a sector with a relatively lower wage level, so the gains, if any, are very small. Men, on the contrary, are moving from transportation and wood processing to the civil service, while the ratio of those employed in the construction sector remains unchanged. Hence, the gains for men are higher than for women.

Graph 3 illustrates the differences in net earnings between Latvian and Russian speakers. The strangest observation relates to the age cohort of 28–32 years for males, where the earning benefits are higher for the Russian-speakers. This could be explained by the fact that they graduated from the university right after Latvia regained independence. Many Latvian-speaking males went to the public sector where the wage level is still perceived to be too low. But the Russian-speaking males who had just completed their education used the market when there were many open business opportunities and started up their own business or went into the booming private sector.

Finally, Graph 3 supports the observation that Russians on average tend to gain less from higher education compared to Latvians. We believe that the reason stems from the fact that Russian-speakers who have completed secondary education are predominantly employed in retailing and the construction sector, and their employment patterns hardly change in terms of wage levels along with higher level of education. At the same time the Latvian-speakers tend to move from manufacturing to service sector, which gives them a relatively higher gain in income. As already discussed, this can partly be attributed to informal contacts in all economic sectors, but also other reasons might be present. Chase (2000) in his work about labor market discrimination in Latvia (among other models Mincerian earnings function is also applied) suggests that the Russian ethnic group is underpaid by 7.9%. He indicates that there is labor market discrimination against Russians, which diminishes their gains from acquiring higher education.

Recommendations

One reason for the differences in net earnings related to ethnic origin and gender is the wide use of unofficial staff recruiting methods. Instead of publishing an official announcement about vacancies, employees inform their relatives, friends and acquaintances. As a result the workforce in different industries is becoming homogeneous. To change the situation, recruitment should be based on the skills and knowledge of individuals; it should be open and transparent instead of relying on individual networks.

The development of such unofficial recruitment networks is more frequently observed among middleaged people, due to the rapid introduction of information technologies in the work process these people have not used before.

Therefore, younger people after graduation from the higher education institutions are more competitive in terms of application of IT technologies compared to middle-aged staff and therefore more likely to get a job in fair competition. To solve this issue the state should provide more training courses on application of computers in the work process for the people who already are in the labor market.

Finally, taking into consideration the monetary benefit from investment in education and the opportunity costs, we conclude that the higher education is worth obtaining.

References

Becker, G. S. (1993). *Human Capital: a theoretical and empirical analysis with special reference to education*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Carnoy, M. (1994). Rates of Return to education. In T. Husén, N. Postlethwaite (Eds.) *The International Encyclopedia of Education*. UK: Pergamon. Vol. 8, pp. 4914–4918.

CSB (2002). *Basic Indicators, Population, Natural Increase*. Central Statistical Bureau Homepage. www.csb.lv/Satr/ grada03.cfm (retrieved 21.10.2002).

Chase, S. R. (2000). Labor Market Discrimination During Post-Communist Transition: A Monopsony Approach to the Status of Latvia's Russian Minority. Johns Hopkins University – SAIS William Davidson Institute of Transition Economics.

Collegiate Dictionary (2002). *Meriam – Webster Collegiate Dictionary*, Meriam – Webster Homepage. http://www.m-w.com/cgi-bin/dictionary (retrieved 24.10.2002).

ILO (2002). International Labour Organization Homepage. http://www.ilo.org/public/english/dialogue/sector/techmeet/tmwm97/tmwm-sum.htm (retrieved 29.11.2002).

Kirsons, M. (2002, March 13). Bērziņš: Latvijā ēnu ekonomikas īpatsvars ir samazinājies līdz 25%. *Dienas Bizness* [online], http://www.db.lv/archive/article.php?ID=25555 (retrieved 26.10.2002). Pabriks, A. (2002). Occupational Representation and Ethnic Discrimination in Latvia. Latvia: The Soros Foundation Latvia.

Psacharopoulus, G., Woodhall, M. (1985). *Education for development. Analysis of investment choices*. Oxford Univesrity Press, p.14, 19.

EM (2002). *Report, June 2002*. Republic of Latvia Ministry of Economics Homepage, http://www.em.gov.lv/en/reports.stm (retrieved 29.11. 2002).

FM (2002). *Nodokļi (Taxes)*. Republic of Latvia Ministry of Finance Homepage, http://www.fm.gov.lv/23finnod/23finnod.htm (retrieved 26.10.2002).

Saxton, J. (2000). *Investment in Education: Private and Public Returns*. Joint Economic Committee.

Shyshkina, A. (2001). *The Returns to education in Ukraine*. Master's thesis. National University of Kyiv-Mohyla Academy.

Official Language Law (1999). Official Language Law Translation and Terminology Centre Homepage, www.ttc.lv/lv (retrieved 14.01.2003).

Vanaga S., Šnitņikovs A. (2002). Daugavpils pedagoģiskā universitāte kā Latgales reģiona attīstības centrs – augstākās izglītībs un darba tirgus dialoga veicinātājs. Unpublished Soros Foundation project account.

UNICEF (1998). *Education for All?* UNICEF, Florence Italy, International Child Development Centre.

Higher Education Taxes and Property

Jānis Dzenis, Ivars Lācis and Jānis Stonis (University of Latvia)

Among the policies remaining from the Soviet period, there are those that pertain to real estate of universities and the taxation of revenue earned by higher educational institutions. In general, universities and other higher education institutions do not have a clear idea as to who owns their property. And as organizations, they have a status in tax laws that does not differentiate them from commercial institutions whose purpose is profit making as opposed to education. This paper will explore these two issues and will propose changes in both property and tax legislation to allow higher educational institutions to develop their own resources, serve the public interest, and become comparable in quality with other higher education institutions in Europe and North America by using some of the same techniques and policies pertaining to property and taxes.

Background

Under the Soviet laws all property was public and belonged to the state. Since there was no private ownership, there was no real estate market and therefore the 'opportunity cost' – the forgone earnings – for not using property efficiently was minimal. In essence, it didn't matter who 'owned' the property, or even whether the property was well maintained.

Similarly, since all industrial enterprises belonged to the state, there was no need to differentiate between manufacturing companies and those operating in the health care, educational, transport or agricultural sectors. All enterprises contributed to the social security system and hence all institutions were similarly taxed.

Since the restoration of independence, these regulations have changed for most sectors of the economy, but not for higher education. Agricultural and industrial property has been returned to private owners, and because land is scarce, the ownership of property is associated with a vibrant market. Since the opportunity cost for not efficiently utilizing property is high, property tends to be treated with a high degree of value. In an active free-market economy, this is a normal practice.

Lately qualitative changes have occurred in the system of higher education: from a more or less elite education it has become an education accessible to a wider public. This trend is observed also in other parts of the world. Over the last decade the number of students in Latvia has doubled, but at the same time the financing in terms of percentage of the GDP has hardly changed at all. All this contributes to a shortage of the infrastructure and human resources to provide a higher education of high quality. Unfortunately, the state does not have additional financial resources to make structural changes in this area. Another option to ensure significant improvement in the higher education is indirect participation of the state by way of regulating the ownership rights and introducing a special taxation policy with regard to the institutions of higher education.

The issue of university property today

The ownership of property of public institutions has remained unchanged from the Soviet period. The property belongs to the state and it may not be freely traded or mortgaged as in the case of private companies. If the functions and sources of income had not been changed, state ownership of public property would be natural and normal. In such case hospitals, public institutions, public gardens and parks might remain in state ownership and that could even be expected.

But universities are not the same as public parks. Today in Latvia all universities are expected to generate their own income in order to serve the public interest. At the University of Latvia, for instance, 72% of the income is self-generated.¹ The question is whether in the case of universities there are preconditions for the creation of new real estate ownership relations, not for private profit-making status, but for the development of a new corporate entity: a nonprofit public corporation whose purpose is to serve the public, but whose governance is autonomous from public ministries.

The University of Latvia controls approximately 252,000 square meters of property space. This includes state property in downtown Riga, dormitories in one neighborhood or another, multiple use sites in various Latvian regions and towns and common expression premises originating from charity. This endowment holds the property of approximately 50,000 square meters in trust of the University Senate and is governed by University of Latvia Foundation – "LUF Ltd". Gains from property operations and interest profit can only be used exclusively for University development and scholarship programs. Profit appropriation is under the competence of the University is appropriated in the interest profit can only be used exclusively for University appropriation is under the competence of the University is appropriated in the interest profit can only be used exclusively for University is appropriated in the interest profit can only be used exclusively for University appropriated in the interest profit can only be used exclusively for University is appropriated in the interest profit can only be used exclusively for University is appropriated in the interest profit can only be used exclusively for University is appropriated in the interest profit can only be u

sity Senate. Since the year 2000 this private-public partnership (PPP), where the Senate of the University of Latvia acts as the representative of the public benefit, has demonstrated several "success stories", e.g., creation of the Latvian University Morbergs scholarship endowment ranks among the most successive businesses in Latvia. In some instances negotiations over specific parts of property have been successfully conducted with public officials and the use of property for specific purposes has been agreed to. For instance, it has been agreed that the interest from the abovementioned endowment can be utilized for educational purposes, e.g. scholarships, without any additional taxation.

The problem is that these agreements between the state and the University of Latvia, while constituting an important step, do not constitute a general policy. Other universities also control similar amounts and varieties of only state property. Clear ownership over this property has not been established.

The consequences of allowing the Soviet-era policies to remain are of considerable importance. When public revenues remain stagnant or on the decline, then educational development in terms of new capital investments in science laboratories, classroom buildings, lecture halls, and administrative facilities cannot come from the government. In these instances universities have two choices. One is to fall increasingly behind university development in other parts of the world. The other is to develop their own sources of capital from private banks. All private lending institutions require collateral before they agree to make a loan. If a university does not clearly own title to its land and property, then banks will be unlikely to allow a university to borrow the necessary capital to develop its infrastructure. Therefore the property ownership issue is of paramount importance for the future of higher education in Latvia. Because of other important public priorities - social security, health, transportation, police protection, etc. - it is not reasonable to expect

¹ This is typical of a state university in North America. The University of Arizona, for instance, derives only about 28% of its operating budget from direct allocations from state government.

public financing for new higher-education infrastructure in Latvia in the foreseeable future. In terms of policies on land and property, if the *status quo* were to remain in effect, it would be unlikely to have any construction of new buildings or science laboratories in Latvian universities. If universities do not gain title to their property, then it is unreasonable to expect any significant improvement in Latvia's university infrastructure.

The issue of university taxation today

In the case of taxation, a similar set of changes has taken place. In those instances where previous public enterprises, such as in agriculture or manufacturing, have been privatized and are now owned by individual investors, their income and profits are subject to taxation as any private enterprise should be. But because the public sources of funds are insufficient to cover the necessary expenditures to manage many educational institutions, universities are expected to derive a portion of their income from non-traditional sources. These can be through the sale of goods and services, the rental of property for special events or for longer-term use, and copyright on various inventions and technologies.

For instance, the University of Latvia remains a public institution with a public purpose. It is not owned by individuals, and individuals do not gain from income derived from these new sources, as they would were the University of Latvia a steel mill or a privately owned business. Nevertheless, 72% of the income of the University of Latvia is generated from sources other than the state budget. Until 2001 the income derived by the University of Latvia was subject to taxation like that of any commercial enterprise. But in 2001 the University of Latvia reached an agreement with the Ministry of Finance in which the university is exempted from its tax obligations as long as its

income is contributed to the programs of student scholarships and fellowships.

But what pertains to the University of Latvia should pertain to all institutions of higher education in Latvia. The question is whether the income of the University of Latvia and other universities whose purpose remains that of educating Latvia's new generation of political, economic and cultural leaders should be taxed in the same manner as the income of a factory owned and operated by private individuals for their own private gain.

In North America, universities are considered nonprofit corporations. This pertains to both public universities, such as the University of Arizona or the University of Tennessee, as well as to private universities such as the University of Chicago or Vanderbilt University. Their income is generated from sale of services and from investments in the equity and bond markets². LU Morbergs endowment is the first example of similar activities in the University of Latvia.

Relaxed taxation policy for universities in certain areas would allow to increase their income significantly and solve long-term problems without additional financing from the state. The areas are the following: (1) economic activities, (2) donations, (3) expenses for educating university personnel at juridical organizations, and (4) for private persons for their expenses for education.

Managing risk

What would happen if property were turned over to universities in Latvia and was improperly managed? What would happen if, through poor or improper management, the property were lost to the university? What would happen if a university took advantage of its tax status and abused its privileges? Who would be responsible? What is there to protect the public interest from these losses?

² Most of the world's great research universities, both public and private, have developed their own endowments. In 2001, the endowment at Vanderbilt University was approximately 3.2 billion USD; the endowment at the University of Texas was 13.3 billion USD, with a 7 billion USD annual operating budget and a 3.8 billion USD campaign for improvement in infrastructure. Whether owned by public or private universities, these endowments generate an annual income, but because this income is used for educational purposes and not for private gain, they are publicly regulated but are not taxed.

In the USA publicly recognized universities which own their property, are incorporated as a 'third type of institution'. They are not private and they are not public; they are both. The public sector, usually the Ministry of Education,³ has a seat on the Board of Governors, or the Board of Regents.⁴ This board, *not the university rector or university administration*, is the legal owner of the university. University boards consist of public-minded citizens who serve for a fixed period of time. They receive no salary and they are forbidden in any way from doing business with the university. In the case of a public university, the government often appoints the Chair of the Board. In the case of a private non-profit university, the Board itself elects the Chair of the University Board.⁵

Because the policy of the university is set by the Board and not by the university administration, the public is partly protected from unscrupulous or unprofessional management. The risk of these occurring is reduced, but it is not eliminated. Even with an outstanding board, it is possible to make wrong decisions and to precipitate managerial crises. But the opposite is also the case. It is possible to make imperfect decisions and to mismanage university affairs under any structure of governance. If a Board of Governors is operating property, even if there are poor decisions made, the public has full access to the information based on which those decisions were made and can replace the Board if it does not live up to its public responsibilities.

If we take a closer look at the university situation, then in the case of the University of Latvia the risk can be reduced by assigning a status of financial autonomy to the University and the legislative power to the University Constitution (Satversme), which outlines the division between the administrative and legislative power. The former is assigned to the administration, the latter to the University Senate.

In the case of the first Republic of Latvia, as well as currently, the actual owner of the non-state property is the Senate of the University,^{6,7} the implication being that no economic activities can legally be conducted without the approval of the Senate. This has not been a significant issue in the past, but if Latvian universities evolve as they have in the West, and if they become increasingly involved with important managerial and property decisions, then the question arises what is the most efficient source of authority over these decisions. With universities in North America, the authority of the university senate concentrates on curricular and faculty issues, whereas the university board of trust concentrates on strategic and economic planning. What is clear is that the current structure of university authority in Latvia will need to be reformed to meet the new demands of modern university decision-making.

Currently the autonomy of the University of Latvia as the state budgetary organization in terms of use of financial resources is limited. This results in the transfer of financial resources of the University into the state budget, and as a result the university is not able to fulfill its goal of autonomy. Both the goal of university financial autonomy and the managerial structure of the university itself will have to change if the universities are to meet the new demands placed on them.

³ In the case of North America the controlling university authority is within the office of each State Governor and the State Board of Education.

⁴ A Board of Governors pertains to the management of a single institution; a Board of Regents pertains to the management of the whole system of higher education institutions.

⁵ There is an important distinction between a private university whose stated purpose is to make a profit for its owners and a private university whose stated purpose is public good. One is treated as a commercial business; the other is treated as a non-profit corporation. The first is subject to normal commercial taxation; the second is not subject to commercial taxation. The accounts of the non-profit private university are open to public scrutiny and to regular public review to ensure honesty as well as intelligent management.

⁶ Law On Higher Education, "Augstskolu likums", Latvijas Vēstnesis, 17.11.1995.

⁷ Constitution of the University of Latvia (Satversme), 29.03.1996.

Recommendations

Reforming the long-standing Soviet era policies of higher education property and taxation of Latvian universities should be a new priority of the government. None of the following recommendations, however, should be considered either self-evident or self-standing. All should be thoroughly researched and tested for feasibility and affordability. But due consideration should be given to the following:

- Individuals should be exempted from taxes on professional development in their adult lives. Taxation with respect to expenses for tuition at private primary and secondary schools and tuition at universities should remain unchanged.
- Corporations and individual donors should have their taxes reduced in proportion to their grants and gifts to Latvian universities.

- ➤ Non-profit universities should
 - continue to pay VAT taxes, but should not pay tariffs on university goods and services procured abroad;
 - be exempted from taxes on income from any source;
 - annually publish the report on the activities of university governing structures to guarantee that the public long-term interests are being well served;
 - obtain financial autonomy;
 - be reformed so that their managerial structure (administration, senate and board of trust) reflects their new operational demands and responsibilities.